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Results of operations K& ¥ &

Financial Highlights

B %5 1 &

RMB'000 A R¥F T 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
—E-NF —E-TF T —F —F—— —E-=
(Restated)  (Restated)  (Restated)  (Restated)
(& &51) (s &E351) (& &51) (g &E51)
Revenue = 2 4,612,105 5,315,685 6,359,786 7,151,039 5,430,974
Profit/(loss) before tax AT (&) 1,315,280 1,327,836 222,264 829,851 (928,334)
Profit/(loss) attributable to owners EE AR A RIHEA A
of the Company for the year FEAESEF (E518) 1,060,158 1,024,981 241,038 727,425  (783,258)
Basic earnings/(loss) per share FRERAEF (FHiB) 0.85 0.76 0.16 0.50 (0.53)
Asset information EEMR
RMB'000 A R#F 7T 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
—E-NF ZETF T F —EB__ —EB-=F
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)  (Restated)
(& E75) (&%) (& E75) (g E75)
Total assets EERE 15,352,405 19,027,124 19,109,656 20,816,030 19,203,417
Total liabilities BfRERE 7,880,073 7,336,905 7,584,862 8,406,565 7,215,040
Equity attributable to shareholders 7 /& i A2 & B% SR A
of the Company 7,348,818 11,570,621 11,412,833 12,312,741 11,913,148
Share capital N 1,247,202 1,467,296 1,467,296 1,467,296 1,467,296

Revenue & ¥ %
RMB’000,000 AREHE T

8,000
7,151
7,000 6,360
6,000 5,316
5,000 4,612
4,000
3,000
2,000
1,000
0
2019 2020 2021 2022

The Group’s financial statements for years 2016 and before were prepared in

Gross profit X/
RMB’'000,000 AREEBE T

2,500

2,000

5,431

1,500

1,000

500

2023

2,017 1,994

1,672 I I

2019 2020 2022

2,290
I 941
2022 2023

TE-RFERARNSEE B HRERERS

accordance with the PRC GAAP and were not prepared in accordance with the B ARG EARE  RZR(BEBEMBRE

IFRS. If the investor needs the relevant information, please visit the website at

http://www.cninfo.com.cn.
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Chairman’s Statement
=E R WA

Li Li Chairman

FHEEEFER

Dear shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of directors (the “Board”) of Shenzhen Hepalink
Pharmaceutical Group Co., Ltd. (the “Company”, or “Hepalink”), | am pleased to
announce the audited annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries (the
"Group”, “we”, "our” or "us”) for the year ended December 31, 2023 (the
"Reporting Period”).

Looking back at 2023, the three-year global public health crisis finally came to an
end at the beginning of the year. However, the impact of global market volatility,
escalating geopolitical conflicts, and fluctuating end-demand posed unprecedented
challenges to the development of many enterprises and significantly affected their
global strategies. The challenges of the post-epidemic era and changes in the
industry led to a trend of market differentiation. However, the Group remains
committed to its global strategy and resiliently continues to advance the prudent
growth of the Group.

During the financial year, due to the impact of the post-epidemic era, our operating
income amounted to RMB5,431.0 million (2022: RMB7,151.0 million) and overall
gross profit margin decreased by 14.7 percentage points to 17.3% (2022: 32.0%);
loss attributable to shareholders on a consolidated basis was RMB783.3 million
(2022: profit attributable to shareholders was RMB727.4 million). During the
financial year, net cash flow from operating activities steadily returned to normal,
and our risk management and resilience were further strengthened. The net
operating cash inflow of RMB398.2 million (2022: net operating cash outflow of
RMB756.7 million), demonstrating the Company’s solid operating capability and
our ability to maintain a stable cash generation capacity in spite of the operating
adversities.

SHENZHEN HEPALINK PHARMACEUTICAL GROUP CO., LTD. &I /8 & i 3 S B R H AR 2 7

FURR :

RAABRRRITEEREXEBRMHAR
RA(TRLF] - [RAIHBERDEES
(TESBE ) MASTHARRAREFAR ([HE
B &MHEBEE—_Z_=F+"HA=+—H
LEE(HRER) 2REREFEE -

BE-_Z_=F HE-FHNERQIAFLES
HERREFVER  BE2ETESEEE &
BRAL BB REPSEHE  RRZEE
BBERERT LEAPIOBE - ETDBEN
EREEBRETZE REBRRKBRT
ERPHONE HEMSEREERENB
g AAKERSERCHBRGE - A2
TR fEREENRREE -

RAFRFEE SHEEBEHRREESRNEH
2 BMNEERAABARES 4310688 T -
(ZZ2=—=—F: ARE7,151.06887T) B8
EFETRIATEES B E1T7TI%(ZT ==
F:32.0%)  IREGAEERTELEBARE
7833HEN (ZE_—F  REEGHRERIAR
¥727 48 87T) - RAKRFE @ K& EHE
MR EREFHERELEETE  NIRAKAE
e - AR S FRALEG AREE398.2
BEL(ZT-ZF  gEBLFRE : 756.7
BERT) EREARBREMNEZSREN BF
EHELYE  BRMRARB TIBEENERS
ELgEn -



Amid the challenges in the industry, the Group has always adhered to its strategic
objectives, determined the development positioning of various businesses, and
implemented the annual development strategies.

In the finished dose pharmaceutical products business, the market has been
severely impacted by the global destocking trend. However, Hepalink’s enoxaparin
finished dose pharmaceutical products managed to maintain stable global sales
volumes, demonstrating its strong resilience and competitiveness in coping with
market fluctuations. In the European market, the Group’s enoxaparin finished dose
pharmaceutical products continued to hold the second-largest market share in
Europe. Throughout the year, benefiting from earlier marketing strategies, the
overall revenue of finished dose pharmaceutical products in Europe continued to
grow steadily. In the United States market, the Group’s enoxaparin finished dose
pharmaceutical products received FDA approval for its ANDA. Since the launch of
self-operated enoxaparin finished dose pharmaceutical products in June 2023 in
the United States, we actively engaged in self-operated sales efforts. We also
continued to collaborate with our sales agents, maintaining a leading position in
the U.S. market while steadily increasing our market share. In the international
non-European and American markets, the Group maintained a solid second position
in the markets it has entered, further increased its market share, and made
continuous breakthroughs in market development with successful product launches
in new markets such as Australia and Ecuador. In the Chinese market, the Group
secured first place in China’s 8th national volume-based procurement, obtaining
contracts from five provinces, as primary suppliers and one province, as a backup
supplier. This is 1-2 provinces more than the subsequent winning bidder. In
subsequent competitions, we also secured the position of secondary supplier in
sixteen provinces. Through customized branding and a multi-brand promotion
strategy, our Chinese finished dose pharmaceutical products expanded through
private channels, allowing more Chinese patients to access high-quality
medications.

CDMO business was full of ups and downs throughout the year. With the end of
the pandemic and the completion of orders for key enzymes required for mRNA
COVID-19 vaccines at the beginning of the year, the revenue of CDMO business
plummeted. However, the Group’s CDMO team rose to the challenge and actively
expanded marketing efforts to increase orders and fill the business gap, and
succeeded in offsetting most of the impact with the gradual release of revenue in
the fourth quarter.
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Chairman’s Statement
=E R WA

In the innovation business, Techdow USA Inc., a subsidiary of the Group, entered
into a distribution agreement with Chia Tai Tianging Pharmaceutical Group Co.
Ltd., which was in line with the Group's strategic direction of adhering to the
internationalization of its business operations and assisting Chinese pharmaceutical
companies in exporting their pharmaceutical products to the European and
American markets. Relying on the well-established self-operated teams,
self-operated sales networks and channels in Europe and the United States,
Hepalink will join hands with more multinational overseas pharmaceutical
companies to seek new business growth points. In addition, the Group’s
majority-controlled subsidiary, Shenzhen OncoVent Biomedical Technology Co.,
Ltd., has also entered into a license agreement for Oregovomab with Orient
EuroPharma Co., Ltd. (a biotechnology company). We will continue to explore
cooperation opportunities, accelerate the strategic layout of innovative drugs and
build up diversified commercialization capabilities.

Looking ahead, while the impact of the post-pandemic era is expected to fade, the
business environment will continue to be fraught with uncertainties as concerns
such as geopolitical tensions and economic challenges remain unresolved. Despite
these challenges, the Group possesses numerous competitive advantages that
contribute to its strong resilience. With its leading market position, high efficiency
and excellent sales networks, and solid financial strength, Hepalink is well-prepared
to seize emerging market opportunities at any time. We will continue to focus on
deepening the heparin business and steadfastly driving the stable growth of
enoxaparin finished dose pharmaceutical products. Additionally, we will flexibly
adjust our marketing strategies in response to market dynamics and explore new
markets and sectors to enhance our international market share and influence, while
making every effort to increase sales volume and market share in various heparin
markets. Furthermore, the Group will continue to leverage its expertise in the
CDMO business, with a focus on the field of macromolecule. On the one hand, we
will explore orders from existing customers, on the other hand, we will expand our
order base by targeting new global customers through the integration of
customers, platform technology and human resources, actively improving the profit
level. Faced with the increasing complexity, severity, and uncertainty of the external
environment, we are more determined to confront our own shortcomings and risks.
We will continuously strive to improve our internal management system, achieving
a transformation from within and from incremental changes to more fundamental
improvement. In 2024, considering the long-term development of the enterprise,
we will collaborate with external experts to optimize our internal control
management planning. Based on the new plan, we will enhance the management
and implementation of internal management systems, effectively integrating
internal control and risk management into the daily course of various operational
systems and employees, which will involve comprehensive data coordination,
strategic planning, mainly in the areas of pipeline management, industry layout,
and human resources.
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Unless unforeseen circumstances arise, we maintain a cautiously optimistic outlook
for business recovery and financial turnaround. Additionally, we will continue to
focus on cost control to ensure that the Group achieves robust financial
performance and cash flow levels in favorable market conditions.

Lastly, on behalf of the Group, | would like to express sincere gratitude to our loyal
customers for their persistent support, as well as all business partners, investors
and shareholders for their trust. | would also like to present my heartfelt gratitude
to all staff for their consistent hard work and contribution in the past year. The
Group will build on past achievements and keep pace with the times, capitalize on
market opportunities and leverage its own advantages to promote the long-term
healthy development of the Group, thereby maximizing returns for shareholders.

Li Li
Chairman and Group President of Hepalink

March 28, 2024
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I\/Ianagement Discussion and Analysis
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OVERVIEW

2023 was a year of pandemic abatement and the return of normalcy in the
economy. As the world’s major economies enter the post-pandemic era, “recovery”
has become an increasingly important keyword. Looking around the world, core
inflation declined slowly, monetary policy continued to be tightened, and economic
growth still faced considerable uncertainty. Although overall inflation eased slightly
in 2023, it remained above the historical average level. Meanwhile, with no interest
rate cuts announced by the central banks of the United States, Europe and the
United Kingdom and rising operating costs in all sectors, including tight labor
markets and fluctuations in commodity prices, high inflation persisted throughout
the year and became more difficult to tame. At the same time, rising interest rates
and tightening credit in major markets posed challenges to growth. During the
year, debt distress in major developing countries deepened, triggering banking
crises in Europe and the United States in the first half of the year. On the
production side, global manufacturing and industrial production weakened, with
the global manufacturing PMI averaging 48.5%, down 3.3 percentage points from
2022. Throughout the year, the PMI remained below 50%, indicating a slowdown
in global economic growth as compared to 2022. On the demand side, demand
from the service sector in major economies declined and private consumption lost
momentum in driving the economy. According to the Global Trade Update report
released by the United Nations Conference on Trade and Development, global
trade in 2023 decreased by 5% compared to the previous year, with the global
trade volume reaching approximately USD30.7 trillion. Trade in goods in 2023
decreased by approximately USD2 trillion, representing a decline of 8%.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

China’s economic growth in 2023 is characterized by a wavy and zigzagging
pattern, with GDP growth of 4.5% in the first quarter, 6.3% in the second quarter,
4.9% in the third quarter and 5.2% in the fourth quarter, and 5.2% for the year as
a whole. This has driven the macroeconomic recovery growth and the deepening of
micro-foundation, propelling China’s economy and production back onto an
expansionary growth trajectory. Overall, China’s domestic economic performance
was in line with expectations, and the major targets for the year were largely
accomplished. At the same time, with the rising complexity, severity and uncertainty
of the external environment, the supply-demand imbalance and weak demand from
the domestic economy, production and exports, the lack of sufficient coordination
between the traditional and emerging industries in terms of structure, coupled with
the continued pressure on the real estate market, there was insufficient internal
driving force for household consumption, and the social expectations and market
confidence among business entities were relatively weak.

The past year has been undoubtedly challenging and testing for the Group. The
uncertainties in geopolitics and economic cycles, as well as the continued impact of
the post-pandemic situation, have profoundly reshaped the structure of the global
heparin industry chain and the operating environment, which had a greater impact
on the Group. During the Reporting Period, the global heparin industry chain was
impacted by the post-pandemic situation and the normalization of medication
usage in various regions, coupled with rising operating costs, overseas heparin API
customers became more prudent and adjusted their inventory strategies.
Downstream enterprises in the heparin industry faced destocking pressures,
resulting in a significant decline in demand for upstream products. Market
competition intensified, and the entire heparin industry was greatly affected with
heparin export prices substantially declining in the fourth quarter of 2023.
According to the data from the General Administration of Customs, in July 2023,
the average monthly export price of heparin from China was USD11,779 per kg.
However, the supply for that month was only 5 tons, which was at a historical low.
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Due to the supply-demand dynamics, the heparin price plummeted to USD4,805
per kg as of October 2023. The market operating pressures became more
pronounced in the fourth quarter, and the Group’s API business was also affected,
experiencing a significant decline in sales throughout the year. Additionally, the
substantial decline in heparin product prices led to signs of impairment in some of
the heparin products in the Company’s inventory in the fourth quarter of 2023.
After evaluating the orders on hand in 2024 and taking into account the market
forecast, the Company made corresponding provision for inventory write-downs in
accordance with the relevant accounting standards, which resulted in a provision
for inventory impairment of RMB855.4 million during the year. For the CDMO
business, the revenue has returned to normal levels. However, in the first half of
the year, after the completion of orders for the key enzyme required for mRNA
COVID-19 vaccines, new service contracts took longer to generate revenue at
various developmental milestones, putting pressure on the growth of revenue and
profits in our CDMO business. During the Reporting Period, the net loss of the
Company further widened due to the changes in fair value of financial liabilities
resulting from the application for listing on the The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited ("Hong Kong Stock Exchange”) and the valuation changes of the
Company’s associate HighTide Therapeutics, Inc. (“HighTide") in 2023. The
Company recognized an investment loss of more than RMB368.6 million (2022:
RMB83.9 million) in accordance with the accounting treatment for equity method.
As this loss is reflected in the Company’s profit and loss, the net profit during the
Reporting Period has been significantly impacted. As disclosed in the inside
information announcement of the Company dated January 15, 2024, Techdow
Pharma Italy S.R.L. (“Techdow Italy”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
was the unfortunate victim of telecommunication fraud committed by a criminal
syndicate, involving an amount of approximately EUR11.74 million (the “Italy
Incident”). Out of this, about 9.74 million euros (equivalent to RMB 74.5 million)
were fraudulently transferred in 2023. This amount was recorded as other expenses
in 2023. In order to minimize the impact of the Italy Incident on the Company, the
following actions were taken:

1) on 14 March 2024, the Company received funds advanced by Mr. Li Li
(“Mr. Li"), through Shenzhen Leren Technology Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhen Leren”),
amounting to RMB89,809,600 (equivalent to the value of approximately EUR11.74
million); and 2) the Company took various measures to safeguard the interests of
the Company and its shareholders, in an effort to minimize and eliminate the
impact of the Italy Incident on the Company.

The Company established an independent third-party investigation group (the
"Special Investigation Group”) on 30 January 2024. The Special Investigation
Group, led by the Company’s independent non-executive directors, engaged an
internationally leading forensic investigation team (the “Investigation Team”) to
conduct an independent forensic investigation, in collaboration with a renowned
international law firm, into the Telecom Fraud Incident encountered by the
Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary Techdow Pharma Italy S.R.L. (“Techdow
Italy”) (the “Investigation”). On 26 March 2024, the Investigation Team delivered
an investigation report to the Special Investigation Group (the “Report”).
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After reviewing the Report and the recommendations of the Special Investigation
Group, the Board urges the Company to continue to reinforce and effectively
implement the multiple measures that the Company has initiated earlier, including
but not limited to:

(N

Examining the business processes within the domestic and overseas
subsidiaries of the Company (the “Group”) to identify major risks; update
and enhance the internal control matrix of the Company and its subsidiaries;
based on the results of the risk assessment, further define and refine the key
branches, business processes and sub-processes of internal control; based on
the business operations and risk assessment results, combined with
information system tools, enhance the corresponding control measures at
both the Company level and the business processes level, and regularly
review and update the internal control matrix;

Recruiting internal control experts to strengthen training programs on
internal control, and raise awareness of risk and risk compliance; ensuring
the effective implementation of internal control systems; effectively
improving the operational standards of the Company; promoting healthy and
sustainable development of the Company; improving the awareness and
ability of all domestic and overseas employees to prevent fraud and combat
crimes;

Intensifying the Company’s audits and flight inspections of internal control of
overseas subsidiaries; implementing rectification responsibilities and
promoting rectification evaluations and monitoring their progress; based on
the results of the risk assessment and the effectiveness of daily supervision,
enhancing the oversight over the internal audits and assessments of key
business processes of overseas subsidiaries of the Company; building a
“closed loop” of internal control that focuses on improving management
value; in response to the risks, defects and causes identified during the audit
supervision process, formulating practical and feasible rectification plans,
identifying persons responsible for the rectification, and communicating and
providing feedback in a timely manner;

Strengthening the centralized management of funds and improving the
efficiency of utilization of funds; strictly implementing the fund management
systems of the Group to achieve centralized management of the internal
funds of the Company and its subsidiaries; continuously enhancing and
improving the measures for centralized management of internal funds;
carrying out regular inspections and supervision, enforcing strict liability for
losses, promptly identifying any problems and achieving continuous
improvement through measures such as regular inspections, key spot
inspections, or audit supervision;

After determining the responsibilities of the pertinent individuals through the
results of the Investigation, progress of the case opened with the police, and
other associated activities, the Company will initiate an internal accountability
procedure to hold the relevant individual strictly accountable. Should it be
found that any of the involved employees have violated any laws or
regulations, the Company will transfer such individuals to the appropriate
judicial authorities and provide cooperation; in instances where gross
negligence is established, the Company will enforce stringent disciplinary
measures against the offending individuals.
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The Company confirmed that if the Company or its affiliates (including but not
limited to Techdow ltaly) recovers all or part of the payments or obtains any
compensation of any nature from any relevant liable party through criminal, civil or
other legal proceedings or by any other means, after such payments or
compensation are recovered or obtained, the Company shall return to Shenzhen
Leren the equivalent of the abovementioned amount in RMB, calculated at a fixed
exchange rate of 1 euro to RMB7.6500, and the total returned amount shall not
exceed the total amount of the payments actually advanced by Shenzhen Leren to
the Company, and no interest of any form shall accrue on such advance payments
during the relevant period.

For the year 2023, Hepalink’s revenue reached RMB5,431.0 million, representing a
year-on-year decrease of 24.1%. The loss attributable to equity holders was
RMB783.3 million. Excluding the investment losses caused by HighTide, the loss
from the Italy Incident and the impairment of inventories, the adjusted profit
attributable to equity holders adjusted to RMB387.0 million (2022: RMB841.9
million).

Even under the influence of several unfavorable factors in the macro environment,
the Group actively implemented its strategic goals as originally planned while also
continuing to increase its efforts to expand its presence in overseas markets. During
the Reporting Period, the Group achieved several significant business milestones.
The Group'’s s finished dose enoxaparin sodium pharmaceutical product won the
bid and secured first place in China’s 8th national volume-based procurement (VBP)
(the “8th VBP"), and became the main supplier of various provinces and cities,
such as Sichuan, Jiangsu, Beijing, Shaanxi and Ningxia. The Group considered that
this successful bidding facilitated faster market penetration, formed scale sales and
increased market share, which had a positive impact on the Group’s sales growth
in the PRC market during the year. In March 2023, the abbreviated new drug
application from Shenzhen Techdow Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Hepalink, for its enoxaparin sodium injection was approved by the
United States Food and Drug Administration (“FDA"), allowing the products to be
sold through our own marketing channels in the United States and furthering the
Group's expansion in the United States market. Meanwhile, Techdow USA Inc.
("Techdow USA"), a subsidiary of the Group, entered into a distribution
agreement with Chia Tai Tianging Pharmaceutical Group Co. Ltd. (“CTTQ"), which
was in line with the Group’s strategic direction of adhering to the
internationalization of its business operations and assisting Chinese pharmaceutical
companies in exporting their pharmaceutical products to the European and
American markets. Relying on its well-established self-operated teams,
self-operated sales networks and channels in Europe and the United States,
Hepalink will join hands with more multinational overseas pharmaceutical
companies to seek new business growth points. In addition, the Group’s
majority-controlled subsidiary, Shenzhen OncoVent Biomedical Technology Co.,
Ltd., has also entered into a license agreement for Oregovomab with Orient
EuroPharma Co., Ltd. (a biotechnology company). We will continue to explore
cooperation opportunities, accelerate the strategic layout of innovative drugs and
build diversified commercialization capabilities.
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The Group mainly operates three main business segments, including (i) heparin
industrial chain business; (ii) CDMO business; and (iii) innovative drugs and
innovative business.

HEPARIN INDUSTRIAL CHAIN BUSINESS

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s heparin industrial chain business achieved
sales revenue of RMB4,286.3 million (2022: RMB5,884.3 million).

During the Reporting Period, the Group remained stable in sales of finished dose
pharmaceutical products, achieving sales revenue of RMB2,979.0 million (2022:
RMB3,210.5 million), accounting for 54.9% of the Group’s total revenue; gross
profit of RMB1,284.6 million (2022: RMB1,132.4 million), an increase of 13.4%,
and gross profit margin was 43.1% (2022: 35.3%), an increase of 7.8 percentage
points, which was mainly attributable to the significant increase in sales revenue
from Europe.

The European market remained a key area for our finished dose enoxaparin sodium
pharmaceutical products business in the Reporting Period. Our product has been
ranked among the top two in this region. The Group's integrated industry chain
layout and supply chain management had a significant comparative advantage in
effectively controlling costs and realizing the improvement of gross profit margin
during the year, resulting in an increase of over 7.8 percentage points in the
Group's gross profit margin of its finished dose products as compared to last year.
Our self-operated sales team in Europe also actively consolidated its existing market
share and explored untapped markets in Europe. We continued to strengthen
market promotion efforts and closely followed up on hospital tender channels in
various countries, striving to achieve breakthrough in uncovered markets with
deeper and wider development, expand our sales scale, thereby further increasing
market share, and consolidating our market position in Europe.

In terms of the PRC market, our Chinese sales team continued to make great
efforts to achieve satisfactory sales performance, with a year-on-year increase of
over 30% in sales volume. Meanwhile, the Group actively participated in the
centralized drug procurement to expand the market accessibility of its finished dose
products. In the 8th VBP, the Group's finished dose enoxaparin sodium
pharmaceutical products successfully won the bid at first place, becoming a new
source of profit growth for the Group. We will leverage the advantage of winning
the bid with a high ranking to rapidly increase our market share in China.
Additionally, we will continue to actively fill market gaps and accelerate the pace of
the Group’s expansion in the Chinese market through the marketing efforts of our
self-operated sales team.
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In terms of the United States market, the Group continued to collaborate with
United States partners and adhere to a diversified business model to better leverage
our respective channel layouts and sales strategies. At the same time, our United
States self-operated sales team actively built sales networks and filled market gaps,
as well as sold finished dose enoxaparin sodium pharmaceutical products and
standard heparin finished doses. During the Reporting Period, we successfully
established partnerships with different medical systems and distributors, effectively
promoting future business growth. In addition, the Group leveraged our
self-operated sales resources and platforms to advance the commercialization of
Fosaprepitant Dimeglutide in the United States market, aiming to enhance synergies
and create new sources of income.

During the Reporting Period, de-stocking in the non-European and American
overseas markets continued, and it took time for markets and channels to digest
products, resulting in weak demand in non-European and American overseas
markets, and a decline in the Group’s sales in these markets compared to the same
period last year. During the Reporting Period, on the basis of continuing to
strengthen the relationship with existing customer partners, the Group actively
explored other new markets, and further strengthened our market access and
registration work, so as to increase the number of countries where our products
are sold. At the same time, the Group explored sales channels, closely kept track of
the bidding progress, enhanced cooperation with local sales partners, and
supplemented our operations through multi-channel collaboration to promote
market development and marketing.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s heparin APl business was significantly
affected by the complex operating environment, with sales revenue of
approximately RMB1,307.3 million (2022: RMB2,673.8 million), accounting for
24.1% of the Group’s total revenue. During the Reporting Period, the global
heparin industry supply chain was affected by macro disruptions due to the
aftermath of the pandemic, resulting in overall weak demand. According to China
Customs data, heparin shipments in China fell over 30% year-on-year in 2023,
reaching the lowest in nearly a decade. This was mainly due to the post-pandemic
aftermath, the backlog of drugs and inventory during the pandemic, the
normalization of terminal demand, coupled with the rising operating costs, the
more cautious procurement strategy of APl customers, who postponed and
suspended their purchases during the Reporting Period, resulting in a greater
impact on the domestic APl industry, and a significant effect on the overall
shipments of the Group’s API business, leading to a substantial decline in the
Group's APl business revenue during the Reporting Period.
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CDMO BUSINESS

During the Reporting Period, the sales revenue of CDMO business was
approximately RMB967.0 million (2022: RMB1,084.1 million) while the gross profit
margin decreased to 22.0% (2022: 38.5%). Sales of CDMO business dropped
significantly in the first half of the year due to the termination of the service
contract related to the provision of enzymes for mRNA vaccines. The Group actively
expanded its business to fill the gap, and the impact of the first half of the year
was offset by a significant increase in sales revenue in the fourth quarter. The
decrease in gross margin was mainly due to the termination of a service contract
for the provision of enzymes for mRNA vaccines, which had a higher gross margin.
The Group’s CDMO business relied on the synergies of its wholly-owned
subsidiaries, Cytovance and SPL. During the Reporting Period, the Group integrated
the R&D resources and capacity allocation of the two platforms, and invested more
holistically in the drug development process to help customers complete their
projects faster and better, increasing customer retention rate and deepening and
broadening the cooperation. During the Reporting Period, the Group actively
enhanced the marketing efforts of the two subsidiaries, engaged in acquisition and
business development activities for potential front-end customers, explored both
new business and customers, accumulated early-stage project reserves, as well as
promoting the expansion layout of ongoing projects, laying a foundation for the
continued development of the Group’s CDMO business in the future.

INNOVATIVE DRUGS AND INNOVATIVE BUSINESS

During the Reporting Period, Techdow USA, a subsidiary of the Group, successfully
entered into a distribution agreement with CTTQ, pursuant to which CTTQ agreed
to grant to Techdow USA a license to commercialize Fosaprepitant Dimeglutide in
the United States. Techdow USA will be responsible for the commercialization of
Fosaprepitant Dimeglutide in the United States market, including marketing,
promotion, sale and distribution of the product. The Group, by leveraging its own
sales network and channels, will more effectively advance the commercialization of
Fosaprepitant Dimeglumine in the US market, demonstrating the Group's
commitment to international operations and supporting Chinese pharmaceutical
companies to export their products to the European and American markets. The
Group has established comprehensive self-operated teams in five European
countries and the United States, and has a self-operated sales network and
channels. This cooperation is a recognition of the Group’s marketing capabilities in
overseas markets, and also an important opportunity for the Group to accumulate
experience in exploring overseas marketing, which has far-reaching and positive
significance for the Group's future cooperation with other pharmaceutical
companies. We will actively explore collaboration with pharmaceutical companies
to seek new business growth points.
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Oregovomab

Oregovomab, a murine monoclonal antibody, is an anti-CA125 immunotherapy
drug candidate being developed by our shareholding subsidiary OncoQuest Inc. It
has completed a Phase Il clinical trial as a standard treatment combined with
chemotherapy in patients with advanced primary ovarian cancer. The Group has
exclusive development and commercial rights for Oregovomab in the Greater China
region. During the Reporting Period, an interim analysis of Oregovomab Phase IlI
clinical trial suggested that the study did not meet its intended objectives and a
patient follow-up on survival statistics is being conducted as recommended by the
Data and Safety Monitoring Board (DSMB). The Group will actively explore options
to advance the development of new drugs for Oregovomab. The Group's
majority-controlled subsidiary, Shenzhen OncoVent Biomedical Technology Co.,
Ltd., has also entered into a license agreement for Oregovomab with Orient
EuroPharma Co., Ltd. (a biotechnology company). We will continue to explore
cooperation opportunities, accelerate the strategic layout of innovative drugs and
build up diversified commercialization capabilities.

AR-301 (Salvecin)

AR-301 is a fully human monoclonal IgG1 antibody (mAb) that specifically targets
S. aureus alpha-toxin. It is being developed by our shareholding subsidiary Aridis
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Aridis”). The Group has exclusive development and
commercial rights in the Greater China region. AR-301 was granted Fast Track
Designation by the FDA and Orphan Drug Designation by the European Medicines
Agency (the “EMA"). During the Reporting Period, the Global Phase Il Study of
Tosatoxumab (AR-301) in Combination with Antibiotics (SOC) for the Treatment of
Staphylococcus aureus Ventilator-associated Pneumonia did not reach the primary
study endpoint, however the study data revealed that Tosatoxumab significantly
improves outcomes for patients over 65 with ventilator-associated pneumonia, and
also demonstrates efficacy against Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus
(MRSA) infections. Based on this finding, Aridis has discussed with and obtained
guidance from the FDA and the EMA on the design of a second Phase IlI study for
the treatment of hospitalized patients who are diagnosed with pneumonia caused
by Staphylococcus aureus and require mechanical ventilation by combining it with
standard of care antibiotics.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

RVX-208 (Apabetalone)

RVX-208 is a selective inhibitor of bromodomain and BET proteins with selectivity
for the second bromodomain. It is the first small molecule drugs being developed
by the shareholding subsidiary Resverlogix Corp. (a public company listed on the
Toronto Stock Exchange, stock code: RVX). RVX-208 has completed phase Ill clinical
trial (BETonMACE) in combination with standard of care to reduce major adverse
cardiovascular events among high-risk cardiovascular disease patients with type Il
diabetes mellitus, recent acute coronary syndrome, and low levels of high-density
lipoprotein (HDL). RVX-208 was granted Breakthrough Therapy Designation by the
FDA in February 2020 and the clinical plan for pivotal phase Ill was approved by the
FDA in June 2020. Apabetalone, the first drug in its class to receive FDA
Breakthrough Therapy approval for a major cardiovascular indication, will further
advance its drug development progress, including the planned clinical trials, and
the implementation of an accelerated development strategy. The Group has
exclusive development and commercial rights in the Greater China region.

H1710

H1710 is a potent acetyl heparinase inhibitor self-developed by the Group. The
inhibitor’s chain length is suitable for binding to both heparin binding domains
(HBDs) of heparanase, and its unique flexible chain and structure enable
penetration into the heparanase catalytic bag and prevent its degradation. H1710
reduces the accessibility of the heparanase catalytic bag and its ability to degrade
the natural matrix acetyl heparan sulfate (HS) in this manner. The drug candidate is
currently in the preclinical stage with non-clinical pharmacodynamic studies
demonstrating significant tumor suppression in multiple tumor models compared to
standard therapies. We are preparing for the IND filing of H1710 in China and the
United States. The Group has exclusive worldwide development and commercial
rights.
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I\/Ianagement Discussion and Analysis

B IR E & B AT

OUTLOOK

Over the past year, we have experienced a year of significant external disruptions.
The complex trajectory of the post-pandemic era, the reshaping of the global
heparin supply chain, and the changes in macroeconomic and market environments
have brought about tremendous uncertainty, profoundly impacting Hepalink’'s
choices and development in the future. Faced with great uncertainty, we have
further emphasized the resilience and flexibility of the company’s development
strategy. Through rolling adjustments, we aim to better adapt to changes in the
external environment, iterating and breaking through as we navigate through these
changes. We remain unwavering in our goal to be a global leader. We are even
more determined in our strategic positioning and development objectives among
challenges. Despite the unpredictable market environment, we maintain a proactive
attitude, seeking breakthroughs in various aspects, including market size,
production technology, product portfolio, channel expansion, and brand influence.
We are resolute in our commitment to maintain our position as the leader in the
global heparin industry chain.

In the finished dose pharmaceutical products business, the Group is committed to
maintaining growth and consolidating our leading position in the market.
International development has always been an important strategic focus for us. We
will better understand the demands of different regions and enhance Hepalink’s
product competitiveness and brand influence through our overseas sales planning.
We will actively strengthen market marketing and business expansion in individual
countries and regions and promote scale sales in order to expand our market share
in overseas markets. In the United States market, the Group will continue to
collaborate with strategic partners and leverage the sales force of our self-operated
team to lead the steady development and consolidation of our pharmaceutical
business. In other overseas markets, Hepalink will accelerate market access and
registration efforts, actively exploring market opportunities. At the same time, we
will increase sales volume in existing overseas markets, explore identified markets,
refine our business, and expand the scale of our existing markets. In the Chinese
market, the success of the 8th VBP has contributed to a significant increase in
Hepalink’s market share in the PRC. We will continue to advance the expansion of
the Chinese finished dose pharmaceutical products market and become a driving
force for the growth of the Group's finished dose pharmaceutical products business.

In respect of API business, the Group will actively expand the market size and
further diversify our sales distribution in terms of regions and customers, so as to
achieve market share expansion and gain competitive advantages, solidifying the
Group's leadership position in the APl industry. We will leverage the decisive role of
the market in resource allocation, and develop our business in a targeted manner
to maintain stable business growth by focusing on regional economies and the
differentiated characteristics of our target customers. At the same time, the Group
will continue to extend down the value chain to support the development of the
downstream core business, and maintain strategic support. In addition, the Group
will increase its efforts on market expansion of enoxaparin APl and further promote
the sales of high-tech, high-quality and high-value-added enoxaparin APl products
to achieve orderly business development and steady revenue growth.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

In terms of the CDMO business, through years of efforts, Hepalink has
fundamentally established a service system for R&D and production of mammalian
cell culture and microbial fermentation throughout the whole pre-clinical and
clinical development process. Based on the existing CDMO layout, the Group will
optimize the resource allocation to improve the production capacity and integrate
the cell culture platform. On the one hand, the Group will realize more production
capacity release to meet future business needs, and on the other hand, the Group
will be able to meet the needs of small-scale, pilot-scale and commercial projects of
customers more flexibly and cover customers’ needs more comprehensively.
Moreover, the Group has initiated cooperation projects with strategic partners to
implement various tasks with high requirements, standards and quality work
specifications, so as to form an embedded cooperation relationship on the premise
of meeting the two key indicators: on-time rate and realization rate, and provide
project reserve for continuous orders.

With regard to innovative drugs and innovative business, the Group will continue
to actively search for suitable pharmaceutical products for overseas markets. On
one hand, we will leverage our own advantages in overseas sales to increase new
revenue sources. On the other hand, we will assist mainland pharmaceutical
companies in rapidly expanding their overseas sales, achieving mutual benefits and
win-win results for the industry. At the same time, we will continue to review the
existing pipeline, adhere to the R&D principles of rational investment, effective
allocation, forward-looking planning and sophisticated management of innovative
drugs, and promote the clinical development of innovative drugs for substantive
progress.

Looking forward to 2024, Heparin will continue to deepen its presence in the
heparin industry chain. Expanding the sales scale will be our primary focus as we
persistently implement and advance our sales layout, increase the market share of
our products, and maintain the steady development of our business for
enhancement in our operational efficiency and improvement in financial indicators.
In the foreseeable and constantly changing operating environment, we will uphold
our industry chain advantages with the enhancement of the value of each business
segment. While consolidating its existing foundation, the Group actively explored
suitable opportunities to achieve a new breakthrough in the Group’s business and
demonstrate to the market the business expertise, strategic vision, and
development potential of Hepalink as an industry leader. Simultaneously, the Group
will further enhance the internal monitoring system and implement a
comprehensive risk management framework and mechanisms. We will rigorously
adhere to operational systems and internal control processes, elevate the level of
risk management information, and significantly strengthen internal monitoring and
risk management capabilities. In this new year, despite the changing and complex
market conditions, the Group is optimistic about the future prospects and
opportunities, it will continue to unswervingly implement the existing strategy,
review the situation and observe the market trend, proactively integrate the
Group's resources to realize investment value, and steadily move towards its
strategic goal of becoming a world-leading innovative multinational pharmaceutical
enterprise.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRE & B AT

For the year ended December 31,

Bt ¥ [0 R
A

BET-A=t-HL#FE Year-on-year
2023 2023 2022 2022 increase/
Sales % of Sales % of decrease
amount Revenue amount Revenue (%)

—E-=F —E-=F —E-F —E-CF
HEH itk HER (=354 (7l L 3R

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BTR (%) ARETT (%) (%)
Sale of goods BEER 4,415,058 81.3% 6,012,848 84.1% (26.6%)
Finished dose pharmaceutical products ) S| 2,979,030 54.9% 3,210,465 44.9% (7.2%)
API API 1,307,343 24.1% 2,673,754 37.4% (51.1%)
Others Hbo 128,685 2.4% 128,629 1.8% 0.0%
CDMO services CDMOfR# 966,952 17.8% 1,084,066 15.2% (10.8%)
Others? Hip@ 48,964 0.9% 54,125 0.8% (9.5%)
Total =5 5,430,974 100.0% 7,151,039 100% (24.1%)

Revenue from manufacturing and sales of goods decreased by RMB1,597.8 million
to RMB4,415.1 million, accounting for 81.3% of the total revenue during the
Reporting Period, as compared with RMB6,012.9 million or 84.1% of the Group’s
revenue in 2022. The decrease in revenue from manufacturing and sales of goods
was mainly due to the year-on-year decrease in sales revenue of APIs during the
year.

Cost of sales

For the Reporting Period, cost of sales decreased by RMB370.8 million to
RMB4,490.1 million, as compared with RMB4,860.9 million in 2022. The decrease
in cost of sales during the Reporting Period mainly due to the decrease in the scale
of sales revenue, but at the same time, there was an increase in the provision for
inventory impairment for APIs.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Gross Profit

BB A A L AT
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For the year ended December 31,

BE+-H=1t—HLFE

2023 2022

2023 Gross profit 2022 Gross profit
Gross profit margin Gross profit margin

—E-=F —E-=F —E—-— T
£ A% EH EF%E

RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBT T (%) ARBFT (%)
Sale of goods HEEM 693,525 15.7% 1,821,343 30.3%
Finished dose pharmaceutical products Y 2| 1,284,627 43.1% 1,132,402 35.3%
API API (560,161) (42.8%) 741,900 27.7%
Others™ H At (30,941) (24.0%) (52,959) (41.2%)
CDMO services CDMORR 213,036 22.0% 417,334 38.5%
Others® E b 34,335 70.1% 51,512 95.2%
Total &&t 940,896 17.3% 2,290,189 32.0%
Notes: st -

(1) Other products mainly include Pancreatin API.

(2) Other business mainly includes manufacture and marketing services, processing services,
technical support services and other services.

For the Reporting Period, gross profit decreased by RMB1,349.3 million to
RMB940.9 million, as compared with RMB2,290.2 million in 2022. For the
Reporting Period, gross profit margin decreased by 14.7 percentage points to
17.3%, as compared with 32.0% in 2022. The decrease in gross profit margin was
mainly due to the significant increase in the cost of sales as a result of the
accounting treatment of including the amount of impairment losses on inventory in
the cost of sales of APIs, and the provision for inventory impairment amounted to
RMB855.4 million.

The cost of sales included the inventory impairment provision of approximately
RMB 855.4 million (2022: approximately RMB36.4 million). Excluding this provision,
for the year 2023, the adjusted gross profit was approximately RMB1,796.3 million
(2022: approximately RMB2,326.5 million), and the gross profit margin is
approximately 33.1% (2022: approximately 32.5%). The increase in the adjusted
gross profit margin was primarily due to increase in unit price of the finished dose
pharmaceutical products which resulted in an improvement in its gross profit
margin.
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FINANCE COSTS

The Group's finance costs mainly consist of interest on bank borrowings and
corporate bonds and other finance costs. For the Reporting Period, finance costs
decreased by RMB17.5 million to RMB228.1 million, as compared with RMB245.6
million in 2022, representing a decrease of 7.1%. The decrease in finance costs
was mainly due to a decrease in interest on corporate bonds and other finance
costs as compared with 2022.

TAXATION

For the Reporting Period, income tax credit was RMB126.2 million, as compared
with an income tax expense of RMB114.8 million in 2022.

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON GOODWILL

The Group confirmed a goodwill impairment loss of RMB68.2 million during the
year, primarily related to the goodwill impairment of CDMO assets. The reason for
this provision of goodwill impairment loss was mainly due to the impact of the end
of the epidemic, which was expected to pose greater challenges for the future
development of CDMO asset business. Additionally, decreased downstream
investment activity has resulted in a reduction in orders for innovative drugs,
prompting the Company to lower its performance expectations for the future
CDMO asset group.

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The Group recognized a impairment loss of RMB44.5 million on property, plant,
and equipment and other intangible assets during the year. The Group mainly
focused on the development expenditure of AR-301 injection. Based on the status
of the research and development project and the prudence principle, a dynamic
evaluation and adjustment were conducted on the ongoing projects, estimating
their recoverable amounts for projects showing signs of impairment. The estimated
results of the recoverable amounts indicate that the assets’ recoverable amounts
are lower than their carrying amounts, thus the carrying amounts of the assets are
reduced to their recoverable amounts.

LOSS/PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS
OF THE COMPANY

For the Reporting Period, loss attributable to equity holders of the Company was
RMB783.3 million, as compared with profit attributable to equity holders of the
Company of RMB727.4 million in 2022.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

LOSS/EARNINGS PER SHARE

The basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to
equity holders of the Company, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
of the Company in issue for the Reporting Period. The diluted earnings per share is
calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the Company, by
the weighted average number of ordinary shares of the Company in issue for the
Reporting Period (with adjustments made for all potential dilution effect of the
ordinary shares).

For the Reporting Period, both basic loss per share and diluted loss per share were
RMBO0.53, as compared with both basic earnings per share and diluted earnings per
share of RMB0.50 in 2022.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES
Treasury Policies

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to maintain its ability
to continue as a going concern so that the Group can constantly provide returns
for shareholders of the Company and benefits for other stakeholders by
implementing proper product pricing and securing access to financing at reasonable
costs. The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure
and makes adjustments by taking into consideration the changes in economic
conditions, its future capital requirements, prevailing and expected profitability and
operating cash flows, expected capital expenditures and expected strategic
investment opportunities. The Group closely monitors its debt-to-asset ratio, which
is defined as total borrowings divided by total assets.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group's liquidity remains strong. During the Reporting Period, the Group’s
funds were primary from its ordinary business. As at December 31, 2023, the
Group's cash and bank balances were approximately RMB1,765.6 million
(December 31, 2022: approximately RMB1,319.7 million).

Capital Structure

As at December 31, 2023, the Group recorded short-term loans of approximately
RMB3,624.6 million (December 31, 2022: approximately RMB4,020.8 million) and
long-term loans of approximately RMB1,810.0 million (December 31, 2022:
approximately RMB2,296.7 million).
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Pledge of Assets

As at December 31, 2023, the Group's assets of approximately RMB2,995.5 million
were pledged to banks and other financial institutions to secure the credit facilities
granted to the Group (December 31, 2022: approximately RMB3,182.0 million).

Contingent Liabilities

As at December 31, 2023, neither the Group nor the Company had material
contingent liabilities (December 31, 2022: nil).

Asset-liability Ratio

As at December 31, 2023, the Group's total assets amounted to approximately
RMB19,203.4 million, (December 31, 2022: approximately RMB20,816.0 million),
whereas the total liabilities amounted to approximately RMB7,215.0 million
(December 31, 2022: approximately RMB8,406.6 million). The asset-liability ratio
(i.e., total liabilities divided by total assets) was approximately 37.6% (December
31, 2022: approximately 40.4%).

Interest Rate Risk

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates to the
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings with floating interest rates. The
Group's policy is to manage our interest cost using a mix of fixed and variable rate
debts. As at December 31, 2023, the Group had approximately 96.6%
interest-bearing borrowings bearing interest at fixed rates (December 31, 2022:
approximately 92.7%).

Significant Investments Held

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not hold significant investments with a
value of 5% or more of the Company’s total assets. As at the date of this report,
the Group does not have any plan for material investments or purchase of capital
assets.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries,
Associates and Joint Ventures

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have any material acquisitions and
disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures.

Future Plan For Material Investments or Capital Assets

As of December 31, 2023, save for the “Use of Proceeds”, the Group did not have
any existing plan for acquiring other material investments or capital assets.
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BB A A L AT

Indebtedness B%

As at As at
December 31, December 31,
2023 2022

R-EBE-=F R-ZE-—
+=—A=+—8H +=ZA=+—H
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT AREFT
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FTERIT R EMER 5,434,596 6,317,464
Lease liabilities HEBE 128,220 146,439
Total financial indebtedness S RMEIS B 5,562,816 6,463,903
Pledged bank deposits BB RITE N (80) (69,388)
Net financial indebtedness SRERFRE 5,562,736 6,394,515

The maturity profile of the Group’s interest-bearing bank and other borrowings is

set out as follows:

REEFEBRTRAMERZERBOT -

As at As at
December 31, December 31,
2023 2022
R-B-=F i
+=ZA=t+—H +ZA=+—8
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBET T ARETT
Repayable: AR T3 HREE
Within one year or on demand —FRHIREK 3,624,575 4,020,784
After one year but within two years —FRERWEN 772,003 1,404,818
After two years but within five years MERERAFTRA 642,237 435,195
After five years RREF% 395,781 456,667
Total CEL 5,434,596 6,317,464
The Group's bank lending as at December 31, 2023 was approximately RMB4,365.9 AEBETEER T _ZF+_A=+—

million (December 31, 2022: RMB4,311.0 million). As at December 31, 2023, the
Group's corporate bond was approximately RMB512.7 million (December 31, 2022:
RMB1,403.0 million). As at December 31, 2023, the Group’s total amount of other
lending was RMB556.0 million (December 31, 2022: RMB603.4 million).

A ABAREA36595ET(ZE-—F+—

A=+—H: AR#¥4,31
—_=%+-_RA=+—8"
HBARES127AE T (

O0BH&ET) - RZT
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=+—H: AR¥1,403.088T) RN_-Z
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Li Li (Z%%), aged 60, spouse of Ms. Li Tan and brother-in-law of Mr. Shan Yu,
is the chairman of the Board, an executive Director and the founder of our
Company. Mr. Li has over 29 years of experience in the pharmaceutical industry. He
is primarily responsible for the major decision-making and strategic planning of our
Group and oversees the financial and external affairs of our Group. As the chairman
of our Strategy Committee, Mr. Li spearheads our Group’s business strategies.
Mr. Li led the innovative drugs sector since 2012. Mr. Li approved our strategies in
the CDMO sector and has participated in the management of the CDMO business
since our acquisition of Cytovance in 2015.

Mr. Li founded the Company and was appointed as the chairman of the Board in
April 1998. Mr. Li has also been serving as a director of Topknow since May 2000;
a director of Feilaishi since June 2008; a director of Leren Technology since August
2007; a director of Hepalink Europe AB since February 2010; a director of Shenzhen
Techdow since November 2010; a director of Hepalink (Hong Kong) since June
2014; a director of Techdow Pharmaceutical (Hong Kong) Co., Ltd. since May 2013;
a director of Hepalink USA since April 2014; a director of Shenzhen Dekang
Investment Development Co., Ltd. since March 2015; a director of Shenzhen Fanpu
Biotechnology Co., Ltd. since April 2015; a director of Cytovance since October
2015; a director of OncoVent since July 2016; a director of Shenzhen Arimab
Biomedical Co., Ltd. since July 2018; and a director of HighTide (a company listed
on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, stock code: 2511) from
October 2018 to February 2024, a director of Shenzhen Hightide Biopharmaceutical
Co., Ltd. from November 2011 to October 2020; a director of Shanghai Hightide
Biopharmaceutical Co., Ltd. from March 2014 to October 2020; and a director of
Shenzhen Junshengkang Biotechnology Co., Ltd. from July 2015 to September
2020.

Mr. Li graduated from Chengdu University of Science and Technology (which later
became Sichuan University) in China with a bachelor of science degree in chemistry
in July 1987 and obtained the qualification of senior manager from the Vocational
Skills Identification Center in February 2005.
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Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management

Ms. Li Tan (Z£1H), aged 59, spouse of Mr. Li Li and sister of Mr. Shan Yu, is our
executive Director, co-founder and deputy general manager. Ms. Li has over 29
years of experience in the pharmaceutical industry. She is primarily responsible for
the major decision-making of our Group and oversees the business development
activities and management of human resources of our Group. As a member of our
Strategy Committee, Ms. Li also actively participates in the formulation and
implementation of our Group’s business strategies, including our strategies in the
innovative drugs and the CDMO sectors.

Ms. Li co-founded the Company and was appointed as our Director and deputy
general manager in April 1998. Ms. Li has also been serving as a director of
Topknow since August 2007; the managing partner of Jintiantu since August 2007;
a director of Hepalink (Hong Kong) since June 2014; a director of Shenzhen
Techdow since November 2010; a director of Hepalink USA, since October 2013; a
director of SPL since August 2015 and a director of Kymab Group Limited from
November 2016 to January 2021.

Ms. Li graduated from Chengdu University of Science and Technology (which later
became Sichuan University) in China with a bachelor of science degree in chemistry
in July 1987 and obtained the qualification of senior manager from the Vocational
Skills Identification Center in February 2005.

Mr. Shan Yu (85), aged 63, brother of Ms. Li Tan and brother-in-law of Mr. Li Li,
is our executive Director, co-founder and general manager. Mr. Shan has over 29
years of experience in the pharmaceutical industry. He is primarily responsible for
the major decision-making of our Group and oversees the production capacity,
security, logistics and external affairs of our Group. Mr. Shan also actively
participates in the implementation of our Group’s business strategies, including our
strategies in the innovative drugs and CDMO sectors.

Mr. Shan co-founded the Company and was appointed as our Director and general
manager in April 1998. Mr. Shan has also been serving as a director of Shenzhen
Topknow Industrial Development Co., Ltd. since October 2000; a managing partner
of Shuidi Shichuan since August 2007; a director of Chengdu Sunrace Co., Ltd.
since November 2009; a director of Shenzhen Beidi Aoke Technology Development
Co., Ltd. since December 2009; a director of Shandong Ruisheng since July 2010; a
director of Shenzhen Pingshan New District Hepalink Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. since
July 2013; and a director of Hepalink USA since April 2014.

Mr. Shan graduated from Peking University in China with a bachelor of science
degree in applied physics in July 1982 and obtained the qualification of senior
manager from the Vocational Skills Identification Center in February 2005.
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Mr. Zhang Ping (5k°F), aged 58, is a Chinese national who graduated from
Shaanxi Radio and Television University in China in 1992 with a postgraduate
degree in English. In 1998, he graduated from Shanxi Jiaotong University in China
with a master’s degree in Industrial Management. Mr. Zhang has over 30 years of
experience in manufacturing and operations in the pharmaceutical industry.
Mr. Zhang served as the General Manager of Hangzhou Innovax Biotech Co., Ltd
from November 2021 to April 2022. He served as the Head of Industry Affairs
China at Sanofi from January 2002 to November 2021 and was responsible for
seven plants across China. He has extensive experience in technical transfer and
new product launches. Prior to that, he served as the Head of Manufacturing at
Xian Janssen Pharmaceutical Ltd. from February 1988 to February 2002.

Independent non-executive Directors

Dr. Lu Chuan (#)1]), aged 54, is our independent non-executive Director. Dr. Lu
joined the Company and was appointed as an independent Director in December
2019. Dr. Lu has been serving as a vice president of Xingye Alloy Material Group
Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange,
stock code: 505) since October 2019.

Dr. Lu served as an assistant engineer of Nanjing Jinling Shipyard Company Limited
from August 1991 to August 1994. From July 1997 to August 2005, Dr. Lu worked
at Shenzhen Nonferrous Metals Finance Co., Ltd. as a research fellow of the
investment bank department. From August 2005 to November 2018, Dr. Lu worked
as a managing director assistant and deputy general manager of Yinjian
International Industrial Co., Ltd. Dr. Lu served as a director of Shenzhen
Zhonggingbao Interactive Network Co., Ltd. (A share stock code on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange: 300052) from April 2008 to April 2012, a non-executive director
of China Geothermal Industry Development Group Limited (a company listed on the
Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, stock code: 8128) from September
2008 to March 2009, a non-executive director of E-Commodities Holdings Limited
(a company listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, stock
code: 1733) from June 2010 to July 2016, and director of Ningxia West King Liquor
Co., Ltd. from October 2011 to February 2014.

Dr. Lu graduated from Wuhan University of Technology in China with a bachelor’s
degree in naval mechanical engineering in July 1991, graduated from Huazhong
University of Science and Technology in China with a master’s degree in business
management in May 1997 and a doctorate in management in December 2006.
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Mr. Huang Peng (=1§), aged 74, is our independent non-executive Director. He
was born in 1949, is a Chinese national. He obtained a Ph.D. in Management from
Northwestern Polytechnical University in China in 2003. He obtained a master’s
degree in Economics from Fudan University in China in 1995 and a bachelor’s
degree in Economic Management from Nanjing University in China in 1985. He is a
professor of accounting. Since September 1988, he has been working as an
associate professor, professor, department head of accounting, and doctoral
supervisor of finance and taxation at Suzhou University in China, and is currently
the dean of the Institute of Entrepreneurship for New Era (¥R DK M50 at
Suzhou University in China. He was an independent director of Jiangsu Asian Star
Anchor Chain Co., Ltd. (SHA: 601890) from May 2022 to May 2023 and Jiangsu
Jujie Microfiber Technology Group Co., Ltd. (SHE: 300819) from July 2020 to
August 2023. He is also an independent director of the following companies listed
on the Shanghai Stock Exchange or the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, namely Suzhou
Wanxiang Technology Co., Ltd. (SHE: 301180) and Suzhou Kelida Building &
Decoration Co., Ltd. (SHA: 603828). Mr. Huang has obtained a qualification
certificate as an independent director recognized by the China Securities Regulatory
Commission of the PRC.

Mr. Yi Ming (5 ##), aged 46, is our independent non-executive Director. He was
born in 1977, is a Chinese national. He obtained a Master’s degree in Finance from
ISMA Centre, Henley Business School, University of Reading in the United Kingdom
in July 2002 and an EMBA master’s degree from Guanghua School of Management,
Peking University in China in June 2014. He served as Senior Manager of the
Investment Banking Department and General Manager of the Investment
Department of China Cinda (Hong Kong) Asset Management Company from March
2003 to December 2012. He was the Managing Partner of Zeal (Asia) Asset
Management Company from June 2013 to June 2018. He is the Chief Financial
Officer of Asia Pacific Aviation Leasing Group Ltd. from October 2018 to the
present.
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SUPERVISORS

Mr. Zheng Zehui (¥52}%), aged 54, is the chairman of our Supervisory Committee.
Mr. Zheng has also been serving as the general manager of URIT Medical Electronic
Sales Co., Ltd. from October 2006 to June 2021. Mr. Zheng graduated from Wuhan
University in China with a bachelor’s degree in biochemistry in July 1992 and
graduated from China Europe International Business School in China with a
master’s degree in business administration in October 2011.

Ms. Tang Haijun (f£/819), aged 45, is a Supervisor and the manager of the GXP
document control department of our Company. Ms. Tang joined the Company in
February 2001 and was appointed as our Supervisor in December 2007.

Ms. Tang graduated from Sun Yat-sen University in China with a bachelor’s degree
in administrative management in July 2014,

Ms. Su Jilan (8842 %), aged 44, is an employee Supervisor of our Company. Ms. Su
joined the Company in February 2004 and was appointed as our employee
Supervisor in December 2007. Ms. Su served as the deputy manager of the quality
inspection department of our Company from April 2014 to June 2021. She has
been the Inspection Module Manager of our Quality Control Department since June
2021.

Ms. Su graduated from Xi'an Jiaotong University in China with a bachelor of
science degree in pharmacy in July 2001. Ms. Su obtained the qualification of
assistant engineer from the Department of Human Resources of Shaanxi Province in
August 2002.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Shan Yu (¥5), aged 63, is our executive Director and general manager. For
the biography of Mr. Shan, please refer to “— Directors — Executive Directors” of
this section.

Ms. Li Tan (Z3H), aged 59, is our executive Director, co-founder and deputy
general manager. For the biography of Ms. Li, please refer to “— Directors —
Executive Directors” of this section.
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Save as disclosed above, none of our Directors, Supervisors and members of senior
management is related to other Directors, Supervisors and members of the senior
management.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. Qian Fengqi (§83), aged 38, the Secretary to the Board and one of the
joint company secretaries of the Company, is experienced in capital market research
and investment matters, in particular in the healthcare industry in the PRC.
Mr. Qian served as a research analyst at Bosera Fund Management from July 2008
to March 2010, a senior research analyst at Goldman Sachs Group (China) from
August 2010 to August 2013, and a fund manager of Norges Bank, which manages
the assets of the sovereign wealth fund of Norway, from September 2013 to April
2016, each with a focus on investments in listed securities of PRC-based healthcare
companies. Mr. Qian also served as a managing director of Lingfeng Capital
Management Co., Ltd. ({RREREIRHERR A, a private equity fund with a focus
on the fintech sector in the PRC, from January 2017 to August 2019 and from
November 2020 to August 2021, and the head of Strategic Investment Department
of We Doctor Group (Zhejiang) Co., Ltd. (B &£ B (#/L)H R A7), a digital medical
service provider in the PRC, from August 2019 to November 2020. Mr. Qian
graduated from Fudan University with a bachelor of economics (specialising in
finance) degree in July 2008. Mr. Qian obtained the board secretary certificate
granted by the Shenzhen Stock Exchange in September 2021.

Ms. Chan Sze Ting (FR:5/Z) is a Joint Company Secretary. Ms. Chan currently
serves as a director of corporate services of Tricor Services Limited, a global
professional services provider specializing in integrated business, corporate and
investor services. Ms. Chan has over 18 years of experience in the corporate
secretarial field. She has been providing professional corporate services to multiple
Hong Kong listed companies. Ms. Chan is a Chartered Secretary, a Chartered
Governance Professional and a Fellow of both The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute in the United
Kingdom. Ms. Chan holds a bachelor of laws degree from the University of London.
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Directors’ Report

The Board presents this annual report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the Reporting Period.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is a joint stock limited company incorporated under the laws of the
PRC, the predecessor of which, Shenzhen Hepalink Industrial Development
Company Limited (FRYITEE IR EEEREBRAR)
of the PRC on April 21, 1998. The Company completed its initial public offering
and listing of its A Shares on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 002399)
on May 6, 2010. The Company completed its initial public offering and listing of its

, was established under the laws

H Shares on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, (stock code: HK
9989) on July 8, 2020 (the “Listing Date”). The Group is a leading China-based
pharmaceutical company with global pharmaceutical, innovative biotech and
CDMO businesses.

The activities and particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are shown
under note 1 to the consolidated financial statements. An analysis of the Group's
revenue and operating profit for the year ended December 31, 2023 by principal
activities is set out in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” in
this annual report and note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group's business during the year ended December 31, 2023, which
includes a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group, an
analysis of the Group’s performance using financial key performance indicators,
particulars of important events affecting the Group during the year ended
December 31, 2023, and an indication of likely future developments in the Group's
business, could be found in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”,
“Management Discussion and Analysis” and “Corporate Governance Report” in
this annual report. The review and discussion form part of this Directors’ report. An
account of the Company’s key relationships with its employees, customers,
suppliers and others that have a significant impact on the Company is set out in the
environmental, social and governance report of the Company for the Reporting
Period to be published in due course.
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RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The audited consolidated results of the Group for the Reporting Period are set out
on pages 96 to 97 of this annual report.

The Board has resolved not to declare a final dividend for the year ended 31
December 2023 (2022: RMB1.0 per ten ordinary shares).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the last
five financial years is set out on page 5 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group during
the Reporting Period are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements
on pages 184 to 186 of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is highly aware of the importance of environment protection and has
not noted any material in compliance with all relevant laws and regulations in
relation to its business including environmental protection, health and safety,
workplace conditions, employment and the environment.

The Group has established detailed internal rules regarding environmental
protection, in particular, the discharge of air, water and solid waste and noise
control. During the year ended December 31, 2023, we did not incur any additional
costs specifically attributable to environmental compliance.

Further details of the Group’s environmental policies and performance will be
disclosed in the environmental, social and governance report of the Company for
the Reporting Period to be published at the same time as the annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the Reporting
Period are set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements on pages 227
of this annual report.
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Directors’ Report

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements therein for the current
and prior years are presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on
pages 100 to 101 of this annual report. Details of the movement in the reserves of
the Company during the Reporting Period is set out in note 36 to the consolidated
financial statements on pages 228 of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at December 31, 2023, the Company's distributable reserves, calculated in
accordance with PRC rules and regulation, were RMB913 million.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company’s listed securities during the Reporting Period.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association, or
the laws of the PRC, which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a
pro-rata basis to its existing Shareholders.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE H SHARE LISTING OF
THE COMPANY

The H shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange on July 8, 2020 (the “Listing Date”), and the Company obtained
net proceeds from such H shares offering (the “Net Proceeds”) of RMB3,538.4
million. According to the plan on use of Net Proceeds as set out in the prospectus
dated June 24, 2020 of the Company (the “Prospectus”), approximately 30% of
the Net Proceeds (or approximately RMB1,061.5 million) is intended to be used for
improving capital structure and repaying the existing debt; approximately 30% of
the Net Proceeds (or approximately RMB1,061.5 million) is intended to be used for
expansion of the sales and marketing network and infrastructure in the European
Union and other global markets, such as the PRC; approximately 20% of the Net
Proceeds (or approximately RMB707.7 million) is intended to be used for expanding
our development and manufacturing capacity and broadening our product and
services offering of Cytovance; and approximately 20% of the Net Proceeds (or
approximately RMB707.7 million) is intended to be used for investment in
innovative drugs.
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As disclosed in the announcement (the “Announcement”) of the Company dated
November 20, 2023, the remaining balance of unutilized Net Proceeds amounted
to RMB861.9 million, and the Group announced a change in use of Net Proceeds,
under which part of the unutilized balance of the Net Proceeds will be utilized in
accordance with among others, the business needs of the Group and the market
conditions, which has been approved by the shareholders of the Company at the
extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on December 15, 2023. As at
December 31, 2023, the unutilized Net Proceeds amounted to RMB704.3 million.
Details are set out in the following table:

Unutilized Net Utilized for
Proceeds as at the year ended
Business objectives December 31,2022 December 31, 2023

RZB=Z# HE-B-=F

+ZA=+-H TZA=t-H

£%EE ABARERE LEEEBA
(RMB million) (RMB million)

(NREBEET) (ANREBBEET)
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EREREFENRSR - Bt R (EHPEE)
AEENEBRELRTAMBBAID REH
FIEREFENRE  YERERAATRZ
To=F+-_A+ABRFANBERRERS L
BEANRRENE BEZT=-_=F+=A
=+—H RBAMSHKIEFEAARKET04.3
BET - FBEHANTE:

Unutilized Net Revised
Proceeds allocation of Unutilized Net
as at the date of unutilized Proceeds as at
the Announcement Net Proceeds December 31, 2023
REAE ABARE R-B==%
BENRER REFEN +ZR=+-H
FBHRERE BEIIE RBARGRETFE
(RMB million) (RMB million) (RMB million)

(ARBEERL) (AR%BERL) (AR%EBEET)

(1) Improving capital structure and (1) HEBAZEER - -

repaying the existing debt EERAER
(2) Expansion of the sales and Q) EBBREMZR 611.3 506.0 152.0 5289 4822
marketing network and s (I El) R
infrastructure in the European HERBHER
Union and other global markets, PYSES R RE N
such as the PRC; in expanding EERERAE
production scale and organization, ~ EIAEERH
increasing procurement and FELRHE
reserves of production resources
(3) Expanding our development and (3) A HFIHIFE R 4493 217.0 3432 203.0 92.1
manufacturing capacity and EERD TEXR
broadening our product and BMmEEED
services offering of Cytovance R E M R
(4) Investment in innovative drugs  (4) Bl EMRE 376.2 95 366.7 80.0 80.0
(5) General working capital of the ~ (5) ALEM—KEE 666.3 666.3 - 50.0 50.0
Company or, subject to permission ~ E4 8 (R EZER
under the PRC laws and ERAITOEAT)
regulations, the balance to be BESRFARESR
placed with PRC financial REEREEER
institutions as short-term deposits
Total: @t 2,103.1 1,398.8 861.9 861.9 704.3
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Directors’ Report

The Net Proceeds have been and will be utilized in the manner consistent with that
previously disclosed in the Prospectus and the Announcement, and the remaining
unutilized Net Proceeds as at December 31, 2023 were placed with PRC financial
institutions as short-term deposits. The Group expects to fully utilize the remaining
Net Proceeds on or before November 30, 2025.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this Directors’
Report are as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Li Li (Chairman)

Ms. Li Tan (Deputy General Manager)
Mr. Shan Yu (General Manager)
Mr. Zhang Ping (appointed on May 22, 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Dr. Lu Chuan

Mr. Chen Junfa (retired on May 22, 2023)

Mr. Wang Zhaohui (retired on May 22, 2023)
Mr. Huang Peng (appointed on May 22, 2023)
Mr. Yi Ming (appointed on May 22, 2023)

SUPERVISORS

The Supervisors during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this Directors’
Report are as follows:

Mr. Zheng Zehui (Chairman)
Ms. Tang Haijun
Ms. Su Jilan (Employee Supervisor)

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS, THE
SUPERVISORS AND THE SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors, the Supervisors and the senior management of
the Group as at the date of this annual report are set out on pages 28 to 33 in the
section headed “Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management” of this annual
report.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

Mr. Li Li, Ms. Li Tan and Mr. Shan Yu, as executive Directors, each renewed the
service contract with the Company for a term of three years starting from May 22,
2023. Mr. Zhang Ping was appointed as an executive Director on May 22, 2023
and entered into a service contract with the Company for a term of three years
starting from May 22, 2023.

Dr. Lu Chuan, as an independent non-executive Director, renewed the service
contract with the Company for a term of three years starting from May 22, 2023.

Each of Mr. Huang Peng and Mr. Yi Ming was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on May 22, 2023 and entered into a service contract with
the Company for a term of three years starting from May 22, 2023 respectively.

Mr. Zheng Zehui, Ms. Tang Haijun and Ms. Su Jilan, as Supervisors, each renewed
the service contract with the Company for a term of three years starting from
May 22, 2023.

The appointments of the Directors and Supervisors are subject to the re-election
upon expiry of their term of office according to the Articles of Association.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or Supervisors has entered into any
service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries (excluding contracts
expiring or determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation).

CONTRACT WITH CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

No contract of significance was entered into between the Company or any of its
subsidiaries and the controlling shareholders or any of its subsidiaries during the
Reporting Period or subsisted at December 31, 2023 and no contract of significance
for the provision of services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by a
Controlling Shareholders or any of its subsidiaries was entered into during the
Reporting Period or subsisted at December 31, 2023.

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No transaction, arrangement and contract of significance to the business of the
Group which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a
Director/Supervisor or any entity connected with such a Director/Supervisor had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at December 31, 2023 or
at any time during the Reporting Period.
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COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The remuneration of Directors, Supervisors and senior management is determined
with reference to factors including the salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities of the Directors, Supervisors and senior
management, employment conditions of other positions in our Company and the
desirability of performance-based remuneration.

Details of the Directors’ emoluments and emoluments of the five highest paid
individuals in the Group are set out in notes 10 and 11 to the consolidated financial
statements on pages 176 to 179 of this annual report.

For the Reporting Period, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any Director,
Supervisors or any of the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. None of the Directors
or Supervisors has waived any emoluments for the year ended December 31, 2023.

Except as disclosed above, no other payments have been made or are payable, for
the year ended December 31, 2023, by our Group to or on behalf of any of the
Directors.

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ INTERESTS IN
COMPETING BUSINESS

During the period from the Listing Date to December 31, 2023, none of the
Directors and Supervisors or their respective close associates (as defined in the
Listing Rules) had any interest in a business that competed or was likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group, other than being a
Director of the Company and/or its subsidiaries.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS
PURSUANT TO THE LISTING RULES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company does not have any other
disclosure obligations under Rules 13.20, 13.21 and 13.22 of the Listing of
Securities on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).
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NON-COMPETITION ARRANGEMENTS

Each of the Controlling Shareholders provided certain non-competition
undertakings in favor of the Company. Details of the non-competition agreements
are set out in the section headed “Relationship with the Controlling Shareholders
— Competition” in the Prospectus.

The Controlling Shareholders confirmed that they have complied with the non-
competition undertakings for the Reporting Period. The independent non-executive
Directors have conducted such review for the Reporting Period and also reviewed
the relevant undertakings and are satisfied that the non-competition undertakings
have been fully complied with.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than the Directors’ and Supervisors’ service contracts and appointment
letters, no contract concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Group was entered into or in
existence as at December 31, 2023 or at any time during the Reporting Period.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

During the Reporting Period, save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company
has not entered into any equity-linked agreement.

MATERIAL LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Group was not involved in any material legal proceeding during the Reporting
Period.

LOAN AND GUARANTEE

During the Reporting Period, the Group had not made any loan or provided any
guarantee for loan, directly or indirectly, to the Directors, Supervisors and senior
management of the Company, the controlling shareholders of the Company (if any)
or their respective connected persons.
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SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEMES

The valid share incentive schemes of the Group as of the date of this report are as

follows.

Share Incentive Scheme Il (“Scheme 11”) and the Share

Incentive Scheme lll
The Company adopted the Share Incentive Scheme Il (“Scheme I1”) and the Share

Incentive Scheme Il (“Scheme Ill”, and together with Scheme I, the “Schemes”)
in November 2016 and December 2018, respectively. The following is a summary of

the principal terms of the Schemes:

(a)

(b)

Purpose

The purpose of the Schemes is to promote the success and enhance the value
of the Company by linking the personal interests of the employees to those
of the Shareholders. It is intended to provide flexibility to the Company in its
ability to motivate, attract and retain the services of the employees upon
whose judgment, interest and special effort the successful conduct of the
Company’s operation is largely dependent.

Scope of Participants

The participants of Scheme Il are our Directors (excluding our independent
Directors and external Directors), Supervisors (excluding our external
supervisors), senior management and core staff members of the Company
and its subsidiaries.

The participants of Scheme Il are employees of the Company and its
subsidiaries (excluding our Directors, Supervisors and senior management).
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(c)

(d)

(e)

Term of the Schemes

Scheme Il was effective for an initial period of 36 months from December 12,
2016 to December 11, 2019. Scheme lll is effective for a period of 24 months
from December 28, 2018 to December 27, 2020. Within two months prior to
the expiration of the respective term of each Scheme, with the approval of
more than two-thirds of the votes of holders of the interests under relevant
Scheme (the “Holders”), who attend the Holders’ meeting, and subject to
the approval of the Board, the term of the relevant Schemes may be
extended, provided that each extension shall not exceed 12 months. Each
Scheme may be terminated upon expiry of the respective lock-up period as
detailed below when all the assets underlying such Scheme become monetary
assets. On December 6, 2019, the Company, with the Board's approval,
extended the term of Scheme Il for 12 months, up to December 11, 2020.
On December 4, 2020, the Company, with the Board's approval, further
extended the term of Scheme Il for 12 months, up to December 11, 2021,
and extended the term of Scheme Ill for 12 months, up to December 27,
2021. Accordingly, as at the date of this report, there is no further shares
available for grant under each of the Schemes. During the year ended
December 31, 2023, there was also no grant of Shares under the Schemes.

Source of Shares under the Schemes

The Shares underlying the Schemes shall be A Shares purchased from the
secondary market through bidding, block trade, share transfer or other
methods in compliance with the applicable laws and regulations.

Maximum Number of Shares

All the Shares underlying Scheme Il had been purchased as of March 9, 2017.
As of the date of this report, the total number of Shares underlying Scheme
Ilis 15,118,035 A Shares, accounting for approximately 1.03% of the total
outstanding share capital of the Company.

All the Shares underlying Scheme Il had been purchased as of February 1,
2019. The total number of Shares underlying Scheme Il is 3,886,264 A
Shares, accounting for approximately 0.26% of the total outstanding share
capital of the Company as of the date of this report.

The maximum number of Shares to be granted to an employee under each
Scheme shall not exceed 1% of the total outstanding share capital of the
Company.

(c)

(d)

(e)
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(7)

(9)

(h)

Directors’ Report
EEGHE

Administration of the Schemes

The Holders’ meeting is the highest management authority of the Schemes.
A management committee has been set up to oversee the daily management
of respective Scheme.

For Scheme I, the management committee has appointed Guolian Securities
Co., Ltd. to establish a single customer assets management plan. Guolian
Securities Co., Ltd. is responsible for the management of the assets
underlying Scheme I, including purchasing and holding the Shares and cash
under Scheme II.

For Scheme Ill, the management committee has appointed CMS Asset
Management Co., Ltd. to establish a single customer assets management
plan. CMS Asset Management Co., Ltd. is responsible for the management
of the assets underlying Scheme Ill, including purchasing and holding the
Shares and cash under Scheme III.

Source of Funds to be Used to Purchase the Shares
under the Schemes

The source of funds for the Schemes consists of (i) the funds raised by the
participants and (ii) loans provided by the Controlling Shareholders.

The maximum amount of the funds to be raised for Scheme Il and Scheme IlI
shall not exceed RMB400 million and RMB87 million, respectively. The
Holders shall pay the subscription amount before the establishment of the
relevant single customer asset management plan.

The purchase price of each Share granted under the Scheme was RMB20.34.

Lock-up Period

The first lock-up period lasted until March 10, 2018. The Shares underlying
Scheme Il are not subject to lock-up and have been fully unlocked on June
11, 2019. As of the date of this report, 15,118,035 A Shares remain unsold.

The lock-up period for the Shares underlying Scheme Ill is from February 2,
2019 to February 1, 2020, being a period of 12 months commencing from
the date of publication of the announcement in respect of the transfer of the
last batch of Shares to the relevant single customer asset management plan.

There is no vesting period in relation to Shares granted under the Schemes.
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(i) Rights of the Holders

The Holders of each Scheme are entitled to the following rights:

()

(k)

(M

to share the interests of the assets underlying the Scheme in proportion
to his holding in the Scheme;

to attend the general meeting of Holders in person or by proxy, and to
exercise the corresponding voting rights;

to supervise the administration of the Scheme, and to make
suggestions or inquiries as applicable;

to waive the voting rights attached to the underlying Shares of the
Company he holds indirectly through the Scheme; and

to exercise other rights stipulated by laws, administrative regulations,
or the terms of the Scheme.

Obligations of the Holders

The Holders of each Scheme have the following obligations:

(M

to assume the risks associated with the Scheme in proportion to his
holding in the Scheme;

to comply with the provisions of the Rules Governing Employee Share
Scheme;

not to request the Company to distribute the assets underlying the
Scheme during the term of the Scheme; and

to assume the obligations provided by applicable laws, administrative
regulations and other obligations stipulated under the terms of the
Scheme.

Transfer of Holders’ Interests

During the term of the respective Scheme, no Holder shall in any way

transfer, withdraw, charge or mortgage his holding interests in the Scheme

or use such interests to guarantee or repay debts except for unusual

circumstances as provided under the terms of the relevant Scheme.

(i)

1

(k)
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Distribution of Interests under the Schemes

Upon the expiry of the respective lock-up period of each Scheme, the
liquidation of the Schemes shall be completed within fifteen business days
upon the sale of all the Shares underlying the Schemes. The proceeds from
the sale of all the Shares underlying the Schemes shall be distributed in the
following order:

(1) to repay the loans provided by the Shareholders for the Schemes and
the associated interests;

(2)  to repay the funds contributed by the employee and the associated
return based on the performance of the employee in accordance with
the terms of the Schemes; and

(3)  the remaining proceeds (if any) shall be distributed among the Holders
in proportion to their interest in the Schemes.

OncoVent Share Option Scheme
The following is a summary of the principal terms of the OncoVent Share Option

Scheme, the share option scheme adopted by our subsidiary, Shenzhen OncoVent

Biomedical Technology Co., Ltd. (“OncoVent"”), in June 2018. OncoVent did not
constitute a principal subsidiary (as defined under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules)

of the Company as at the date of this report, and it is accordingly not subject to

the provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

(a)

(b)

(c)

Purpose

The purpose of the OncoVent Share Option Scheme is to promote the
long-term success of OncoVent and the interests of its shareholders and
employees by providing a means through which OncoVent may grant equity-
based incentives to motivate, attract and retain the services of its employees
upon whose judgment, interest and special effort the successful conduct of
OncoVent's operation is largely dependent.

Scope of Participants

Those eligible to participate in the OncoVent Share Option Scheme include
the employees of OncoVent who meet the performance targets.

Administration of the Scheme

The OncoVent Share Option Scheme is administered by the board of directors
of OncoVent (the “Administrator”). Pursuant to the OncoVent Share Option
Scheme, the Administrator may, from time to time, select from eligible
persons to whom awards in the form of options in OncoVent shares (the
“OncoVent Options”) will be granted.
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(d) Maximum Number of Shares

(e)

(7)

The maximum number of shares which may be granted under the OncoVent
Share Option Scheme shall not exceed 10% of the total enlarged share
capital of OncoVent taking into account the shares to be issued upon the
exercise of the options.

Term of OncoVent Share Option Scheme

OncoVent Options granted at each stage is valid for a period of four years.
Grantees are subject to a lock-up period of one year commencing from the
grant date.

Exercise of OncoVent Options

The grantees may exercise the OncoVent Options within ten business days
upon expiry of the lock-up period in accordance with the terms of grant
letters. When OncoVent is listed or sold, the participants may realise the
benefit of share options based on the stock circulation rules at the listing
place or the value of OncoVent at the time of sale. The participant may
choose to convert the option into actual investment to OncoVent.

The exercise price per OncoVent share underlying the OncoVent Options shall
be determined by the Administrator with reference to the fair value of
OncoVent. If OncoVent carries out financing transactions within the
preceding twelve months, the fair value shall be determined with reference
to the valuation of OncoVent for the purpose of such financing transactions.
If no financing transaction is carried out during such twelve months’ period,
the fair value shall be determined by the Administrator.
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Outstanding OncoVent Options Granted

The proposal to grant the OncoVent Options under the OncoVent Share Option
Scheme as set out above has been approved by the boards of OncoVent and the
Company. OncoVent proposes to grant OncoVent Options representing 4% of the
enlarged share capital of OncoVent to one participant (namely Mr. Shi Yuenian
(“Mr. Shi”), who acts as the CEO of OncoVent), provided that the participant
reaches the agreed milestones. Mr. Shi will be granted OncoVent Options
representing 2%, 1% and 1% of the enlarged share capital of OncoVent when the
first, second and third milestone is reached, respectively.

Milestones Conditions
BEe 16k 44
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The first milestone

£ —{ARZ® S2EERBHBENSHER

The second milestone

The participant signs employment contract with OncoVent

OncoVent new pharmaceutical varieties obtains permission to carry out

Phase Il clinical trials from Chinese pharmaceutical regulatory authorities

E_(EBREM

The third milestone

£ T B Bh h MR S 1S o B 4 o R R AP PI AL B R RINER EG IR & 8

New pharmaceutical varieties obtain permission to sell in the market from

Chinese pharmaceutical regulatory authorities

E={ARE™

The grant date is within one month when each milestone is reached. 40%, 30%
and 30% of the OncoVent Options granted will vest in each of the three years
following the expiry of the one-year lock-up period. When and only when
OncoVent is listed or sold, the grantee can choose to exercise OncoVent Options.
As of December 31, 2020 and the date of this report, the conditions for the first
milestone has been met and the conditions for the remaining milestones have yet
to be met. The exercise price, corresponding to the fair value of the OncoVent
Options granted to Mr. Shi upon the fulfillment of the first milestone, was
approximately RMB1,271,000.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF DIRECTORS,
SUPERVISORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE
COMPANY OR ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As of December 31, 2023, interests or short positions of Directors, Supervisors and

chief executive of the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of
the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the

SFO), which are registered in the register that the Company must keep in

accordance with the section 352 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance; or which
shall be separately notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed

Issuers set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”), are as

follows:

Interests of Directors in the Shares or Underlying Shares of

the Company

Number and class
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Approximate
Percentage of
shareholding
in the relevant

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding in

of Shares class of the total Shares
Name of Director Nature of Interest interested in Shares** in issue***
HEERERWN LEREER HEBITRG
RHBEA R 17 B9 4 49 BE LD
= Rty R BRE D BFRE D **
Mr. Li Li®” Interest in a controlled corporation; 922,391,179 Shares 73.96%(L)* 62.86%(L)*
interest of a spouse A Shares(L)*
FBEED R EEER BB 922,391,1795% 73.96%(L)* 62.86%(L)*
AR(L)*
Ms. Li Tan® Interest in a controlled corporation; 922,391,179 Shares 73.96%(L)* 62.86%(L)*
interest of a spouse A Shares(L)*
PR O REEAEER  ILBER 922,391,1798% 73.96%(L)* 62.86%(L)*
ARR(L)*
Mr. Shan Yu®@ Interest in a controlled corporation; 52,302,892 Shares 4.19%(L)* 3.56%(L)*
beneficial owner A Shares(L)*
EFHEEY REEEER  EnlEEA 52,302,892 % 4.19%(L)* 3.56%(L)*

ARZ(L)*
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“L" means holding a long position in Shares.

Refers to the percentage of the number of relevant class of Shares involved divided by the
number of Shares in issue of the relevant class of Shares of the Company as at the December
31, 2023.

Refers to the percentage of the number of relevant class of Shares involved divided by the
number of all Shares in issue of the Company as at the December 31, 2023.

These Shares include: (i) 474,029,899 A Shares held by Shenzhen Leren Technology Co., Ltd.
("Leren Technology”); (ii) 408,041,280 A Shares held by Xiamen Jintiantu Investment
Partnership (Limited Partnership) (“Jintiantu”); and (iii) 40,320,000 A Shares held by Xiamen
Feilashi Investment Co., Ltd. (“Feilashi”).

For Leren Technology’s issued share capital, Mr. Li Li holds 99% and Ms. Li Tan holds 1%; for
Jintiantu’s issued share capital, Mr. Li Li holds 1% (as a limited partner) and Ms. Li Tan holds
99% as a general partner; and Feilaishi is wholly-owned and controlled by Mr. Li Li. Since Leren
Technology, Jintiantu and Feilaishi beneficially own a total of 922,391,179 A Shares in the
Company, and Mr. Li Li and Ms. Li Tan are spouses, Mr. Li Li and Ms. Li Tan are deemed to be
interested in 922,391,179 A Shares beneficially held by Leren Technology, Jintiantu and
Feilaishi according to Part XV of the SFO.

Mr. Shan Yu holds 99% of equity interests in Xiamen Shuidi Shichuan Investment Partnership
(Limited Partnership) (“Shuidi Shichuan”). Thus, he is deemed to be interested in 46,425,600
A Shares held by Shuidi Shichuan. In addition, Mr. Shan also participated in Scheme Il and has
a 38.88% interest in 15,118,035 A Shares held by the asset manager for the benefit of the
participants of the Scheme II.
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Interest in shares or underlying shares of the associated
corporation of the Company

A 7] AR B A B B9 IR 42 AR B IR
10 R B R

Percentage of the

Name of issued share capital
Associated Nature of Number of of the associated
Name of Director Corporation Interest  Shares interested corporation
1A EE B
BEEREZHN EBITRE
EEpnE TR LR BB EEME RO HE ERN
Mr. Li Li® HighTide Therapeutics, Inc. Interestina 121,515,210 Shares 23.61% (L)*
controlled  Ordinary Shares (L)*
corporation
AN EXEED S A B 121,515,210/% 23.61% (L)*
R
Ms. Li Tan® HighTide Therapeutics, Inc. Interest of a spouse 121,515,210 Shares 23.61% (L)*
Ordinary Shares(L)*
TR O BERED B e 121,515,2100% 23.61% (L)*

SHENZHEN HEPALINK PHARMACEUTICAL GROUP CO., LTD. & ¥IITh /& & i E % S B R 1H AR 2 A

L 5m AR (L) *



“L" means holding a long position in Shares; “S” means holding a short position in Shares.

HighTide Therapeutics, Inc. (“HighTide") is an associated corporation of the Company, in
which Mr. Li Li is interested in 23.61% of the total issued share capital of HighTide.

For Leren Technology's issued share capital, Mr. Li Li holds 99% and Ms. Li Tan holds 1%;
Feilaishi is wholly-owned and controlled by Mr. Li Li; and for the Company’s issued share
capital, Mr. Li Li holds 62.9%. Since Leren Technology, Feilaishi and the Company beneficially
own a total of 13,515,210 ordinary Shares in HighTide, Mr. Li Li and Ms. Li Tan are deemed to
be interested in 13,515,210 ordinary Shares beneficially held by Leren Technology, Feilaishi and
the Company according to Part XV of the SFO.

Hepalink Biotechnology Il Limited is wholly owned by Hepalink Healthcare Partners | L.P, which
is wholly owned by Hepalink (Hong Kong) Limited. Hepalink (Hong Kong) Limited is wholly
owned by the Company. As the aforesaid companies are beneficially interested in a total of
108,000,000 ordinary Shares in HighTide, Mr. Li Li and Ms. Li Tan are deemed to be interested
in 108,000,000 ordinary Shares beneficially held by them according to Part XV of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, so far as the Directors are aware, as at the December 31,

2023,

none of our Directors, Supervisors or chief executives of the Company has

any interest and/or short position in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures

of the Company or our associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of

the SFO) which will be required to be notified to the Company and the Hong Kong

Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including

interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have taken under

such provisions of the SFO) or which will be required, pursuant to section 352 of

the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, or which will be required,

pursuant to the Model Code to be notified to the Company and the Hong Kong

Stock Exchange.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN THE SHARES AND

UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

So far as the Directors or chief executive of the Company are aware, as at
December 31, 2023, the following persons (other than the Directors and chief
executive of the Company) had interests and/or short positions in the Shares or
underlying Shares which are required to be notified to the Company under
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or had interests or short positions in 5% or

more of the respective type of Shares which were recorded in the register required

to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO: 5% or more of the

respective type of Shares which were recorded in the register required to be kept

by the Company under section 336 of the SFO:

Name of Shareholder

IR R 2 &

Nature of Interest

st

Number and class
of Shares
interested in
BEREEN
R E B

REH

FTERRREAQTRG REEHE
BRONERR XD

HREEREARBDIETBRAERT RZF
=+ RA=+—8 TIHAL(XRRAE
EREBITHRABRIN) RRG SARRE D F
BERARBGEFRBERD)EXVEBE2RF
3N EMEAMEARNANEE R IKE
HRBCEF R E RN F336GARB AR
ENELCMALEZ &R BRN5%HIA LM

AL

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding
in the relevant

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding in

class of the total Shares
shares** in issue***

1L EBAE R HEBRTRG
BR 13 B B4 BEHEN
BRE D BRE D

Leren Technology™"®

T

Jintiantu®™

{ﬁEEj:H)

AVICT Global Holdings Limited®

AVICT Global Holdings Limited®

Morgan Stanley Investments (UK)®

Morgan Stanley Investments (UK)®

Beneficial owner

BHBEAA

Beneficial owner

Beneficial owner

BHEBEAA

Interest in controlled

corporation

RELEEEG

474,029,899 Shares
A Shares(L)*

474,029,8990%
ARZ(L)*

408,041,280 Shares
A Shares(L)*

408,041,280%
AR(L)*

12,629,500 Shares
H Shares(L)*

12,629,500/%
HAL(L)*

38,215,400 Shares
H Shares(L)*
38,215,400%
HA(L)*
100,000 Shares
H Shares(S)*
100,000%
HA(S)*
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38.01%(L)* 32.31%(L)*

38.01%(L)* 32.31%(L)*

32.72%(L)* 27.81%(L)*

32.72%(L)* 27.81%(L)*

5.74%(L)* 0.86%(L)*

5.74%(L)* 0.86%(L)*

17.36%(L)* 2.60%(L)*

17.36%(L)* 2.60%(L)*
0.04%(S)* 0.01%(S)*

0.04%(S)* 0.01%(S)*
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Approximate
percentage of
shareholding
in the relevant
class of
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Approximate
percentage of
shareholding in
the total Shares
in issue***
HEBTRS
BEHBR
BRE DL

Morgan Stanley International Limited®

Morgan Stanley International Limited®

Morgan Stanley International

Holdings Inc.®

Morgan Stanley International

Holdings Inc.®

Morgan Stanley & Co.

International plc®

Morgan Stanley & Co.

International plc®

Interest in controlled
corporation
ZEEEER

Interest in controlled
corporation
X B R

Underwriter

BiHA

38,215,400 Shares
H Shares(L)*
38,215,4000%
HAR(L)*
100,000 Shares
H Shares(S)*
100,000%
HA(S)*

38,215,400 Shares
H Shares(L)*
38,215,400/%
HA%(L)*
100,000 Shares
H Shares(S)*
100,000/
HA(S)*

38,215,400 Shares
H Shares(L)*
38,215,400/%
HA(L)*
100,000 Shares
H Shares(S)*
100,000f%
HA(S)*

17.36%(L)*

17.36%(L)*

0.04%(S)*

0.04%(S)*

17.36%(L)*

17.36%(L)*

0.04%(S)*

0.04%(S)*

17.36%(L)*

17.36%(L)*

0.04%(S)*

0.04%(S)*

2.60%(L)*

2.60%(L)*

0.01%(S)*

0.01%(S)*

2.60%(L)*

2.60%(L)*

0.01%(S)*

0.01%(S)*

2.60%(L)*

2.60%(L)*

0.01%(S)*

0.01%(S)*
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“L" means holding a long position in Shares; “S” means holding a short position in Shares.

Refers to the percentage of the number of relevant class of Shares involved divided by the
number of Shares in issue of the relevant class of Shares of the Company as at the December
31, 2023.

Refers to the percentage of the number of relevant class of Shares involved divided by the
number of all Shares in issue of the Company as at the December 31, 2023.

The above-mentioned interests of Leren Technology and Jintiantu have been disclosed as the
respective interests of Mr. Li Li and Ms. Li Tan in the section “Interests and short positions of
Directors, Supervisors and chief executives in Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations” above.

Pursuant to a stock pledge repurchase agreement, Leren Technology has pledged 43,600,000
A Shares held in the Company to Guotai Junan Securities Co. Ltd. on December 19, 2019.
Such stock pledge has all been released.

AVICT Global Holdings Limited is wholly-owned by Hangyuan Holdings Limited. Hangyuan
Holdings Limited is held as to 99.01% by Qingdao Zhongjian Xincheng Investment
Construction Co., Ltd., which is in turn held as to 96.77% by AVIC Trust Co., Ltd. Therefore,
each of Hangyuan Holdings Limited, Qingdao Zhongjian Xincheng Investment Construction
Co., Ltd. and AVIC Trust Co., Ltd. is deemed to be interested in the H Shares held by AVICT
Global Holdings Limited.

Morgan Stanley & Co. International plc. (“MS & Co. Intl PLC"), as an underwriter, holds a
long position in 38,215,400 H Shares (physical-settled unlisted derivative instruments) and a
short position in 100,000 H Shares issued by the Company (cash-settled unlisted derivative
instruments).

MS & Co. Intl PLC is a wholly controlled corporation of Morgan Stanley Investments (UK) (“MS
UK"), while MS UK is wholly controlled by Morgan Stanley International Limited (“MS Intl”),
and MS Intl is wholly controlled by Morgan Stanley International Holdings Inc. (“MS Intl HId").

Therefore, MS UK, MS Intl and MS Intl Hld are deemed to be interested in the H Shares held by
MS & Co. Intl PLC.

Morgan Stanley is a company listed on the New York Stock Exchange (stock code: MS). It is the
parent company of MS UK, MS Intl, MS Intl HId, and MS & Co. Intl PLC, and it is deemed to be
interested in the long position in 38,215,400 H Shares and short position in 100,000 H Shares
held by MS & Co. Intl PLC.

In addition, Morgan Stanley is also a parent company of Morgan Stanley Capital Management,
LLC. ("MS CM"), Morgan Stanley Domestic Holdings, Inc. (“MS DH") and Morgan Stanley &
Co. LLC ("MS & Co. LLC"), of which MS & Co. LLC beneficially holds a long position in
750,000 H Shares of the Company. MS & Co. LLC is a wholly controlled corporation of MS DH,
and MS DH is a wholly controlled corporation of MS CM. Therefore, Morgan Stanley, MS DH
and MS CM are deemed to be interested in the H Shares held by MS & Co. LLC.

Except as disclosed in this section, as far as the Directors are aware, as at December

31, 2023, no person owned interests and short positions in the Shares and

underlying Shares which shall be disclosed in accordance with Divisions 2 and 3 of

Part XV of the SFO, or interests or short positions in 5% or above of relevant class

of Shares that the Company must record in the register according to section 336 of
the SFO.
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ARRANGEMENTS FOR PURCHASE OF SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

None of the Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries has entered
into any arrangement at any time from the Listing Date to the date of this report,
so that the Directors would benefit from the purchase of Shares or debt securities
(including debentures) of the Company or any other body corporate.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

In the Reporting Period, the Group's largest customer accounted for 8.48% of the
Group's total revenue. The Group's five largest customers accounted for 31.31% of
the Group's total revenue.

In the Reporting Period, the Group’s largest supplier accounted for 6.05% of the
Group's total purchase. The Group's five largest suppliers accounted for 20.36% of
the Group's total purchase.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates (as defined under the Listing
Rules) or any Shareholders (which, to the knowledge of the Directors, owns more
than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) has any interest in the Group's five
largest suppliers or the Group's five largest customers.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION OF HOLDERS OF
LISTED SECURITIES

As at the date of this annual report, the Company is not aware of any tax relief or
exemption available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the
Company'’s securities.

In accordance with the Enterprise Income Tax Law of the People’s Republic of China
(i AR AFMBEDEFBETIE) and its implementation regulations which came into
effect on January 1, 2008, the Company is required to withhold and pay enterprise
income tax at the rate of 10% on behalf of the non-resident enterprise
Shareholders whose names appear on the register of members for H Shares when
distributing the cash dividends. Any H Shares not registered under the name of an
individual Shareholder, including HKSCC Nominees Limited, other nominees, agents
or trustees, or other organizations or groups, shall be deemed as Shares held by
non-resident enterprise Shareholders. Therefore, on this basis, enterprise income
tax shall be withheld from dividends payable to such Shareholders. If holders of H
Shares intend to change its Shareholder status, please enquire about the relevant
procedures with your agents or trustees. The Company will strictly comply with the
law or the requirements of the relevant government authority and withhold and
pay enterprise income tax on behalf of the relevant Shareholders based on the
register of members for H Shares as of the Record Date.
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If the individual holders of H Shares are Hong Kong or Macau residents or residents
of the countries which had an agreed tax rate of 10% for the cash dividends to
them with the PRC under the relevant tax agreement, the Company should
withhold and pay individual income tax on behalf of the relevant Shareholders at a
rate of 10%. Should the individual holders of H Shares be residents of the countries
which had an agreed tax rate of less than 10% with the PRC under the relevant tax
agreement, the Company shall withhold and pay individual income tax on behalf of
the relevant Shareholders at a rate of 10%. In that case, if the relevant individual
holders of H Shares wish to reclaim the extra amount withheld due to the
application of 10% tax rate, the Company can apply for the relevant agreed
preferential tax treatment provided that the relevant Shareholders submit the
evidence required by the notice of the tax agreement to Tricor Investor Services
Limited. The Company will assist with the tax refund after the approval of the
competent tax authority. Should the individual holders of H Shares be residents of
the countries which had an agreed tax rate of over 10% but less than 20% with
the PRC under the tax agreement, the Company shall withhold and pay the
individual income tax at the agreed actual rate in accordance with the relevant tax
agreement. In the case that the individual holders of H Shares are residents of the
countries which had an agreed tax rate of 20% with the PRC, or which has not
entered into any tax agreement with the PRC, or otherwise, the Company shall
withhold and pay the individual income tax at a rate of 20%.

HUMAN RESOURCES

The Group had 2,080 employees as at December 31, 2023. During the Reporting
Period, the total staff costs (including director’s emoluments) were approximately
RMB744.4 million (2022: approximately RMB774.4 million). The Group enters into
employment contracts with its employees to cover matters such as wages, benefits,
and grounds for termination.

Remuneration of the Group’s employees includes salary, bonus and allowance
elements. The compensation programs are designed to remunerate the employees
based on their performance, measured against specified objective criteria. We also
provide our employees with welfare benefits in accordance with applicable
regulations and our internal policies. We provide periodic training to our employees
in order to improve their quality, skills and knowledge, including introductory
training for new employees, technical training, professional and management
training and health and safety training, as well as extensive training to our sales
and marketing team. The Group also has in place incentive schemes for its
employees, the details of which are set out in the section headed “Share Incentive
Schemes”.
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are required to contribute a
certain percentage of their payroll to the retirement benefits schemes to fund the
benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to this retirement benefits
schemes is to make the specified contributions.

Details of the pension obligations of the Company are set out in note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group for the Reporting Period are
set out in note 41 to the consolidated financial statements contained herein.

The related party transactions disclosed in note 41 were not regarded as connected
transactions or were exempt from reporting, announcement and shareholders’
approval requirements under the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Board, as at the date of this annual report, the Company has
maintained the public float as required under the Listing Rules.

INDEMNITY OF DIRECTORS

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance) in relation to the director’s and officer’s liability insurance is currently in
force and was in force during the Reporting Period.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to ensuring high standards of corporate governance
and has adopted the code provisions set out in the Part 2 of the Corporate
Governance Code in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules (the “Corporate
Governance Code”). During the Reporting Period, the Company has complied
with all the applicable code provisions in the Corporate Governance Code.

In order to maintain high standards of corporate governance, the Board will
continuously review and monitor the Company’s corporate governance code.

Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the Company is set
out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 61 to 83 of this annual report.

DONATIONS

During the Reporting Period, the Company did not make donations.

AUDITOR

The H Shares were listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange on July 8, 2020, and
there has been no change in auditors of the Company since the Listing Date. The
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Reporting Period have been
audited by Ernst & Young, Certified Public Accountants.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

For the Reporting Period, the Company is in compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Company.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

There are certain key risks and uncertainties involved in our operations, some of
which are beyond our control:

o We are largely dependent on sales of our two products, enoxaparin sodium
injection and heparin sodium API;

o Failure to attain market acceptance among the medical community would
have a material adverse impact on our operations and profitability;

° The retail prices of certain of our products are subject to price control or
downward adjustment by the government authorities or other pricing
pressure;

o Sales of our enoxaparin sodium injection products depend on the
reimbursement policies of the governmental authorities and health insurers.
Failure to obtain or maintain adequate medical insurance coverage and
reimbursement for our pharmaceutical products could limit our ability to
market those products and decrease our ability to generate revenue;

o If our products are not manufactured to the necessary quality standards, it
could harm our business and reputation, and our revenue and profitability
could be adversely affected,

. If we suffer substantial disruption to any of our production sites or encounter
problems in manufacturing our products, our business and results of
operations could be adversely affected;

o Fluctuations in prices of our raw materials may have a material adverse effect
on us if we are not able to transfer the cost increase to our customers;
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o If we are unable to successfully complete clinical development, obtain
regulatory approval and commercialize our product candidates, or experience
significant delays in doing so, our business will be materially harmed,

o Our CDMO business is dependent on our customers’ spending on and
demand for outsourced biologics discovery, development and manufacturing.
A reduction in spending or demand could have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and
prospects;

o If we or parties on whom we rely fail to comply with the laws and regulations
related to, or maintain the necessary licenses for, the development,
production, sales and distribution of our products, our ability to conduct our
business could be materially impaired; and

o Goodwill comprises a substantial portion of our total assets; if we determine
our goodwill to be impaired, it would adversely affect our financial position.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Techdow Italy, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, was the unfortunate
victim of telecommunication fraud committed by a criminal syndicate, and the
Company has taken measures in order to minimize the impact of the Italy Incident
on the Company. The Company also established an independent third-party
investigation group to conduct a comprehensive investigation into the incident.
Please refer to the relevant announcements on the websites of the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange and the Company on January 15, 2024, January 30, 2024, March
15, 2024 and March 28, 2024 for the results and details of the investigation.

Saved as disclosed above, there were no important events affecting the Company

and its subsidiaries which occurred after December 31, 2023 and up to the date of
this Directors’ Report.

On behalf of the Board
Mr. Li Li
Chairman

Shenzhen, PRC, March 28, 2024
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board is pleased to present this corporate governance report for the Reporting
Period in this annual report (the “Corporate Governance Report”).

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board of the Company is committed to achieving good corporate governance
standards.

The Board believes that good corporate governance standards are essential in
providing a framework for the Company to safeguard the interests of shareholders,
enhance corporate value, formulate its business strategies and policies, and
enhance its transparency and accountability.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the principles as set
out in the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules.

The Board is of the view that throughout the whole Reporting Period, the Company
has complied with all the applicable code provisions as set out in the code
provisions set out in the Part 2 of the Corporate Governance Code in Appendix C1
to the Listing Rules (the “Corporate Governance Code”).

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has devised its own code of conduct for the trading of securities by
its directors, supervisors and members of senior management of the Group (who
are likely to possess inside information about the securities of the Company due to
their offices or employments in the Company or its subsidiaries) on terms that no
less exacting than the required standard set out in the Model Code. Having made
specific enquiry by the Company, all directors, supervisors and members of senior
management of the Group have confirmed that they have complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code from the Listing Date to the date of
this report. The Company continues and will continue to ensure the compliance
with the corresponding provisions set out in the Model Code.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company is headed by an effective Board which oversees the Group's
businesses, strategic decisions and performance and takes decisions objectively in
the best interests of the Company.

The Board should regularly review the contribution required from a Director to
perform his responsibilities to the Company, and whether the Director is spending
sufficient time and attention performing them.

Board Composition
During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report, the Board comprised

7 Directors, consisting of 4 executive Directors and 3 independent non-executive
Directors as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Li Li (Chairman)

Ms. Li Tan (Deputy General Manager)

Mr. Shan Yu (General Manager)

Mr. Zhang Ping (appointed on May 22, 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. Lu Chuan

Mr. Chen Junfa (retired on May 22, 2023)

Mr. Wang Zhaohui (retired on May 22, 2023)
Mr. Huang Peng (appointed on May 22, 2023)
Mr. Yi Ming (appointed on May 22, 2023)

The biographical information of the Directors are set out in the section headed
“Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management” of this annual report and the
relationships between the Directors are disclosed in the respective Director’s
biography.

Except for the relationships between the Directors set forth in the respective
Director’s biography under the section headed “Directors, Supervisors and Senior
Management”, the Directors do not have financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationships with one another.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Code provision C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive

should be separate and should not be performed by the same individual.

The Chairman and General Manager (equivalent to Chief Executive Officer) of the
Company are held by Mr. Li Li and Mr. Shan Yu respectively, thus we have complied
with Code provision C.2.1. The division of responsibilities between the Chairman
and the General Manager has been clearly established.
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Independent Non-executive Directors
During the Reporting Period, the Board at all times fulfilled the requirements of the

Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent
non-executive directors representing one-third of the board with one of whom
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each of the
independent non-executive Directors in respect of his/her independence in
accordance with the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Company is of the view that all independent non-executive Directors are
independent.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors
The non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) of the

Company are appointed for a specific term of three years and are eligible for re-
election upon expiry of their term of office in accordance with the Articles of
Association of the Company.

According to the Articles of Association of the Company, Directors shall be elected
or replaced at general meetings and their term of office shall be three years.
Directors are eligible for re-election upon expiry of their term of office. Without
violating the relevant laws, regulations and regulatory rules of the locality where
the Company’s shares are listed, a person newly appointed as director by the Board
to fill a temporary vacancy or to add to the quote of directors of the Board shall
serve until the next annual general meeting of the Company, at which time the said
person is eligible for re-election. All directors appointed to fill temporary vacancies
shall be elected by shareholders at the first shareholders’ general meeting following
their acceptance of appointment.

Responsibilities of the Directors
The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control of the Company

and is collectively responsible for directing and supervising the Company's affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and provides
direction to management by laying down strategies and overseeing their
implementation, monitors the Group's operational and financial performance, and
ensures that sound internal control and risk management systems are in place.

All Directors, including non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective
functioning.

The independent non-executive Directors are responsible for ensuring a high
standard of regulatory reporting of the Company and providing a balance in the
Board for bringing effective independent judgement on corporate actions and
operations.
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All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of the Company and
may, upon request, seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expenses, for discharging their duties to the
Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices held by them.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to policy matters,
strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management, material transactions
(in particular those that may involve conflict of interests), financial information,
appointment of directors and other significant operational matters of the Company.
Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the Board, directing and
coordinating the daily operation and management of the Company are delegated
to the management.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage on Directors’ and
officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal actions taken against Directors and senior
management arising out of corporate activities.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors
Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes in order to

effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure that their contribution to the
Board remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received formal, comprehensive and tailored
induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure appropriate
understanding of the business and operations of the Company and full awareness
of Director’s responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant
statutory requirements.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. Internally-facilitated briefings for
Directors would be arranged and reading material on relevant topics would be
provided to Directors where appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to attend
relevant training courses at the Company’s expenses.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, all Directors attended training sessions
on the respective obligations of the Directors and senior management. In addition,
relevant reading materials including legal and regulatory update have been
provided to the Directors for their reference and studying.
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The record of continuous professional development relating to director’s duties and
regulatory and business development that have been received by the Directors for
the year ended December 31, 2023 is summarized as follows:
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Directors =

Executive Directors HITEE

Mr. Li Li TEEE

Ms. Li Tan R+

Mr. Shan Yu BFEEE

Mr. Zhang Ping** D s s

Independent Non-Executive Directors BUHBITEE

Dr. Lu Chuan 2118+

Mr. Chen Junfa* PR 1 3 S A

Mr. Wang Zhaohui* FEBRE

Mr. Huang Peng** = M5 5 A

Mr. Yi Ming** S E

Note:

* Retired on May 22, 2023

i appointed on May 22, 2023

Types of Training

A Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings, seminars, conferences and
workshops

B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and relevant publications

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the "Board Diversity Policy”) in
order to enhance the effectiveness of our Board and to maintain high standard of
corporate governance. The Board Diversity Policy sets out the criteria in selecting
candidates to our Board, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background and professional experience. The ultimate decision will be
based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to our
Board.

Our Directors have a balanced mixed of knowledge and skills, including but not
limited to overall management and strategic development, finance and accounting
and risk management, as well as professional experiences in the pharmaceutical
industry. The Board is of the view that our Board satisfies the Board Diversity Policy.
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As at the date of this report, the Board comprises six male Directors and one female
Director. The Company considers that there is gender diversity on the current Board
and in considering Director candidates in the future, it will continue to consider
female individuals for promoting gender diversity of the Board. To ensure gender
diversity of the Board in a long run, the Group will seek to identify and select
several female individuals with a diverse range of skills, experience and knowledge
in the field of the Group’s business from time to time, and maintain a list of such
female individuals who possess qualities to become the Board members in order to
develop a pipeline of potential successors to the Board to promote gender diversity
of the Board.

The workforce of the Group (including its senior management) comprised
approximately 59% male employees and 41% female employees as at December
31, 2023. Due to the nature of work in the pharmaceutical industry, the Group
mainly considers factors such as the candidates’ ability and experience, rather than
their gender, in recruiting employees. The Company regularly reviews the gender
diversity of its workforce and will continue to enhance diversity in different levels
of its workforce.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the diversity of the Board.
The Nomination Committee will monitor and evaluate the implementation of the
Board Diversity Policy from time to time to ensure its continued effectiveness.

Director Nomination Policy
The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to make recommendation to

the Board regarding the appointment of Directors and senior management.

The Company has adopted the Director Nomination Policy which sets out the
objectives, selection criteria and nomination procedures for identifying and
recommending candidates for appointment or reappointment of Directors.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established 4 committees, namely, the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration and Evaluation Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Strategy Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company's affairs.

All Board committees of the Company are established with specific written terms of
reference which deal clearly with their authority and duties. The terms of reference
of the Board committees are posted on the Company’s website and the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange’s website and are available to shareholders upon request.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee consists of three independent non-executive Directors,

namely Mr. Huang Peng (appointed on May 22, 2023), Dr. Lu Chuan and Mr. Yi
Ming (appointed on May 22, 2023). Mr. Huang Peng is the chairperson of the
Audit Committee. Mr. Chen Junfa and Mr. Wang Zhaohui ceased to be a
chairperson and a member of the Audit Committee on May 22, 2023 respectively.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no less exacting terms than
those set out in the Corporate Governance Code and in compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations of the PRC.
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The main duties of the Audit Committee include but are not limited to:

o handling relationship with the external auditor of the Company;
. reviewing the financial information of the Company;
o reviewing the independence of the external auditor and recommending to

the Board on the re-appointment of the external auditor;

° monitoring the financial reporting system, risk management and internal
control procedures of the Company;

o Reviewing and monitoring the effectiveness of the Company’s internal audit
function and the communication with the external auditor;

o reviewing and monitoring corporate governance functions; and

o other matters as authorized by the Board.

During the year of 2023, the Audit Committee held two meetings with the external
auditor of the Company to discuss issues they considered necessary.

The Audit Committee held 5 meetings in 2023. The following is a summary of the
work performed by the Audit Committee in 2023:

o reviewing the external auditor’s statutory audit plan and the nature and
scope of audit before commencement of audit work;

o reviewing and recommending for the Board's approval for the annual results
announcement and annual financial statements for the year ended December
31, 2022, the interim results announcement and interim financial statements
for the six months ended June 30, 2023, and the 2023 first quarterly and
third quarterly reports with particular focus on changes in accounting policies
and practices, compliance with accounting standards, the Listing Rules and
other requirements in relation to financial reporting;

o discussing with the external auditor and the management on possible
accounting risks and major findings in the course of audit/review;

o reviewing the independence of the external auditor and recommending to

the Board the re-appointment of the external auditor;

. approving the audit fees and terms of engagement of the external auditor;

° reviewing 2023 internal audit findings and recommendations, and approving
2024 internal audit plan; and
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o reviewing the effectiveness of the Company’s risk management functions
and internal control system, including the financial reporting and compliance
functions.

The Audit Committee also met the external auditors 1 time without the presence of
the executive Directors.

The attendance records of the Audit Committee are set out under “Attendance
Record of Directors and Committee Members”.

Remuneration and Evaluation Committee
The Remuneration and Evaluation Committee consists of two Independent Non-

executive Directors, namely Mr. Huang Peng and Mr. Yi Ming (both appointed on
May 22, 2023), and one Executive Director, namely Mr. Li Li. Mr. Yi Ming is the
chairperson of the Remuneration and Evaluation Committee. Mr. Wang Zhaohui
and Mr. Chen Junfa ceased to be a chairperson and a member of the Remuneration
and Evaluation Committee on May 22, 2023 respectively.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration and Evaluation Committee are of no
less exacting terms than those set out in the Corporate Governance Code and in
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations of the PRC.

The main duties of the Remuneration and Evaluation Committee include but are
not limited to:

o formulating remuneration plans or schemes based on the main
responsibilities, scope and importance of the management positions of the
directors and senior management, and the remuneration levels of similar
positions in other enterprises; and making recommendations to the Board as
to the overall performance appraisal and remuneration management system
and structure for the directors and senior management, and the
establishment of proper and transparent formulation procedures of the
remuneration policy;

. reviewing and approving the management’s proposal on remuneration based
on the corporate goals and objectives set by the Board;

o the appraisal and remuneration management system includes but is not
limited to performance appraisal criteria and procedures, the main appraisal
system, and the principal plan and system regarding incentive and penalty;

o determining, with delegated responsibility of the Board, the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior management or making
recommendations to the Board for the remuneration package of individual
executive directors and senior management. This should include benefits in
kind, pension rights and compensation payments, including any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment;

o making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-
executive Directors;
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o considering the remuneration package, time commitment, scope of
responsibility of similar companies and other employment terms of other
positions within the Group;

o reviewing and approving the compensation due to executive directors and
senior management for any loss or termination of office or appointment, so
as to ensure that such compensation is consistent with the contractual terms;
if such compensation is not consistent with the contractual terms, ensuring
that it is fair, reasonable and not excessive;

o reviewing and approving compensation arrangements relating to the
dismissal or removal of directors for misconduct or the like, so as to ensure
that such arrangements are consistent with the contractual terms; if such
compensation is not consistent with the contractual terms, ensuring that it is
reasonable and appropriate;

o ensuring that no director or any of his associates is involved in the
determination of his remuneration;

o evaluating the performance of duties by the directors and senior
management of the Company and conducting the annual performance
evaluation on them;

° supervising the implementation of the Company’s remuneration system; and

. other matters as authorized by the Board.

The Remuneration and Evaluation Committee held 2 meetings in 2023. The
following is a summary of the major tasks carried out by the Remuneration and
Evaluation Committee in 2023:

o To review the results of evaluation for members of senior management of
the Company for 2022

. To review the remunerations for directors and members of senior
management of the Company for 2022

. To review the remuneration policy and structure of all Directors and senior
management of the Company

The Remuneration and Evaluation Committee believes that the remuneration
scheme for directors and members of senior management complies with the
Company's relevant system and requirements of current operation and
management of the Company, and remunerations disclosed are in line with the
actual situation.

The attendance records of the Remuneration and Evaluation Committee are set out
under “Attendance Records of Directors and Committee Members”.
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Details of the remuneration of the senior management by band for the year ended

December 31, 2023 are set out below:

FRBE T =F+"A=1+—HLFER
BAEANBRERBHFMF BN TAH

Number of person(s)

Remuneration band (RMB) HFHER(ARYE) A
1,000,001 to 3,000,000 1,000,001%/3,000,000 39
3,000,001 to 5,000,000 3,000,001%(5,000,000 6

5,000,001 to 8,000,000

5,000,001%18,000,000

Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee consists of two Independent Non-executive Directors,

namely Dr. Lu Chuan and Mr. Yi Ming (appointed on May 22, 2023), and one
Executive Director, namely Mr. Li Li. Dr. Lu Chuan is the chairperson of the

Nomination Committee. Mr. Chen Junfa ceased to be a member of the Nomination
Committee on May 22, 2023.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of no less exacting terms

than those set out in the Corporate Governance Code and in compliance with the

relevant laws and regulations of the PRC.

The main duties of the Nomination Committee include but are not limited to:

formulating and reviewing the Board diversity policy; evaluating the structure,
size and composition (including skills, knowledge and experience) of the
Board at least once a year and making recommendations to the Board on the
size and composition of the Board based on the Company’s operating
activities, asset size and equity structure; and when considering the
combination of the members of the Board, ensuring the balance between
executive and nonexecutive directors (including independent directors) and
considering from multiple aspects of the diversity of the members of the
Board, including but not limited to their gender, age, cultural and
educational background and professional experience;

studying the selection criteria and procedures for directors and senior
management and putting forward proposals to the Board;

searching extensively for qualified candidates for the roles of directors and
senior management;

examining and putting forward proposals in relation to the candidates for
the roles of directors (including independent directors) and senior
management;

making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of directors and succession planning for directors (in particular,
the chairman and the general manager);

evaluating the independence of the independent directors; and

other matters as authorized by the Board.
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In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee would take into
account various aspects as well as factors concerning Board diversity as set out in
the Company’s Board Diversity Policy, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge
and industry and regional experience etc. The Nomination Committee would
discuss and agree on measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board,
where necessary, and recommend them to the Board for adoption.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships, the Nomination
Committee would assess the candidates’ suitability through personal interviews,
background checks, presentations or written submissions by the candidates and
third party references, and consider the candidate’s character, qualifications,
experience, independence, time commitment and other relevant criteria necessary
to complement the corporate strategy and achieve Board diversity, where
appropriate, before making recommendation to the Board.

The Nomination Committee held 2 meetings in 2023. The following is a summary

of the major tasks carried out by the Nomination Committee in 2023:

3 To nominate candidates for non-independent directors of the sixth Board of
the Company

o To review director nomination policy

. To nominate candidates for the sixth session of the Board of the Company

The attendance records of the Nomination Committee are set out under
“Attendance Record of Directors and Committee Members”.

BOARD INDEPENDENCE

The Board reviewed and considered that the following key features or mechanisms
under Company’s governance structure are effective in ensuring that independent
views and input are provided to the Board.

Board and committees’ structure e
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The Company has been steered by a Board half of which are independent non-executive

Directors. The Board comprises three executive Directors and three independent

non-executive Directors.

SIERITESMEM

ARF—EHEFERE EP Y RBUFRTEE BEFGR-_LRTEER=ES

e Members of all board committees are independent non-executive Directors (save for Mr. Li Li
in the Strategy Committee, the Remuneration and Evaluation Committee and the Nomination

Committee and Ms. Li Tan in the Strategy Committee)
s MAEZEFSZEGHWRENRBIINTEF (BRLZED FHEERZEGRIELEE
ENFHEEURBBEZEGNFTHLLIRIN -

Annual Report 2023 % € 5 &



. Corpor
E NN
TEEAMSE

Independent non-executive
Directors’ tenure

BYFHTESNES

Independent non-executive
Directors’ remuneration

BYFHTESNEHH

Appointment of independent

non-executive Directors

BYFHTESNEL

Annual review of independent
non-executive Directors’
independence

BYFHTESBUNNFEERHN

Conflict management

Professional advice

ate Governance Report

The directors’ nomination policy of the Company sets a maximum tenure of six consecutive
years for independent non-executive Directors to be eligible for nomination by the Board to
stand for re-election by Shareholders unless the Board considers that the Director is still
independent with reference to requirements under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
ARANESFRERERT  fEREESSREBNRREENBYFNTEERRA
EEEEAF BFEFSR2Z LTRAUEIBENRTER  BRZEFNABEL -

Independent non-executive Directors receive fixed fee(s) for their role as members of the
Board and Board committee(s) as appropriate, and have not participated in the share
schemes of the Company.
BUFPTESTRARTETSREFTSZE N ENNEEHES (WER) - YETES
HARBORMDETE -

Independent search firm(s) will be engaged to help identify potential candidates for
appointment of independent non-executives Directors.

HEBELEBERRGMEBIFATEENEEREA

In assessing suitability of the candidates, the Nomination Committee will review their
profiles, including their qualification and time commitment, having regard to the Board's
composition, the Directors’ skill matrix, the list of selection criteria approved by the Board,
its nomination policy and the board diversity policy.

FHEREANGELY REZEGNESHERNER  BEHEEERKHAR  LTEE
EFREgMREEAR EBEFNRGEER BFESRANDERESE  HRABELEFS
Z T LR -

The Board assessed the annual independence confirmation received from each independent
non-executives Director, having regard to the criteria under Rule 3.13 of the Main Board

Listing Rules.
EZeRB(EMRADEIMEINGNRE . FEESBLIFNTESRRNFRB LM
FERE

The Articles of Association of the Company and internal guidelines of the Company provide
guidance to the Directors on avoiding conflicts of interest and on the circumstances under
which appropriate action(s) shall be taken by the director in conflict.
ARNAHEBERMBILARFOANILIES REFRFEB RN RTROES - ARELES
REERARIEETHOER -

To facilitate proper discharge of their duties, all Directors are entitled to seek advice from
the company secretary or the in-house legal team as well as from independent professional
advisers at the Company’s expense.

RATBEZRABITHRE  2BEFHERARANEIANBEEZEBULRBIEERMSZ K
BE - WHEARTREER-

The quality and efficiency of discussions at Board meetings are assessed during the annual
evaluation of the Board'’s performance.

REEREANEE T E R R HOE R RNE -
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Strategy Committee
The Strategy Committee consists of 3 members including two Executive Directors,

namely Mr. Li Li and Ms. Li Tan, and one independent non-executive Directors,
namely Dr. Lu Chuan. Mr. Li Li is the chairperson of the Strategy Committee.

The terms of reference of the Strategy Committee are in compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations of the PRC.

The main duties of the Strategy Committee include but are not limited to:

o evaluating and advising on long term strategic development plans of the
Company;
o evaluating and advising on major investment financing proposals that are

subject to the approval of the Board and the shareholders’ meeting in
accordance with the requirements of the Articles of Association;

. evaluating and advising on major capital operations and asset management
projects that are subject to the approval of the Board and the shareholders’
meeting in accordance with the requirements of the Articles of Association;

o evaluating and advising on any other significant events that affect the
development of the Company;

o overseeing the implementation of the above matters; and
o carrying out other matters as authorized by the Board.

The Strategy Committee did not hold any meetings in 2023.

Corporate Governance Functions
The Audit Committee is responsible for performing the functions set out in the

code provision A.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee had reviewed the Company's
corporate governance policies and practices, training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management, the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance of
the Model Code and Written Employee Guidelines, and the Company’s compliance
with the CG Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.
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ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF DIRECTORS AND

COMMITTEE MEMBERS

The attendance record of each director during their tenure of office at the Board
and Board Committee meetings and the general meetings of the Company held
during the Reporting Period is set out in the table below:

EERZEEEHEHFETH

Attendance/Number of Meetings

Egee:
ZEeg:

TRV EEENRETHANLFEARRRE
HRNBRTHEFERES
R e RC 8

% A RBCR

HERE/EERH
Other General
Meetings and
Remuneration A Share Class
and Annual Meeting and
Audit Evaluation Nomination Strategy General  H Share Class
Name of Director Board Committee Committee Committee Committee Meeting meeting
EthRRAE
RARER
RRAER
FMaE HIR &5
Expng Ez FiHZEE ZRZEE REZEE BERZEE FERRAE RRXE
Mr. LiLi 99 N/A 212 2/2 0/0 mn n
FEEE 99 TER 212 2/2 0/0 " n
Ms. Li Tan 99 N/A N/A N/A 0/0 " n
FHELT 9/9 TER TEA TER 0/0 11 n
Mr. Shan Yu 8/9 N/A N/A N/A N/A 1" n
BTt 8/9 TER TER TER TER 171 11
Mr. Zhang Ping** 1 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A n
e 1 TR TR TER TER TER n
Dr. Lu Chuan 99 5/5 N/A 212 0/0 n n
allEt 99 5/5 TER 2/2 0/0 n n
Mr. Chen Junfa* 212 212 11 n N/A n N/A
PR{G 3 ST 2/2 212 n n A n TEfA
Mr. Wang Zhaohui* 212 212 n N/A N/A n N/A
TEERL 0 0 N TER TER 1 TR
Mr. Huang Peng** 11 33 n N/A N/A N/A [l
BRfA 71 33 n TER TER TER 1
Mr. Yi Ming*™* 1 33 n " N/A N/A 11
HhEE 1 33 11 1 T TER N
Note: B 3E
* Retired on May 22, 2023 * RZZEZ=FRA=-t+=HEE
o appointed on May 22, 2023 * RZB-_=FRA-T-HEZHE
Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman also held meeting with the REMESSGRI  ERTMNFERNEE LI
independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other Directors BTESETEE MEEMESLE -

during the year.

All independent non-executive Directors and non-executive Directors have attended
general meetings to gain and develop a balanced understanding of the view of

shareholders.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Company is dedicated to establishing and maintaining a robust internal control
system. We have adopted and implemented risk management policies in various
aspects of our business operations to address various potential risks in relation to
our strategic plan, research and development, infrastructure, procurement,
manufacturing, marketing and distribution. Our risk management system also
covers general finance management, human resources, information technology,
projects, logistics, subsidiaries and policy matters. The Audit Committee reviews
and supervises our risk management and internal control system.

Our Directors recognize the importance of good corporate governance to protect
the interests of our Shareholders. We have adopted the following corporate
governance measures to manage potential conflict of interests between our Group
and our Controlling Shareholders:

o the Company has established internal control mechanisms to identify
connected transactions. If the Company enters into connected transactions
with our Controlling Shareholders or its associates, the Company will comply
with the applicable Hong Kong Listing Rules;

o where a Shareholders’ meeting is to be held for considering proposed
transactions in which our Controlling Shareholders or their associates have
any material interest, our Controlling Shareholders shall not vote on the
resolutions and shall not be counted in the quorum for the voting;

. our Board consisted of a balanced composition of executive and nonexecutive
Directors, including not less than one-third of independent non-executive
Directors to ensure that our Board is able to effectively exercise independent
judgment in its decision making process and provide independent advice to
our Shareholders. Our independent non-executive Directors, individually and
together possess the requisite knowledge and experience to perform their
roles. They will review whether there is any conflict of interests between our
Group and our Controlling Shareholders and provide impartial and
professional advice to protect the interest of our minority Shareholders;

o where the advice from an independent professional, such as that from a
financial adviser, is reasonably requested by our Directors (including the
independent non-executive Directors), the appointment of such an
independent professional will be made at the Company’s expenses; and

o we have appointed Somerley Capital Limited as our compliance adviser,
which will provide advice and guidance to us in respect of compliance with
the applicable laws and the Listing Rules including various requirements
relating to corporate governance.
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All departments conducted internal control assessment regularly to identify risks
that potentially impact the business of the Group and various aspects, including key
operational and financial processes, regulatory compliance and information
security. Self-evaluation has been conducted annually to confirm that control
policies are properly complied with by each department.

The Board had reviewed the risk management and internal control systems,
including the financial, operational and compliance controls, for the Reporting
Period, and considered that such systems are effective and adequate. The annual
review also covered the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of
staff in the aforementioned systems and of the Company’s accounting, internal
audit and financial reporting function, and the adequacy of their training programs
and budget.

The Board confirms its responsibility for supervising the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness at least annually
through the Audit Committee. Such systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failing to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. The
Group internal audit and the Audit Committee assist the Board in the review of the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems on the
basis of continuity. The directors through these committees are kept regularly
appraised of significant risks that may impact on the Group's performance.

The Company established an independent third-party investigation group (the
"Special Investigation Group”) on 30 January 2024. The Special Investigation
Group, led by the Company’s independent non-executive directors, engaged an
internationally leading forensic investigation team (the “Investigation Team") to
conduct an independent forensic investigation, in collaboration with a renowned
international law firm, into the Telecom Fraud Incident encountered by the
Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary Techdow Pharma Italy S.R.L. (“Techdow
Italy”) (the “Investigation”). On 26 March 2024, the Investigation Team delivered
an investigation report to the Special Investigation Group (the “Report”).
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After reviewing the Report and the recommendations of the Special Investigation
Group, the Board urges the Company to continue to reinforce and effectively
implement the multiple measures that the Company has initiated earlier, including
but not limited to:

(N

Examining the business processes within the domestic and overseas
subsidiaries of the Company (the “Group”) to identify major risks; update
and enhance the internal control matrix of the Company and its subsidiaries;
based on the results of the risk assessment, further define and refine the key
branches, business processes and sub-processes of internal control; based on
the business operations and risk assessment results, combined with
information system tools, enhance the corresponding control measures at
both the Company level and the business processes level, and regularly
review and update the internal control matrix;

Recruiting internal control experts to strengthen training programs on
internal control, and raise awareness of risk and risk compliance; ensuring
the effective implementation of internal control systems; effectively
improving the operational standards of the Company; promoting healthy and
sustainable development of the Company; improving the awareness and
ability of all domestic and overseas employees to prevent fraud and combat
crimes;

Intensifying the Company’s audits and flight inspections of internal control of
overseas subsidiaries; implementing rectification responsibilities and
promoting rectification evaluations and monitoring their progress; based on
the results of the risk assessment and the effectiveness of daily supervision,
enhancing the oversight over the internal audits and assessments of key
business processes of overseas subsidiaries of the Company; building a
“closed loop” of internal control that focuses on improving management
value; in response to the risks, defects and causes identified during the audit
supervision process, formulating practical and feasible rectification plans,
identifying persons responsible for the rectification, and communicating and
providing feedback in a timely manner;

Strengthening the centralized management of funds and improving the
efficiency of utilization of funds; strictly implementing the fund management
systems of the Group to achieve centralized management of the internal
funds of the Company and its subsidiaries; continuously enhancing and
improving the measures for centralized management of internal funds;
carrying out regular inspections and supervision, enforcing strict liability for
losses, promptly identifying any problems and achieving continuous
improvement through measures such as regular inspections, key spot
inspections, or audit supervision;

After determining the responsibilities of the pertinent individuals through the
results of the Investigation, progress of the case opened with the police, and
other associated activities, the Company will initiate an internal accountability
procedure to hold the relevant individual strictly accountable. Should it be
found that any of the involved employees have violated any laws or
regulations, the Company will transfer such individuals to the appropriate
judicial authorities and provide cooperation; in instances where gross
negligence is established, the Company will enforce stringent disciplinary
measures against the offending individuals.
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The Audit Committee assists the Board in performing its supervision and corporate
governance roles in the Group's financial, operational, compliance, risk
management, internal controls, the resourcing of the finance and internal audit
functions by reviewing the working report from internal audit and external audit.
During the Reporting Period, the Group internal audit conducted selective reviews
of the effectiveness of the systems of risk management and internal controls of the
Group in respect of financial, operational and compliance controls with emphasis
on information technology and security, information privacy and protection,
business continuity management and procurement. Such results were assessed by
the Group internal audit and reported to the Audit Committee, which then
reviewed and reported the same to the Board. The Audit Committee and the Board
were not aware of any areas of concern that would have a significant impact on
the Group’s financial position or results of operations and considered the risk
management and internal control systems to be generally effective and adequate
including the sufficiency of resources, staff qualifications and experience, adequate
training programs for the staff and budget of the accounting, internal audit and
financial reporting functions.

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides a general guide to
the Company’s Directors, officers, senior management and relevant employees in
handling confidential information, monitoring information disclosure and
responding to enquiries.

Control procedures have been implemented to ensure that unauthorized access
and use of inside information are strictly prohibited.

Regarding the procedure and internal control over handling and propagation of the
inside information, the Group has adopted an inside information management
policy which has been disseminated to all the staff. Based on the policy and in
order to ensure that the inside information would be processed and propagated in
compliance, the Group has established monitoring measures to ensure that the
potential inside information could be recognized, assessed and then provided to
the Board for their decision that whether a disclosure is required.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The Directors, Supervisors and senior management receive their remuneration in
the form of salary and allowances, employer’s contribution to pension schemes,
annual bonuses and independent directors’ fee.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2023.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue
as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditors of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditors’
Report.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s external auditors of the Group in
respect of audit services for the year ended December 31, 2023 amounted to
RMB8,640,000.

An analysis of the remuneration paid or payable to the external auditors of the
Group, in respect of audit services and non-audit services for the year ended
December 31, 2023 is set out below:
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Fees Paid/Payable

BB A

RMB’000

Service Category R 7% 28 Bl AR¥T
Audit Services — annual audit for the year EiRE —BE_T=—_=F

ended December 31, 2023 +tZRA=+—BIEFEZFERT 8,640
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JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

During the Reporting Period Mr. Qian Fenggi and Ms. Chan Sze Ting of Tricor
Services Limited (an external service provider) were the joint company secretaries of
the Company. The main contact of Ms. Chan Sze Ting at the Company is Mr. Qian
Fengqi, the Board Secretary of the Company.

The joint company secretaries of the Company have complied with Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules by taking no less than 15 hours of the relevant professional training
during the year.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the joint company secretaries
on corporate governance and board practices related matters.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolution should be
proposed for each substantially separate issue at general meetings, including the
election of individual Director All resolutions put forward at general meetings will
be voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on
the websites of the Company and of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange after each
general meeting.

Convening Shareholders’ General Meetings
A shareholders’ annual general meeting is required to be held once every year

within six months following the end of the previous financial year. An extraordinary
general meeting is required to be held within two months subsequent to the
occurrence of any of the following:

° when the number of directors is less than the minimum number required by
the Company Law, or is less than two thirds of the number stipulated in the
Articles of Association;

o when the uncovered loss is more than one-third of the Company’s total share
capital;
o when any of the shareholders individually or jointly holding no less than 10%

of total number of the Company’s voting shares make any written request to
convene the meeting;

. when the Board deems it necessary to convene the meeting;
° when the Supervisory Committee proposes to convene the meeting; and
o any other circumstances as stipulated by laws, administrative regulations,

departmental rules, regulatory documents and the listing rules for stock
exchanges where the Company’s shares are listed or the Articles of
Association.
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A shareholders’ general meeting shall be convened by the Board, and chaired by
the Chairman of the Board. In the event that the Chairman is incapable of
performing or is not performing his/her duties, the meeting shall be presided over
by the Vice Chairman. In the event that the Vice Chairman is incapable of
performing or is not performing his/her duties, a Director jointly nominated by half
or more of the Directors shall preside over the meeting.

A shareholders’ general meeting convened by the Supervisory Committee shall be
chaired by the chairman of the Supervisory Committee. Where the chairman of the
Supervisory Committee is incapable of performing or is not performing his/her
duties, a supervisor jointly recommended by more than one half of the supervisors
shall chair the meeting.

A Shareholders’ general meeting convened by the shareholders themselves shall be
chaired by a representative elected by the convener. If for any reason the convener
fails to elect a chairperson, the shareholder (including proxy thereof) holding the
most voting shares thereat shall chair the meeting (other than HKSCC Nominees).

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings
Shareholders individually or jointly holding 3% or more of the Shares of the

Company can propose extraordinary proposals and submit them to the convener in
writing 10 working days before the general meeting is held. The convener shall
serve a supplemental notice of general meeting within two days upon receipt of
the proposal and announce the contents of the extraordinary proposal.

The contents of such proposals shall fall with the functions and powers of the
general meeting, shall feature definite topics and specific issues for resolution, and
shall be in compliance with relevant requirements of laws, administrative
regulations, listing rules for stock exchanges where the Company’s shares are listed
and the Articles of Association.

For procedures of nomination of candidates for directorship by shareholders, please
refer to the website of the Company.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board
For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the Company, Shareholders may

supervise the operations of the Company, and to make suggestions and enquiries
accordingly.
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Contact Details
Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned above to the

following:

Mailing No. 21 Langshan Road, Nanshan District, Shenzhen,
Address: People’s Republic of China

Fax: 0086-0755-86142889

Email: stock@hepalink.com

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholder(s) must deposit and send the original duly
signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to
the above address and provide their full name, contact details and identification in
order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required
by law.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS/INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders is essential
for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding of the Group’s business
performance and strategies. The Board has also established a written shareholders’
communication policy. The Board has conducted a review of the implementation
and effectiveness of the shareholders’ communication policy during the year ended
31 December 2023. To promote effective communication, the Company maintains
a website at www.hepalink.com/en/, where up-to-date information and updates on
the Company’s business operations and developments, financial information,
corporate governance practices and other information are available for public
access. Investors may write directly to the Company or via email to stock@hepalink.com
for any inquiries. Having considered the multiple channels of communication in
place, it is satisfied that the shareholders’ communication policy has been properly
implemented during the year ended 31 December 2023 and is effective.

The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with Shareholders and
in particular, through annual general meetings and other general meetings. At the
annual general meeting, Directors (or their delegates as appropriate) are available
to meet Shareholders and answer their enquiries.
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Changes to the Articles of Association
During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report, the Company has

amended its Articles of Association and the amendments to the Articles of
Association were approved by the annual general meeting held on May 22, 2023
and extraordinary general meeting held on January 10, 2024. For details, please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated March 29, 2023 and December
15, 2023 and the circular dated April 19, 2023 and December 18, 2023.

An up-to-date version of the Company’s Articles of Association is also available on
the Company’s website and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s website.

Policies relating to Shareholders
The Company has in place a shareholders’ communication policy to ensure that

Shareholders’ views and concerns are appropriately addressed. The policy is
regularly reviewed to ensure its effectiveness.

Shareholders’ communication policy
The Board has reviewed the shareholders’ communication policy for the Reporting

Period and consider the implementation and effectiveness of the shareholders’
communication policy to be sufficient and adequate.

Dividend Policy

The Company has adopted a policy on payment of dividends pursuant to code
provision F.1.1 of the Corporate Governance Code. The articles of the Company
contain the profit distribution policy, setting out, among others, the principles and
forms of profit distribution, the conditions and proportion of cash distribution, the
period of profit distribution, the conditions of dividend distribution of shares, the
decision- making process and mechanism of profit distribution, and the principles
for adjusting the profit distribution policy. At the end of each financial year, profit
distribution proposal will be formulated by the Board, and will be subject to
shareholders’ approval. The Board should complete the dividend distribution within
2 months after the holding of the shareholders’ meeting.
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Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

To the shareholders of Shenzhen Hepalink Pharmaceutical Group Co., Ltd.

(Incorporated in the People’s Republic of China with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Shenzhen Hepalink
Pharmaceutical Group Co., Ltd (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 96 to 256, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as 31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2023 and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
("IFRSs"”) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
("HKSAs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA"). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of
most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below,
our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report, including
in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit 2
procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters below,
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial

statements.

Key Audit Matter
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN E N AEERRETSE

Revenue recognition

AR

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the revenue of Shenzhen
Hepalink Pharmaceutical Group Co. Ltd. reported in the consolidated
financial statements was RMB5,430,974,000, which was mainly
contributed from the production and sale of heparin-based active
pharmaceutical ingredient (“AP1"), finished dose pharmaceutical
products and contract development and manufacturing organisation
services (“CDMO services”).
MBEE_ZT_=F+_A=T—"BLFEME  REEUHRE
PHRENRITEEREXEERNARAA ZBWAR/ARE
5,430,974,0007T * = E R B R AT RAP - YR EEERHE
VAR & R A 35 A0 A ZE 4B 48 IR 755 ([ CDMOBR #% ) -

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the revenue of finished dose
pharmaceutical products was RMB2,979,030,000. The distribution
model has been adopted for these sales and mainly includes two
types: buyout and non-buyout. Shenzhen Hepalink Pharmaceutical
Group Co. Ltd. determined the point in time when the control of
the goods is transferred according to the distribution agreement and
recognised the revenue of goods accordingly.
REE_T_=FF+-A=+—"BLEFEMS  EVRBHKA
B ARM2,979,030,0007C » ZFHERN DR - TR EHEM
A BEAEEE - RIITTEEREXEERNARARR
BOHBERE N EREGEERE TR OREE - I F R
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Our audit procedures included, among others, the following:

BB EFEETIEES

(1)  We evaluated and tested the design and the operating
effectiveness of the controls in relation to revenue;

HARHE IR A B 2 S R R AT R TR B A

(2)  We obtained major sales contracts and CDMO service
contracts, read then identified contractual terms in relation to
transfer of control, and evaluated whether the accounting
policy for revenue recognition was in accordance with IFRS 15
Revenue from Contracts with Customers;
BMEEREZHES LA RCODMORKEE 4 + BIE I # 5
BRAEGIEEENS NGRS WA B AR SR
EARE(ERMBEMELEIDFISKEELSNIHA
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
BRETEE

FRFTSEE(A)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMHNES NAEERREN SR

Revenue recognition (Continued)

W AR (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the revenue of CDMO
services was RMB966,952,000, among which, the revenue
recognised over time and at a point in time amounted to
RMB510,841,000 and RMB456,111,000, respectively. For CDMO
services, Shenzhen Hepalink Pharmaceutical Group Co. Ltd.
identified the goods or services stated in the CDMO services
contracts as performance obligations, and revenue is recognised
upon analysing the present right to payment for the CDMO services
and the point when a customer obtains control of the goods or
services. For performance obligation to be delivered over time,
revenue is recognised according to the progress of performing the
respective obligation.
BREEZZ_=FF+-A=+—HILFEME ' CDMORK K UK
ABANER#966,952,0007T © K - £ — B B [l A Jo 3 — Bp [ Bh
REZWA D B A ARES10,841,0007T 2 A R #456,111,0007T
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As revenue recognition criteria of the Group involved judgement as
explained above, we considered this as a key audit matter.
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For revenue from sales of goods, we performed tests of details
to check supporting documents including sales contracts on a
sample basis and evaluated whether the relevant revenue
recognition is in compliance with the accounting policy for
revenue recognition of Shenzhen Hepalink Pharmaceutical
Group Co., Ltd;
;mmuﬁa%uw\ BMRBREEETHEAS - AxE
ERAXMH (BEHESLN) - :IIRHMHE%H&U\EEW%E?-TQ
RN B LR EEEERO AR A ROWAERSTHE

For revenue from CDMO services, we performed tests of
details on supporting documents by selecting samples from
sales transactions and inspected whether the performance
obligations had been met at the point of recognising
corresponding revenue:

HNCOMORBE A @ BAVETARERR - MBREERS
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BHERBELREINETT

(i) For performance obligations satisfied over time, we
evaluated whether the “over time” criteria had been
met and evaluated the accuracy of the progress of the
performance obligation;
HRE-—BREBABTHRAOES  BHMAFGEERSS
mE [ —REEIRN MR - YRR OEHEFNHE
W

(i) For performance obligations satisfied at a point in time,
we checked the supporting evidence of the services
transferred/delivery of goods;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
BEREEE

Independent Auditor’s Report
T8 N 1% BXAD

FRFTSEE(A)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMHNES NAEERREN SR

Revenue recognition (Continued)

W AR (F)

Refer to note 2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES, note 3 (5)
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES and note

5 REVENUE to the consolidated financial statements for accounting
policies and disclosures related to revenue recognition.
B2HGEMBERRNMT24E NS BER ~ A3EARGE#
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We selected samples of transactions of sales of goods before
and after the end of the reporting period and checked to
supporting documents including goods delivery note and
logistics documents, etc., to evaluate whether the relevant
revenue was recorded accurately in the proper accounting
period;

HMEREDRANENEREERSGERN - UREXFE
X (REEMEEERNYRXGS) LR EEE g5 8
i KA RS EEEDH

We compared the revenue from sales of goods, from CDMO
services and other operating income, as well as gross profit
margins for the current year with those of the previous year,
and analysed the variance; and

HAIAE R E - COMORRTS LA R Ho A & B W zn AU+ LA
NREMFENEMNXE F—FOHEBESESRL  THHF
TEZEL R

We reviewed the sufficiency and completeness of the
disclosures of revenue in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
BRETEE

FRFTSEE(A)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMHNES NAEERREN SR

Impairment provision for inventories

FERERRE

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of inventories was
RMB6,654,111,000, comprising gross amount of RMB7,550,458,000,
and impairment provision of RMB896,347,000.
R-ZEZ=F+"A=+—R  FEREERAR6,654,111,000
T FEEHERARKET7,550,458,0007T  REBRERARE
896,347,0007T °

The impairment provision of inventories was made based on their
respective estimated net realisable value. The assessment of the
estimated net realisable value was calculated based on the
management’s estimated selling prices, estimated costs to be
incurred upon completion of production, costs to be incurred to
make the sale and the relevant tax. The estimated selling price is
determined with reference to the contract price if the inventories are
held for particular contracts. For those which are not earmarked to
particular contracts, the management will estimate their respective
realisable value based on judgments on the method by which they
subsequently realised.

FEREREBHRERLSANMEATEEFEREL - et 28
FENFEDREBEEEENMGTER  EETKEOMBETRA
HEXAREEREFESL - WEEDRFEERFE AR
2ZERERETHFEB -HRAEETAREEARNTE
ERESREHERRERTENARAGELZ B #RE -

The amount of inventory impairment loss has a significant impact on
the financial statements and is subject to significant management
judgements and estimates. Therefore, impairment provision for
inventories was identified as a key audit matter.
FEREEESHEUMBRIEEATE FTEEEEMEERX
HETAfEE - Bt FERERBHRATRABREFE -

Refer to note 2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES, note 3
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES, note 23
INVENTORIES to the consolidated financial statements for accounting
policies and disclosures related to provision for inventories.
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Our audit procedures included, among others, the following:
HMOBAEFBIE TIBESE

Q)

We evaluated and tested the design and the operating
effectiveness of the controls in relation to the processes of
impairment provision for inventories;
HAFHELAAE BT EREREBE ZERHEENRS
MATTH A RIE

We conducted confirmation procedures and perform
stocktaking for inventories;
BB T EET T HEBRF LB

We obtained the inventory impairment provision calculation
workings, reviewed the key estimations used in determining
the net realizable value, such as the percentage of future
usage, the expected selling price, estimated costs to be
incurred upon completion of production, costs to be incurred
to make the sale and the relevant tax. We compared the net
realizable value with the cost of the inventories and
re-calculated the amount of the inventory impairment
provision. We compared and analysed the inventory
impairment provision with those of comparable companies
within the same industry;
HMEEREFERERBENAELAR EEMAREEA
BRFEMNBRMGT  ORKEREOL  BHAEE - £E
TRENMEARAE  BRHEGELNKNAREBRE - &
MR FERTFEXNRETTHER YEFFEFE
MEEEBESRE BHMABFERERFRRTEA LRAA
T EREREETHLRMON

For inventories held for particular contracts, we checked the
respective contract price and to subsequent sale, if any. For
those without earmarked prices, we inspected key estimations
used by management in estimating the recoverable amount on
a sampling basis; and

HRAREARBAENTE HMERESHENS RER
Rig@EHE (WA) HRUEEEERNFE  RMAS#H
EERENEA T RRSBERAERNEEMTHE R

We reviewed the sufficiency and completeness of the
disclosure of impairment provision for inventory in the notes to
the consolidated financial statements.
HMEEFAVBBRRMNETFERERBAREERD
FEo TR o
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
BRETEE

FRFTSEE(A)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMHNES NAEERREN SR

Impairment of goodwill

AE R E

At 31 December 2023, the carrying value of goodwill in the
consolidated financial statements amounted to RMB2,322,375,000,
comprising gross amount of RMB2,390,858,000, and impairment
provision of RMB68,483,000.

RZZEZ=F+ZA=+—H HGEUHBERXTEENEEER
AR #2,322,375,0007T - B 4258 A R %2,390,858,0007T K J&i (B #
# AR #68,483,0007T AH K, ©

In accordance with IFRSs, the Group is required to perform the
impairment test for goodwill at least on an annual basis. The
goodwill impairment test is based on the recoverable amount of
each cash-generating unit (“CGU") to which the goodwill is
allocated. The recoverable amount of the CGU has been determined
based on the higher of the value in use (“VIU") and fair value less
costs of disposal (“FVLCD"). In determining the recoverable amount,
the Group engaged independent valuers to perform the impairment
test for goodwill.

BREBE(ERMBRELEDN)  SEEFEZLEFETHERE
AR - BEREAIRDERBEESENSREEEELN AT
OefE -HeELEMNAROSEDREBEEAEEREA L EBE
BEERAMEFNRSEEE ERETAKODSER BE
EEEEE L AEMETEERER -

In performing the impairment test for goodwill, key assumptions
and judgements were used by the Group, for example, when the
recoverable amount of the CGU was determined based on VIU, key
assumptions including the CGU’s cash flow forecast, revenue
growth rates and earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortisation (“EBITDA") rate of forecast periods, and the pre-tax
discount rates; and when the recoverable amount of the CGU was
determined based on FVLCD, key assumptions including the
selection of comparable companies, etc.

EETHERENRAK ESEERTZERIRAE - flw
EERCHAEERERSEAEMNAIKEERE FE2RRBHE
BB eEESNMNBReRTEN WAL RRE - RIOKRF
B IE - ERBEOZF (TEBITDAL) EFMBRBIATALIR X ¢ B
REENRARBERLERAREER € EEEMA A YO EH -
FTEBRXBBERBARNEES -

Our audit procedures included, among others, the following:

BPIBEFEFEE T EASE

(1)  We evaluated and tested the design and the operating
effectiveness of the controls in relation to goodwill impairment

testing;
FAM FF il OB B B R (R B 4 A B B AR AT R R
TR

(2)  We evaluated the base data used in cash flow forecast by
comparing those to the historical data;

HIBBHLELEE SR SREBTR T AN EREE

(3) We ascertained and assessed the revenue growth rates
adopted for the forecast periods by comparing those to the
historical revenue growth rates;
HMBBE L EL WA RE - BEE & TR HREEA
BB A 3

(4)  We evaluated the EBITDA rates of forecast periods by
comparing those to the historical corresponding rates;
HAPVB B L E L EBITDAR - FF (5 TR BRI eV AR B L 3

(5)  We involved our internal valuation specialists to assist in
evaluating the assumptions and methodologies used by the
Group, such as the pre-tax discount rate, etc;
HMBABEEER BB G EREMANRRET X -
AR YA BAER K&

(6)  We evaluated the comparable companies, and the data of
comparable companies selected by the Group/its independent

valuers;
BHE BEE EBVHEMEENREA R REEUE

Annual Report 2023 4 & i &



Independent Auditor’s Report
J& Ntz BLRD ¥R

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
BREESEE

FRFTSEE(A)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN E N AEERRETSE

Impairment of goodwill (Continued)

BEREE)

The judgements and estimates involved will be significantly
influenced by management’s assessment of future market and
economic changes, which in turn will pose significant impacts on
the recoverable amount of the CGU to which goodwill is allocated.
In light of this, we considered this as a key audit matter.

W R B S H BT A ET S BB IR E R R TS AR Z LT
WEATE MRARSHHERSENIRSEEEMLHA YD
CEEEATE - ERNW RMARSEBBAREAEE-

Refer to note 2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES, note 3
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES and
note 17 GOODWILL to the consolidated financial statements for
accounting policies and disclosures related to goodwill impairment.
BLHGREMBRENOMT2A4ERNEFTBOR - A3EAREEH
MRS AR 78 TSR ARBHERERENE
BER -

We reviewed mathematically the calculations of VIU;

BAOHEREENOTEFETHEMNES

We ascertained the profile of independent valuers engaged by
the Group and evaluated their competence, capabilities and
objectivity; and

BT BESEEEFNBELGERMOBN W EEER -
CERARIIES 1]

We reviewed the sufficiency and completeness of the
disclosures of goodwill in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements.

HMEEFEAVBRRMTFHERBEENN TS ER T

Bk
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
BRETEE

Independent Auditor’s Report
T8 N 1% BXAD

FRFTSEE(A)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMHNES NAEERREN SR

Assessment of fair value of financial instruments
FEEMIANAAEE

At 31 December 2023, the fair value of the Group’s financial assets
which are measured at fair value amounted to RMB1,924,115,000.
RZZTZ=FF+_A=1+—H URLAEEFEN E5£ESHE
BEMNAREBEEBER/ARE,924,115,0007T °

The valuation of financial instruments is based on a combination of
market data and valuation models which often require a
considerable number of inputs. Many of these inputs are obtained
from readily available data. For financial assets classified under the
fair value hierarchy as Level 1 and 2, inputs of valuation models
include the quoted market price and observable data. When such
observable data is not readily available, that means the financial
instruments are under the Level 3 of fair value hierarchy,
management’s estimate will be used for the determination of the
unobservable inputs.
CRIENGHEDENTSEBEEGERIE BETEREH A
BIE) MES SFZUMEBRARBEE N HRISHEE - &
RAOBERBIBME2RAABEERNCHEE  HEERHA
BEEFEROOTEMAIBRERE - 5 8E7 ERG A SRR
(BNEISRAREBEERTHESMIA) BEREEE GG RE
JE A EL R b A BUE

Our audit procedures included, among others, the following:

BB EFEE TSRS

@)

We evaluated and tested the design and the operating
effectiveness of the controls in relation to fair value
measurement of financial instruments;
BMIELARERASRITAAREENE ZEFEED
R REATHI A U

We inspected investment agreements entered into, to obtain
an understanding of the relevant terms and evaluated the
reasonableness of the respective valuation;

BB LNRE B  IRRBRIGERLFHA B
BN

For financial assets traded in active markets, we checked to
the quoted price of the corresponding financial assets as at
balance sheet date and re-performed the calculation to arrive
at the carrying value of the respective financial assets;
FRERBTISXINEMEEMS  RPFIRENEEER
REHESREENRE  WENTE  UEHEEERE
ENREE
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
BRETEE

FRFTSEE(A)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMHNES NAEERREN SR

Assessment of fair value of financial instruments (Continued)
AEEMIBENAREEE)

Because of the complexity involved in assessing the fair value of
financial instruments, and significant management judgement
involved in determining the inputs of valuation models, we consider
this as a key audit matter.

ERNSMTAARBENENEMYE  UREREMEELGA
BIERAFHERNEREHE - At RMRAEBERETSE -

Refer to note 2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES, note 3
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES, note 20
EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME, note 21 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT
FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS, and note 43 FAIR VALUE
AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS to the
consolidated financial statements for accounting policies and
disclosures related to the assessment of fair value of financial

instruments.

BLMGEMBREROMA24E RSB - MEA3ERE A
BrEfh et - 200 E A AR BEAEEEZHF AL EK
HRRERE  ME2IA AR BEFEEHEHFT AL HERN

EREEARMEBERIANAABERARIABEER - 7
BREABRARERERIADABENENREEH -

We involved our internal valuation specialists to assist in
evaluating the methodologies and the key parameters used for
assessing the fair value of financial instruments and testing the
fair value, on a sampling basis;
HMBAEEZR BT HSE AR BENGEHA
WHENMEEZ28 - WHEARAAREE

We ascertained the profile of the independent valuers and
evaluated their competence, capabilities and objectivity; and
HMEABLAERMOERN - WA REER e MBS
K

We reviewed the sufficiency and completeness of the
disclosures of financial instruments in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements.
BMEEREMBEREANTFeRTARZEANNTH
MITEENE -
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Independent Auditor’s Report

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Annual Report, other than
the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do
s0.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our
report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

R 93
T N 2 BUED S

FEREFHHMER

ERRERFHHEMENEER - HLER B
TR FEREANER - ETEESAVH
HRNE B RO REEIRE -

BPEGAVBEHRENBERL MREEME
£ BT AEZEEMENBEREMEAN

Lo g A
B o

RERMEEEMBERERNEIMS - RAANE
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MTIE - RBEPIBA/EMERFEEARMER
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=

B51F
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Independent Auditor’s Report
J& Ntz BLRD ¥R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

3 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

3 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’'s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

3 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

3 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to express
an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or
safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the
public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report
is M.L. Chau.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

28 March 2024
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Year ended 31 December 2023
BE—FE-_=Ff - A=+1—HIFFE

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

2023 2022
—E-=fF —E-C
Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000
F 5 AR® T ARETF T
(Restated)
(=7))
REVENUE A 5 5,430,974 7,151,039
Cost of sales $HEE KA (4,490,078) (4,860,850)
Gross profit E¥ 940,896 2,290,189
Other income and gains, net H A K Wz % 5 6 222,317 207,431
Selling and distribution expenses HE MY HERA X (517,416) (518,502)
Administrative expenses THRAX (674,546) (742,461)
Impairment losses on financial and contract assets &g R & N EERBEEE 7 (22,548) (61,067)
Impairment losses on goodwill EEREE X (68,155) -
Impairment losses on associate B AR 2 REEE (9,801) -
Impairment losses on property, plant and ME - BERKEREMER
equipment and other intangible assets BEEMREEX (44,515) -
Other expenses Himx 8 (78,528) (1,648)
Finance costs BB KA 9 (228,087) (245,629)
Share of losses of associates FE(R B & A A B 1R (447,951) (98,462)
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX Bia (&518), 78 7 (928,334) 829,851
Income tax credit/(expense) FrisiiEe, (FAx) 12 126,175 (114,816)
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FR(HER) TER (802,159) 715,035
Attributable to: LT ALRERL:
Owners of the parent B RRIEEAR A (783,258) 727,425
Non-controlling interests JEIE AR RE S (18,901) (12,390)
(802,159) 715,035
(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO B ARIEEREREIFE AEML
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT SR (E8) BF 14
Basic and diluted EARREE
For (loss)/profit for the year FW(EB), & T RMB(0.53) RMBO0.50
AR¥(0.53)t AR¥0.507
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

A THEW SR

Year ended 31 December 2023
BE —_FE_=F+_A=+—HIFFEZF

2023 2022
—=== —E_—
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T AR T
(Restated)
(=7)

(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR Fr(EE), BT (802,159) 715,035
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Hin2mEU &=
Other comprehensive income that may be reclassified to REERR e ER 7 M2

profit or loss in subsequent periods (net of tax): B E M2 EWas (IR FHE) -
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations SN & [E i =58 51,000 260,977
Share of other comprehensive loss of associates FEAL B & Hibh 2 EEIE (6,192) (13,481)
Net other comprehensive income that may be reclassified to REEHMAIEEFHEEED

profit or loss in subsequent periods ME M2 EKEFE 44,808 247,496
Other comprehensive loss that will not be reclassified to REEBHHTEEN D HZ B

profit or loss in subsequent periods (net of tax): IR b 2 EEE (R FE) -
Change in fair value of equity investments designated at fair #&F AR 4 EETE B L& 8t

value through other comprehensive income AH i 2 W a8 IR IR A Y

NREEEH (9,234) (5,554)

Remeasurement (loss)/income on defined benefit pension ~ B EFZER ST EMELH S

schemes (E18) M= (2,592) 67,688
Net other comprehensive (loss)/income that will not be REBEHRTEEF»BRER

reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods MmEAMEE (E1E) W FE (11,826) 62,134
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax FRH b 2 E K% (HBRHE) 32,982 309,630
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year, FRE2ME(BE) WHEEHE

net of tax (HIBRBL1E) (769,177) 1,024,665
Attributable to: LR ALEAS:

Owners of the parent BAREARE A (750,324) 1,036,305

Non-controlling interests P AR 25 (18,853) (11,640)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
T E IR AR R

31 December 2023
—E - =Ff+-H=+—H

98

31 December 31 December 1 January
2023 2022 2022
—EBC=HF —ZE-= — -
+=BA=+—-8B +=ZA=+—H —A—H
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
Bt 3E ARETTR ARETT ARETT
(Restated) (Restated)
(fe&7) (fe&E7)
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BEREE 15 2,628,121 2,454,845 2,526,672
Right-of-use assets EREEE 16 220,883 244,443 239,854
Goodwill FEES 17 2,322,375 2,350,992 2,152,201
Other intangible assets Hth\mEEE 18 389,423 462,908 472,969
Investments in associates REERNRZIRE 19 1,004,046 989,386 1,146,465
Equity investments designated at fair value EBENRAREEF=AES
through other comprehensive income Bt AH M2 E KRR
BHRE 20 503,565 507,146 474,885
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss A7 7 (EfE 2 & B H & 8zt
AEHBRNERMEE 21 1,006,367 967,576 996,500
Deferred tax assets BREFEREE 33 320,503 141,475 123,197
Other non-current assets HiIEmEN A E 22 203,865 224,948 206,016
Total non-current assets FRBEELRE 8,599,148 8,343,719 8,338,759
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories FE 23 6,654,111 6,843,906 4,707,549
Trade and bills receivables B S REWHIERENR R 24 1,263,584 1,606,211 1,525,209
Contract assets AREE 25 10,947 19,534 14,993
Prepayments, other receivables and other assets  J& {4 ZXI8 + E i fE U 3008 K2
H & 26 364,429 507,405 566,687
Due from related parties & Wi R Bk 5 RROE 41 45,371 44,833 44,088
Financial assets at fair value through KAnBEGTEEEZS:
profit or loss AE BB
PREE 21 414,184 1,311,633 980,909
Derivative financial instruments MESMIE - 10 248
Pledged deposits [BEEEEEEEA 27 80 69,388 11,581
Time deposits EHER 27 85,918 749,684 1,440,000
Cash and cash equivalents RekAEEEY 27 1,765,645 1,319,707 1,479,633
Total current assets hEBEELE 10,604,269 12,472,311 10,770,897
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEE
Trade payables B SR IA 28 302,223 427,433 385,787
Derivative financial instruments MTESMIE 388 - -
Other payables and accruals H it e R IE R AT IEE 29 497,560 545,512 608,729
Contract liabilities BRAE 30 362,052 428,218 377,814
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings STESBITREMER 31 3,624,575 4,020,784 3,268,166
Tax payable FER TR 157,178 112,257 112,997
Due to related parties J& < BR S 5 3R 41 4,403 5,902 6,223
Lease liabilities HEAE 16 37,803 35,690 31,754
Total current liabilities RBEELEE 4,986,182 5,575,796 4,791,470
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
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31 December 31 December 1 January
2023 2022 2022
—E-Z=F —E-= -
+=BA=+—-8B +=ZA=+—H —A—H
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
Bt 3E ARETTR ARETT ARETT
(Restated) (Restated)
(fe&7) (e =351)
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEERE 5,618,087 6,896,515 5,979,427
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES EEHAERRBAER 14,217,235 15,240,234 14,318,186
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES *(RBEE
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings STRRITREME T 31 1,810,021 2,296,680 2,250,270
Deferred income EEBA 32 30,426 32,547 16,673
Deferred tax liabilities BIEFEHARE 33 252,568 328,920 275,358
Long-term employee benefits REEERAM 34 35,273 51,938 138,020
Other non-current liabilities Ht3EREBIE 10,153 9,935 9,070
Lease liabilities HEBE 16 90,417 110,749 104,001
Total non-current liabilities *RBEELE 2,228,858 2,830,769 2,793,392
Net assets EEFE 11,988,377 12,409,465 11,524,794
EQUITY B
Equity attributable to owners of the parent BARGE ARGER
Share capital & A 35 1,467,296 1,467,296 1,467,296
Reserves B 36 10,445,852 10,845,445 9,945,537
Total equity attributable to owners of the BAREEABLREAE
parent 11,913,148 12,312,741 11,412,833
Non-controlling interests FERER 75,229 96,724 111,961
Total equity R AE 11,988,377 12,409,465 11,524,794
Li Li Shan Yu
48 BF
Director Director
2 EBZE
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Year ended 31 December 2023
BE-F-=#1-A=1 ALFE

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

2023 2022
—E=-= —T——
Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000
F 5 AR T AREBTT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES KETHELENRESRE
(Loss)/profit before tax Fian (E18),/FH (928,334) 829,851
Adjustments for: KA EIEFE
Bank interest income ]|ITH B HA (28,144) (54,139)
Finance costs B & Ak AN 228,087 245,629
Share of losses of associates FE f Bt & 1 Rl 48 447,951 98,462
Dividend income from financial assets at fair value AR % {Eﬁﬁgﬂ,ﬁ\
through profit or loss BEpEt NEHEE
‘ﬁpﬂﬁéa’aﬂx%uw\ 6 (36,433) (7,107)
(Gains)/losses on disposal of financial assets at fair HEUARBEE
value through profit or loss BEZFH AL HER
memEEN (K )/
18 6 (1,014) 5,624
Fair value losses on derivative instruments ?}TEI/E\E’J’/})‘?E@E?% 6 86 26,869
Fair value (gains)/losses on financial assets at fair NARBEF=Z=EEZS
value through profit or loss AR BEENS R
BEMNAREE
(Yz),/ B8 6 (17,724) 74,831
Impairment losses on associate Bt 2 X RDRUE B 18 9,801 -
Losses on disposal of items of property, HEWE  BEREE
plant and equipment TH B HE1E 6 1,678 2,760
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME - BERRXETE 7 283,414 219,970
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FEREEENE 7 38,341 38,741
Amortisation of other intangible assets EfhEREEEH 7 56,093 53,296
Impairment losses on financial assets CRIEERBEEIE 7 22,548 61,067
Impairment losses on goodwill BEREEIE 7 68,155 =
Impairment losses on property, plant and ME  BERZEREAM
equipment and other intangible assets ERAEREBEEIE 7 44,515 =
Gains on disposal of investment in associates HERBERR ZIREDN
W 25 (7,265) (21,777)
Foreign exchange gains, net FE X U 5 F 58 6 (85,867) (186,331)
95,888 1,387,752
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
TEREERER

Year ended 31 December 2023
BE—F_=Ff+_H="1—HIFEF

2023 2022
—E-=fF T

Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

Fff 5 AR T AREFTT

Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERD (LM 189,795 (2,136,357)

Decrease/(increase) in trade and bills receivables B 5 W IE KRR

() 316,891 (131,811)

Decrease/(increase) in contract assets AHEERL (M) 8,587 (4,541)
Decrease in prepayments, deposits and other TERTFRIE - e REAMEK

receivables RIEF D 60,108 69,711

Increase in amounts due from related parties J7E ST 28 B Ty 3k TE (538) (745)

(Decrease)/increase in trade payables B 5 REMNRE D), (125,210) 41,646

(Decrease)/increase in other payables and accruals  H fib i {~f 238 & fE 5118 B

G,/ hn (10,942) 73,502

Decrease in amounts due to related parties FE 1~ B8 B 5 IR R (1,499) (321)

(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities AHBECRD), /N (66,166) 50,404

(Decrease)/increase in deferred income EIEUA GRi), /180 (2,121) 15,874

Decrease in long-term employee benefits REREE RIS (7,465) (452)

Cash generated from/ (used in) operations wEmE/ (iR RS 457,328 (635,338)

Bank interest income RITH BN 3,032 7,164

Income tax paid B TS E (62,143) (128,440)
Net cash flows generated from/ (used in) operating & & BB 115,/ (FTH)R &

activities mE R 398,217 (756,614)

Annual Report 2023 4 /& ¥ &



,\\/\ EE \///zﬁ%?%

Year ended 31 December 2023
BE-F-=#1-A=1 ALFE

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

2023 2022
—E-=fF —E-C
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Fff 5 AR T ARETF T
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETHELENRESARE
Dividend income from financial assets at fair value A A (BEEH2 B H & &)
through profit or loss STAEHERNeREE
B BB A 53,492 20,760
Investment income received from disposal of HERBE AR ZIRER
investment in associates =E WA - 6,403
Investment income received from financial assets at AR R (E{E 8 B HE&F
fair value through profit or loss FFAEHERNEREED
RE WA 17,720 58,939
Proceeds from disposal of investment in associates HEREE RN A 2R ENTE
=g - 31,536
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at HERAREBEFEBEEZSH
fair value through profit or loss FFAEHBERNEREEDN
FR82IA 1,576,137 4,091,177
Purchases of items of property, plant and equipment BEE % - H&E MR & E B (437,433) (212,256)
Purchases of other intangible assets BEHMELEE (7,445) (10,165)
Purchase of financial assets at fair value through BEUAREENSZAHEY
profit or loss FFAEHESNEREE (677,256) (4,482,674)
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, plant  H&EYE BEKEXHEER
and equipment P8 RIA 2,337 2,531
Decrease in time deposits T HAFHOR A 665,872 700,000
Interest received from time deposits B2 W E B fE R 28,144 43,589
Net cash flows generated from investing activities & /REMER L REFE 1,221,568 249,840

SHENZHEN HEPALINK PHARMACEUTICAL GROUP CO., LTD. R I /8 &L is 24 % £ @A 15 AR A 7



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

T A

Eﬁi //|LE?§

Year ended 31 December 2023
BE —_FE_=F+_A=+—HIFFEZF

2023 2022
—E=-= -
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Fff 5 AR®ET T ARETF T
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES AMETHELENESRE
New bank loans and other borrowings IR ITER R EMER 5,109,367 6,755,938
Repayment of bank loans and other borrowings 1%E§Ef§%m&ﬁ\ﬁﬂ1ﬁm (5,994,672) (6,036,258)
Interest on bank loans and other borrowings paid B IRITERREMERF S (249,828) (251,839)
Dividends paid BT B (176,205) (23,251)
Principal and interest elements of lease payments A& KA 4 HEF| &8 (37,983) (38,325)
Purchase of a shareholding in a joint venture E%)\ééfi%ﬂ’ﬂ&ﬁﬁ (7.200) -
Refund of/(payment for) counter guarantee deposit Ri& /(X f) B A FE %
and other expenses related to corporate bond FRNRERREZ R
H At B 2 83,006 (25,000)
Refund of/(payment for) security deposit BB (HF) BIRITES
related to bank draft AENRE 63,343 (51,700)
Net cash flows (used in)/ generated from financing BL&EE) (FTA) Fie
activities REREFH (1,210,172) 329,565
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND ReRBESEEUW
CASH EQUIVALENTS #Bm/ ORD) B 409,613 (177,209)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year FHNRERBELSZEEY 1,319,707 1,479,633
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net [ERE ) EFEE 36,325 17,283
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ERRERREEEY
AT END OF YEAR 1,765,645 1,319,707
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND RERREEEYNERDN
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances Be NEBITES 27 1,765,645 1,319,707
Non-pledged time deposits with original RIGHAR DR =18 A &Y
maturity of less than three months JEIREFE B ER 27 - =
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AS STATEDIN BE&REXRFINEER
THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS REZEEY 27 1,765,645 1,319,707
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Notes to Financial Statements

B 7% shoas Y AT
31 December 2023
—E - =Ff+-H=+—H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

The Company is a joint stock company with limited liability established in the
People’s Republic of China (hereafter, the “PRC") on 21 April 1998. With the
approval of the China Securities Regulatory Commission, the Company
completed its initial public offering and was listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange (stock code: 002399.5Z) on 6 May 2010. On 8 July 2020, the
Company was listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “HKSE") (stock code: 9989. HK). The registered address of the
office of the Company is No.21 Langshan Road, Nanshan District, Shenzhen.
The Company is ultimately controlled by Mr. Li Li and Ms. Li Tan who are
acting in concert.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
are principally engaged in biopharmaceutical production, biopharmaceutical
services, biopharmaceutical trading and biopharmaceutical research and
development in Asia, Europe and North America, and investment business in
Asia and North America.

SHENZHEN HEPALINK PHARMACEUTICAL GROUP CO., LTD. R I /8 & i 54 % = M Ak 15 A R A 7
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Notes to Financial Statements

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

As of the date of this report, the Company had direct and indirect interests
in its subsidiaries, all of which are private limited liability companies or

limited partnerships, the particulars of which are set out below:

Date and place
of incorporation/
registration and place

Issued
ordinary share/

B 75 o3k B 7T
31 December 2023
—FE-—=F+-H=+—H

1. 2ARKEEER (#F)

BEARESHY  ARAEEFLEF
BEEEERERR  REFTRANHA
TIAEREERFAXEREEER LD
A EFAEHEIMNT

Percentage of equity

Name of operations registered capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
B/ A BRAZER/ KA R
£ MR AREE L EILE-EN BEAAL TEER
Direct Indirect
Hi Gk

Chengdu Sunrace Co., Ltd.* ** PRC/Mainland China RMB200,000,000 100% - Production and sale

KB FHEERERAA HE/RE R A 200,000,000 of heparin sodium

19 November 2009 EERBEEFRR
ZEENFT-ATNRA

Shandong Ruisheng Biotechnology PRC/Mainland China RMB30,000,000 100% - Production and sale

Co., Ltd.* ** L/ E A AR ®30,000,0007C of heparin sodium

R B E DB AR A A 15 July 2010 EERBERZR
“T-TEtA+HA

Shenzhen Penghe Property Management PRC/Mainland China RMB132,000,000 55% - Property management operation

Co., Ltd. *** E/RER  ARK132,000,0007 NEEREE
RYANLERERAF 13 June 2011
—2——F5AT=H

Shenzhen Pingshan New District Hepalink PRC/Mainland China RMB120,000,000 100% - Biopharmaceutical production;

Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.*,** R/ E A AR #120,000,0007C biopharmaceutical services; and

MRt R &L AR AR 29 July 2013 biopharmaceutical research and

“Z-=%tA=-thA development ("R&D")

BB EYRERT

REMBERE R ((HE])

Shenzhen Dekang Investment PRC/Mainland China RMB 10,000,000 100% - Equity investment; investment

Development Co., Ltd.* ** RE /R E R AR #10,000,0007 management and consulting

AT EEREERBB A 23 March 2015 RERE  REEBERN
“T-Rf=A-1=H
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Notes to Financial Statements

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

1. 2AREEER (#F)

(Continued)
Date and place
of incorporation/ Issued
registration and place ordinary share/ Percentage of equity
Name of operations registered capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
B/ 2 B BROLER/ AARES
£ MU REE LR EIUE-EN BEAAL TEER
Direct Indirect
Hi Gk
Shenzhen Fanpu Biotechnology PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 66% - Biopharmaceutical technology
Co., Ltd.* ** 25 February 2015 AR1,000,0007 development and consulting
AT REEDEHERAA —E-RE-A-1+%A Y RBERIR S RS
Hepalink (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong HK$330,221,445 100% - Investment holding and trading of
LR (BE) ERAR 55 330,221,445/ 7T biopharmaceutical products
23 November 2010 REBBRRENEEERES
—F-%F
+—A=1+=A
Hepalink Europe AB Sweden SEK100,000 - 100% Investment holding
B 100,0003 42 52 REER
1 February 2010
“2-Z4-f-H
Hepalink USA INC. USA 10,000 shares 100% - Investment holding
e 10,000 & 17 RERR
25 October 2013
ZZ-=ftA=ThH
SPL Acquisition Corp. (“SPL") USA 500,000 shares - 100% Production of active
E35 500,000/ {7 pharmaceutical ingredients and
13 July 2006 manufacture of pancreatin
ZZERFE+AT=H FERMEREERE
Scientific Protein Laboratories LLC USA 1,000 shares - 100% Biopharmaceutical
E35 1,0008 B 17 production and sales
22 January 2004 EEE s EEEE
“EEME-A-t_H

SHENZHEN HEPALINK PHARMACEUTICAL GROUP CO., LTD. R I /8 & i 54 % = M Ak 15 A R A 7



Notes to Financial Statements

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

B 75 i 3% B oE

31 December 2023

—E-=Ff+=ZHA=+—H

1. 2AREEER (#F)

(Continued)
Date and place
of incorporation/ Issued
registration and place ordinary share/ Percentage of equity
Name of operations registered capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
B/ 2 B BROLER/ AARES
£ M AR EE EMER BEAAL TEEHR
Direct Indirect
Hi Gk
Mobren Logistics L.L.C. USA 1 share - 100% Biopharmaceutical
el 1RB& 2 production and sales
22 December 2003 EYBEEERYE
%=
TZA=t=H
Mobren Transport Inc. USA 1,000 shares - 100% Biopharmaceutical
E35 1,000/ 8 {7 production and sales
23 December 1997 ENRBELrEAHE
—“hht®E
+-A=t=H
Novahealth Biosystems, LLC USA 1 share - 100% Biopharmaceutical R&D
E3E 1RR D EYHERE
24 March 2016
ZZ-R¥=A-TRA
Pharma Bridge International LLC USA 1 share - 100% Biopharmaceutical sales
EJE 1RR ENRERE
28 November 2012
“T——F
+-A=t+NR
SPL Distribution Holdings LLC USA 1 share = 100% Biopharmaceutical sales
e 1R ENABHE
26 December 2017
—E—+%
TZAZ+RH
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Notes to Financial Statements

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. RAREEER (&)
(Continued)
Date and place
of incorporation/ Issued
registration and place ordinary share/ Percentage of equity
Name of operations registered capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
B3/ A BROLER/ ARRER
28 MEAREE LS ZRER BEAAL TEEHR
Direct Indirect
EE B
SPL Distribution LLC USA 1 share - 100% Biopharmaceutical sales
£ 1RR ENRERE
26 December 2017
“EtF
TZAZtRH
Cytovance Biologics, Inc. USA 5,000 shares - 100% Biopharmaceutical contract
EJE 5,0008% A {7 manufacturing and development
19 September 2005 EYREAREERFS
“EZRENATIE
Shenzhen Beidi Aoke Technology PRC/Mainland China RMB 10,000,000 100% - Biopharmaceutical
Development Co., Ltd.* ** HE /B R AR #10,000,0007T technology development
AYT I BB EREERAF 19 July 2002 BB i B 3
ZEZ-F+ATNR
Shenzhen Maple Sea Capital Equity PRC/Mainland China RMB250,000,000 99% - Equity investment;
Investment Fund Partnership HE/HEN AR#250,000,0007T venture investment; investment
(Limited Partnership) *,*** 10 April 2015 consulting and management
RIEEEARERERE Y “Z-REMATH RERE : AlRRE
X (ERAH) REGHAER
Shenzhen OncoVent Biomedical PRC/Mainland China UsD9,259,300 54% = Biopharmaceutical R&D
Technology Co., Ltd. * ** HE/ R E A 9,259,300% 7T EMBBERE
R BHENBERMER AR 26 July 2016
ZRoRELAZTRA
OncoVent USA Inc. USA 20,000 shares - 54% Biopharmaceutical R&D
e 20,0008 B 3 Eyl-3 Tk

11 August 2016
—Z-R"E¥NAt-RH
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Notes to Financial Statements

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
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31 December 2023

—E - =FF+-A=+—H

1. 2AREEER (#F)

(Continued)
Date and place
of incorporation/ Issued
registration and place ordinary share/ Percentage of equity
Name of operations registered capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
B/ 2 B BROLER/ AARES
£ MU REE LR EIUE-EN BEAAL TEER
Direct Indirect
Hi Gk
Shenzhen Ruidi Biomedical Co., Ltd.* ** PRC/Mainland China UsD14,117,647 51% - Biopharmaceutical production,
AT e BERR AR R/ E R 14,117,647% T sales and R&D
2 July 2018 EMBBENLE  HERRE
“T-\§tAZH
Arimab USA Inc. USA 100 shares - 51% Biopharmaceutical R&D
e 1008 Bz 7 Y BERE
10 December 2018
“E-\&+=A+H
Hepalink Pharmaceutical Hong Kong 1 share - 100% Investment holding
(Hong Kong) Limited BE 1R BAER
BERBE(FE)BERAA 08 December 2019
—Z2-nE+=ZANB
Hepalink Investment Limited Hong Kong 1 share - 100% Investment holding
BERREBRAA BE 1R&R D RERR
08 December 2019
“E-nE+=ANA
Cytovance Cayman, Inc. Cayman Islands 1 share - 100% Investment holding
REHE 1RR D RERR
12 August 2019
“Z-nENATZH
Techdow USA INC. USA 1,000 shares - 100% Investment holding and trading of
E3E 1,0008% & 17 biopharmaceutical products
25 June 2021 REZRRENEEERE S
“E--#XA-THH
Hepalink Capital I Inc. Cayman Islands USb50,000 - 100% Investment holding
REHE 50,000% 7 RERR
02 September 2021
ZZZ-¥NAZH
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Notes to Financial Statements

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

1. 2AREEER (#F)

(Continued)
Date and place
of incorporation/ Issued
registration and place ordinary share/ Percentage of equity
Name of operations registered capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
B/ 2 B BROLER/ AARES
£ M AR EE EMER BHES N TEER
Direct Indirect
Hi Gk
Hepalink Healthcare Partners | L.P. Cayman Islands - - 100% Investment holding
HEHs REER
08 September 2021
“Z-—%¥nANR
Hepalink Biotechnology | Limited Hong Kong 1 share - 100% Investment holding
BE 1R R {7 REER
24 September 2021
2 -FnA-+HA
Hepalink Biotechnology Il Limited Hong Kong 1 share - 100% Investment holding
BE 1R REER
24 September 2021
2 -#nA-TMA
Hepalink Capital Il Inc. Cayman Islands USD50,000 - 100% Investment holding
REHE 50,000% 1T RERR
02 September 2021
“Z--FhNA-H
Hepalink Healthcare Partners Il L.P. Cayman Islands - - 100% Investment holding
HEHE REER
08 September 2021
“Z--FhANR
Hepalink Biotechnology III Limited Hong Kong 1 share - 100% Investment holding
Bk 1R AR 43 REER
24 September 2021
“E-fhA-TMmA
Shenzhen Topknow Industrial PRC/Mainland China RMB902,000,000 100% = Biopharmaceutical R&D
Development Co., Ltd.* ** HE/RERL AR #902,000,0007T B g
RINTLELEEERBRAA 7 June 2000
ZZTRERALH
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Notes to Financial Statements

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
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31 December 2023
Fr-—A=1—H

1. 2AREEER (#F)

(Continued)
Date and place
of incorporation/ Issued
registration and place ordinary share/ Percentage of equity
Name of operations registered capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
B/ 2 B BROLER/ AARES
£ MU REE LR EIUE-EN BEAAL TEER
Direct Indirect
Hi Gk
Shenzhen Techdow Pharmaceutical Co., PRC/Mainland China RMB768,000,000 - 100% Biopharmaceutical R&D
Ltd.*,** RE/RERM  ARKT768,000,0007T YU
RYTRESEBRAT 29 June 2004
ZZZMERAZTAB
Techdow (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong HK 233,960,000 - 100% Investment holding and trading
&b 233,960,000/ 7t of medical products
22 May 2013 BREEREBREERES
—T-=FRA-1=H
Techdow Europe AB Sweden SEK100,000 - 100% Trading of medical products
T 100,00035 42 52 BEERES
12 June 2014
“Z-NESATZH
Hepalink (Shanghai) Co,. Ltd.*,** PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 - 100% Provision of services on
BER(EBEEAERAT hE /B R AE®1,000,0007C pharmaceutical related activities
5 March 2012 REBZNEREDRY
—Z-—%-RAA
Techdow Pharma Poland Sp.zo.0. Poland PLN7,359,000 - 100% Trading of medical products
il 7,359,000% 12 BEERES
12 October 2016
“E-R&TATZH
Techdow Pharma Netherlands B.V. Netherlands EUR480 - 100% Trading of medical products
wH 480BUT BREME S
6 June 2017
“Z—+t55ARA
TD Pharma B.V. Netherlands EUR480 - 100% Investment holding
HH 4808 7T RERR
22 November 2016
ZT-R%
+—A=+Z=H
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Notes to Financial Statements

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

1. 2AREEER (&

(Continued)
Date and place
of incorporation/ Issued
registration and place ordinary share/ Percentage of equity
Name of operations registered capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
B3/ B BROLER/ AARES
£ MU REE LR EMER BEAAL TEER
Direct Indirect
Hi Gk
Techdow Pharma England Limited England EUR1,000 - 100% Trading of medical products
BT 1,000807C BEERES
6 December 2016
—2-A"E+tZAKA
Techdow Pharma Spain, S.L. Spain EUR3,000 - 100% Trading of medical products
AR 3000807 BEEMZSH
23 January 2017
“Z2—+f-A=t=H
Techdow Pharma Germany GmbH Germany EUR25,000 - 100% Trading of medical products
=g 25,00084 7T BREERES
13 December 2016
ZZ2-"EtZAt=H
Techdow Pharma Italy S.R.L. Italy EUR10,000 - 100% Trading of medical products
BAF 10,00081 7T BEERES
4 April 2017
—Z—t4MAMA
Techdow Pharma Switzerland GmbH Switzerland CHF20,000 - 100% Trading of medical products
it 20,0005 %8 BRERESH
23 March 2017
“E+E=f-1=H
* The English names of these subsidiaries registered in the PRC represent the translated * Rep BEM M ZETARRNERBARE

names of these companies as no English names have been registered.

*x The company is registered as a limited liability company in the PRC.

***  The company is registered as a limited partnership in the PRC.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion
of the directors, principally affected the results for the year or formed a
substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of

excessive length.
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Notes to Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”), (which include all
International Financial Reporting Standards, International Accounting
Standards (“IASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB") and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

They have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for
equity investments designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income, derivative financial instruments and financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss which have been measured at fair value. These financial
statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB") and all values are rounded to
the nearest thousand (RMB’000) except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2023. A subsidiary is an entity
(including a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights
that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results in
control. When the Company has less than a majority of the voting or similar
rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances
in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;
(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.
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—FE-—=F+-H=+—H

BETBE

mREE

EBYRENREERE LIRS
& (EReHEAEEE ) 56 (ER
B 5% ) ((CER M B RS ER) )
(RERAERYBREER) (DR
&2 A) ((EBRHER))) FRR)
UREB(ATEIDORBE LMY -

B BB 7 1 K Ty IR 1R SE K A ME Bl 4R
HoEEEAAABEFEEEZEHG
)\Em%ﬁﬂﬂlﬁnﬂ’]ﬁ’iﬁéhﬁ CPTET R
TEARARAREBEFEAEEHFAE
HESNERMEENRAREEFTE -
ERMBREAARE TARYE]D 2
5 BRBHAN  MEREDHES
BRELN TR (ARETT) -

mERE%E
BANBREEASENBE"S
—=FtAST-BLFEOHBH
%o FARAKBARAEERHEEH
MEBR (REEHLER) - ¥ ARER
SRMRASTFARARTATEE
5
=

kol

H%

%’JL}&E}&H&Z&QHE’J%ﬁ 7
Z IE#E(Eﬂﬁ%ﬁ‘ig AIABES
Ta%?ﬂi?xﬁﬁ*ﬁﬁﬁxﬁiﬁﬂ’ﬂﬁﬁ%*'l)E% '
BB IR -

?

—RIER T HFES BURSE KT
%MZE*ZTE CEARBHEAWBRETHN
FEZBFORESIALER B - AEE
FEETEREAHRRETNENSGS
ERAMBMBEEENR 2

(a) HRBETHMEMBRRESTF AN
BRI
(b) HitERRFEELNERN : &

() AEENRREMBEERRE -

Annual Report 2023 % /£ $i &



Notes to Financial Statements
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same
reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting policies. The
results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the Group
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such
control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to the
non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control described above. A change in the ownership interest of a
subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assets
(including goodwill), liabilities, any non-controlling interest and the exchange
fluctuation reserve; and recognises the fair value of any investment retained
and any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group's share of
components previously recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same
basis as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities.
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Notes to Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised IFRSs for the first time

for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 1 and

IFRS Practice Statement 2

CEBR &R 157 KK B % @& 2R

B IBERKE

B EE2RAER]

Amendments to IAS 8
CEIBR & 5 AERI) B85k 1B RT
Amendments to IAS 12

(BB S5 2RI F125% HE 5T
Amendments to IAS 12

CEBR &5 2RI F125% H1EET

2T 155 6 E

The nature and the impact of the new and revised IFRSs that are applicable

to the Group are described below:

(a)

Amendments to IAS 1 require entities to disclose their material
accounting policy information rather than their significant accounting
policies. Accounting policy information is material if, when considered
together with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions that
the primary users of general purpose financial statements make on the
basis of those financial statements. Amendments to IFRS Practice
Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements provide non-mandatory
guidance on how to apply the concept of materiality to accounting
policy disclosures. The amendments did not have any impact on the
measurement, recognition or presentation of any items in the Group’s
financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 8 clarify the distinction between changes in
accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies. Accounting
estimates are defined as monetary amounts in financial statements
that are subject to measurement uncertainty. The amendments also
clarify how entities use measurement techniques and inputs to develop
accounting estimates. Since the Group’s approach and policy align
with the amendments, the amendments had no impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Definition of Accounting Estimates

B 75 2% MY 5
31 December 2023
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Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction
HE—XGELTEERBEHBELERE
International Tax Reform — Pillar Two Model Rules
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Notes to Financial Statements
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(@

Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exception in IAS 12 so that it no longer applies to
transactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences, such as leases and decommissioning obligations.
Therefore, entities are required to recognise a deferred tax asset
(provided that sufficient taxable profit is available) and a deferred tax
liability for temporary differences arising from these transactions.

Prior to the initial application of these amendments, the Group applied
the initial recognition exception and did not recognise a deferred tax
asset and a deferred tax liability for temporary differences for
transactions related to leases. The Group has applied the amendments
on temporary differences related to leases as at 1 January 2022. Upon
initial application of these amendments, the Group recognised (i) a
deferred tax asset for all deductible temporary differences associated
with lease liabilities (provided that sufficient taxable profit is available),
and (i) a deferred tax liability for all taxable temporary differences
associated with right-of-use assets at 1 January 2022, with cumulative
effect recognised as an adjustment to the balances of retained profits
and non-controlling interests at that date. The quantitative impact on
the financial statements is summarised below.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES (Continued)
(c) (Continued)

Impact on the consolidated statements of financial position:

B 75 o3k B 7T
31 December 2023
—FE-—=F+-H=+—H

2. DEBEK(E)
22 S HERBEZESH
(4 )

(© (&)
HZ B BHEMRAKAZE

Increase/(decrease)
G A)
As at As at As at
31 December 31 December 1 January
2023 2022 2022
R+=A Rn+=A
=t+—H =+—H R—H—H
—B-=F —E-- —F-—
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR® T AREF T ARETF T
Assets BE
Deferred tax assets (Note) BEEMSHEE (M) 2,244 1,826 1,479
Total non-current assets EmBEEMLTE 2,244 1,826 1,479
Total assets BEMZE 2,244 1,826 1,479
Net assets BEFRE 2,244 1,826 1,479
Equity Ex
Retained profits (included in reserves) 1% & | (5t A BE4) 2,244 1,826 1,479
Equity attributable to owners of BRAHEE AEGER
the parent 2,244 1,826 1,479
Non-controlling interests FEPERR A = = =
Total equity AR 2,244 1,826 1,479
Note: The deferred tax asset and the deferred tax liability arising from lease contracts MizE: RAEEY  A—FREEEEH

of the same subsidiary have been offset in the statement of financial position

for presentation purposes.

EEMRIERSHEERRLEMRE
HEBEERMBRRKRF K -
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Notes to Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES (Continued)
(c) (Continued)

Impact on the consolidated statements of profit or loss:

2. DEBEK(E)
22 S HERBEZESH
(4 )

(© (&)
His B R XM &

Increase/(decrease)
For the year ended 31 December
#m, CRd)
BE+-HA=+—HLEFE
2023 2022
—E-=H —E-—
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AR T
Income tax credit FigHiiEe 319 348
Profit for the year F X35 319 348
Exchange difference on translation of foreign BINETGIREE X =5
operations 99 =
Attributable to: AT AT RS -
Owners of the parent BRRHEB A 418 348
Non-controlling interests JEIE PG RE 25 _ _
Total comprehensive income for the year FRE2EKBERE 418 348

The adoption of amendments to IAS 12 did not have any material

impact on the basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to

ordinary equity holders of the parent, other comprehensive income
and the consolidated statements of cash flows for the years ended 31

December 2023 and 2022.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(d)

Amendments to IAS 12 International Tax Reform — Pilar Two Model
Rules introduce a mandatory temporary exception from the recognition
and disclosure of deferred taxes arising from the implementation of
the Pillar Two model rules published by the Organisation for Economic
Co-operation and Development, The amendments also introduce
disclosure requirements for the affected entities to help users of the
financial statements better understand the entities’ exposure to Pillar
Two income taxes, including the disclosure of current tax related to
Pillar Two income taxes separately in the periods when Pillar Two
legislation is effective and the disclosure of known or reasonably
estimable information of their exposure to Pillar Two income taxes in
periods in which the legislation is enacted or substantively enacted but
not yet in effect. The Group has not yet applied the temporary
exception during the current year because the entities comprising the
Group are operating in jurisdictions in which the Pillar Two tax law has
not yet been enacted or substantively enacted. The Group will disclose
known or reasonably estimable information related to its exposure to
Pillar Two income taxes in the consolidated financial statements by the
time when the Pillar Two tax law has been enacted or substantively
enacted and will disclose separately the current tax expense or income
related to Pillar Two income taxes when it is in effect. The Group has
applied the amendments and the mandatory temporary exception
retrospectively. Further disclosures are included in note 12 to the
financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following revised IFRSs, that have been issued
but are not yet effective, in the financial statements. The Group intends to
apply these revised IFRSs, if applicable, when they become effective.

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28
Venture’
CEIBR B 5 3R &5 RI D) 38 105% IR B BR & 5T 2 A1)
FE285 B RT
Amendments to IFRS 16
CEBR g ER) 1658 B FT
Amendments to IAS 1

&% B F B R &

Yl

Amendments
CEBR g R E15R BT
Amendments to IAS 1
CEBR g ERD) E1RERT
Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7
CEIER & 5t 2RI ) 3 755 K (Bl R B 755 37 5 22 81))
ETHRAER]
Amendments to IAS 21
(EBR S5 2R E 215 HEET

Supplier Finance Arrangements’

REBHE L

Lack of Exchangeability?
R Z A] s HE 2

i Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

3 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to be applicable to
the Group is described below.

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an inconsistency between the
requirements in IFRS 10 and in IAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution
of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The
amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting from a
downstream transaction when the sale or contribution of assets constitutes a
business. For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute a business,
a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised in the investor’s
profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that
associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively.
The previous mandatory effective date of amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28
was removed by the IASB. However, the amendments are available for
adoption now.
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Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint
REZHABENAASBEFPRZEY EEEXTE

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback’

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (the “2020

WEEDE BRI RE ([=F=FF KT

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”) '
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Notes to Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to IFRS 16 specify the requirements that a seller-lessee uses in
measuring the lease liability arising in a sale and leaseback transaction to
ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss
that relates to the right of use it retains. The amendments are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and shall be applied
retrospectively to sale and leaseback transactions entered into after the date
of initial application of IFRS 16 (i.e., 1 January 2019). Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact
on the Group's financial statements.

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities as
current or non-current, including what is meant by a right to defer settlement
and that a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period.
Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will
exercise its right to defer settlement. The amendments also clarify that a
liability can be settled in its own equity instruments, and that only if a
conversion option in a convertible liability is itself accounted for as an equity
instrument would the terms of a liability not impact its classification. The
2022 Amendments further clarify that, among covenants of a liability arising
from a loan arrangement, only those with which an entity must comply on or
before the reporting date affect the classification of that liability as current
or non-current. Additional disclosures are required for non-current liabilities
that are subject to the entity complying with future covenants within 12
months after the reporting period. The amendments shall be applied
retrospectively with early application permitted. An entity that applies the
2020 Amendments early is required to apply simultaneously the 2022
Amendments, and vice versa. The Group is currently assessing the impact of
the amendments and whether existing loan agreements may require revision.
Based on a preliminary assessment, the amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 clarify the characteristics of supplier finance
arrangements and require additional disclosure of such arrangements. The
disclosure requirements in the amendments are intended to assist users of
financial statements in understanding the effects of supplier finance
arrangements on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity
risk. Earlier application of the amendments is permitted. The amendments
provide certain transition reliefs regarding comparative information,
quantitative information as at the beginning of the annual reporting period
and interim disclosures. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group's financial statements.
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2.4

Notes to Financial Statements
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to IAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess whether a currency
is exchangeable into another currency and how it shall estimate a spot
exchange rate at a measurement date when exchangeability is lacking. The
amendments require disclosures of information that enable users of financial
statements to understand the impact of a currency not being exchangeable.
Earlier application is permitted. When applying the amendments, an entity
cannot restate comparative information. Any cumulative effect of initially
applying the amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment to the
opening balance of retained profits or to the cumulative amount of
translation differences accumulated in a separate component of equity,
where appropriate, at the date of initial application. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term interest of
generally not necessary not less than 20% of the equity voting rights and
over which it has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but
is not control over those policies.

The Group's investments in associates are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at the Group's share of net assets under the
equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses. Adjustments are
made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.

The Group's share of the post-acquisition results and other comprehensive
income of associates is included in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and consolidated statement of comprehensive income, respectively. In
addition, when there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of
the associate, the Group recognises its share of any changes, when
applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised
gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its
associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investments in the
associates, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment
of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates
is included as part of the Group’s investments in associates.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments in associates (Continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or
vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured. Instead, the investment
continues to be accounted for under the equity method. In all other case,
Upon loss of significant influence over the associates, the Group measures
and recognises any retained investments at their fair values. Any difference
between the carrying amounts of the associate upon loss of significant
influence and the fair values of the retained investment and proceeds from
disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

Business combinations and goodwiill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method,
except for business combination under common control. The consideration
transferred is measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the sum of
the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For
each business combination, the Group elects whether to measure the
non-controlling interests in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components of
non-controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs
are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the acquired set
of activities and assets includes an input and a substantive process that
together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and
liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation in
accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation
of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held equity
interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognised
at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent consideration classified as an
asset or liability is measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as
equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.

An acquisition of a business which is a business combination under common
control is accounted for in a manner similar to a uniting of interests whereby
the assets and liabilities acquired are accounted for at carryover predecessor
values to the other party in the business combination within all periods
presented as if the operations of the Group and the business acquired had
always been combined. The difference between the consideration paid by the
Group and the net assets or liabilities of the business acquired is adjusted
against equity. Contingent consideration from the business combination
under common control is recognised in equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of
the consideration transferred, the amount recognised for non-controlling
interests and any fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interests in
the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
If the sum of this consideration and other items is lower than the fair value
of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised
in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
value may be impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to
those units or groups of units.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)
Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which the goodwill
relates. The recoverable amount of the CGUs has been determined based on
the higher of the value in use (“VIU") and fair value less costs of disposal
("FVLCD"). In measuring VIU, the Group bases cash flow projections on the
most recent financial budgets/forecasts covering a period of five years, or a
period longer than five years if it is justifiable, which takes into account the
length of the post projection period for the cash flow into perpetuity, and
this shall be achieved by identifying a “steady state” set of assumptions for
the cash flows and applying a terminal value multiple to those cash flows.
Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or group of
cash-generating units) and part of the operation within that unit is disposed
of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the
carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on the
disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured based on
the relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its equity investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income, derivative financial instruments and financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss at the end of each reporting period.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at
the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the
absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset
or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible
by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or
liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a
market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset
in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair
value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the
use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the
financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described
as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement is observable,
either directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input

that is significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a
recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred
between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole) at the end of each of reporting period.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment testing
for an asset is required (other than inventories, contract assets, deferred tax
assets and financial assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An
asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating
unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal (“FVLCD"), and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets, in which case, the recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of the carrying
amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated to an
individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset
exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to
the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those
expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether
there is an indication that previously recognised impairment losses may no
longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of
an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in
the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but
not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment
loss is credited to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it
arises.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2. SHBK(4E)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.4 EXREBXE (&
Related parties 22} il
A party is considered to be related to the Group if: MRERMALFFEATREEIEAREE
2Ll
(@)  the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family and (@ FBRALTARTHRALSHEATIA
that person TERBE :
(i) has control or joint control over the Group; () HAEBEEEEGIERE
PRI
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or (iy HAEBEEBEATZES
%
(iiiy is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or (i) AAEEIANEEEFRTIH
of a parent of the Group; FEEEBAR
or B4
(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies: (b) EE@/\iPﬂ"ALATEﬁ{ &
]
A=
(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group; () ZEBHASEHRRA-—%H
o) A=W

(i)  one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or (i) ZERBAS—ZRER (IS

of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other entity); —REBHONE QG FAT
FRRERTFAT) ML QA
HEEDE

(i)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third (i) HmEBEASEBEAR —F=
party; THEERE

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity (ivy ZERBAFE=-FNAED
is an associate of the third entity; ¥ ME—EBERAZBES

pallzo):—W/NC]!

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of (v) ZEEBAX Eliﬁ’i@?ﬂ
employees of either the Group or an entity related to the Group; EEEMNEERNZRIKE

Flet&lhm—7

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified (vi) ZEBX(ERFT AL
in (a); s RES]

(viiy a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the (i) (@NERFTiLz AT ¥ ZE 8
entity or is a member of the key management personnel of the BEEATENKAZE ﬁ“"
entity (or of a parent of the entity); and (KZEBIRRMNEE

BAE: K

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, (viii) ZEENTMEERKE QA
provides key management personal services to the Group or to A AN E s AN E B & A R R
the parent of the Group. HEZEBABRE -
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress, are
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase
price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have been
put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to
the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a
major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a
replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and equipment are
required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as
individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of
each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual value over its
estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are as

follows:
Land Not depreciated
Buildings 2.38%-4.75%

9.50%-19.00%
9.50%-19.00%
9.50%-19.00%
2.33%-33.33%

Machine equipment
Motor vehicles

Other equipment
Leasehold improvements

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different
useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a reasonable basis among
the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives
and the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at
least at each financial year end.
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31 December 2023
—E - =Ff+-H=+—H

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant part
initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on
disposal or retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any impairment losses, and is
not depreciated. It is reclassified to the appropriate category of property,
plant and equipment when completed and ready for use.

Other intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Other intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of other intangible assets acquired in a business
combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful lives of
other intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Other
intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication
that the other intangible assets may be impaired. The amortisation period
and the amortisation method for other intangible assets with a finite useful
life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment
annually either individually or at the cash-generating unit level. Such other
intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life of other intangible assets
with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether the
indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the change in
the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for on a
prospective basis.

Patents and licences

Purchased patents and licences are stated at cost less any impairment losses
and are amortised on the straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives
of 10 to 20 years.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Other intangible assets (other than goodwill)
(Continued)

Computer software

Acquired computer software is stated at historical cost less amortisation.
Acquired computer software is capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred
to acquire and bring to use the specific software, and is amortised on a
straight-line basis over the useful life of 3 to 10 years.

Trademarks

Trademarks are initially recognised and measured at costs incurred to
register. The costs are amortised on the straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives of 10 years.

Proprietary technologies

Proprietary technologies invested by minority shareholders are recognised at
fair vales assessed on the investment day or at cost of getting the medicine
licences from the related authorities. Proprietary technologies are amortised
on the straight-line basis over the respective estimated useful lives of 10 to
30 years, and the useful lives of the proprietary technologies are assessed by
the Group after considering the useful lives of similar technologies and the
market condition.

Brands

Brands acquired in a business combination are recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. The brands have a finite useful life and are carried at cost
less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the
straight-line method over the expected life of 15 years for the brands.

Customer relationships

Customer relationships acquired in a business combination are recognised at
fair value at the acquisition date. The contractual customer relationships have
a finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation.
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method over the expected
life of 15 years for the customer relationships.

The estimated useful life of other intangible assets is determined by
considering the period of the economic benefits to the Group or the periods
of validity of intangible assets protected by the relevant laws, as well as by
referring to the industry practice.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B 75 v 2% B 7E
31 December 2023
—E - =Ff+-H=+—H

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Other intangible assets (other than goodwill)
(Continued)

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to the statement of profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is capitalised and
deferred only when the Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of
completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale, its
intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset
will generate future economic benefits, the availability of resources to
complete the project and the Group’s ability to measure reliably the
expenditure during the development. Product development expenditure
which does not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains,
a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all
leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The Group
recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(a)

Right-of-use assets

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date
of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is available for use).
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets
includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs
incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement
date less any lease incentives received. Where applicable, the cost of a
right-of-use asset also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle and
remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the
site on which it is located. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated
useful lives of the assets as follows:

Properties 2 to 17 years
Equipment 2 to 5 years
Motor vehicles 2 to 4 years

Leasehold land 30 to 50 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by the end of
the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of the lease
at the present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term.
The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance
fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to
be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also
include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be
exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for termination of a
lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate the lease. The variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the period in
which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date because
the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After
the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to
reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured
if there is @ modification, a change in the lease term, a change in lease
payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments resulting from a
change in an index or rate) or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its
short-term leases of machinery and equipment (that is those leases
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the
recognition exemption for leases of low-value assets to leases of office
equipment and laptop computers that are considered to be of low
value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or when
there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an operating lease or
a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified as operating leases.
When a contract contains lease and non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for on a
straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included in revenue in the
statement of profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on
the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue
in the period in which they are earned.

Financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured
at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income, and fair
value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the
financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the Group’s
business model for managing them. With the exception of trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group initially measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value
through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under IFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for
“Revenue recognition” below.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost
or fair value through other comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the
principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are not
SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss,
irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it
manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows. The business
model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and
measured at amortised cost are held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income are held within a business model with the objective of
both holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets
which are not held within the aforementioned business models are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the
period generally established by regulation or convention in the market place
(regular way trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the
effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are

recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the asset is derecognised,
modified or impaired.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably its equity
investments as equity investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income when they meet the definition of equity under IAS 32
Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. The
classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to the statement
of profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as other income in the statement
of profit or loss when the right of payment has been established, except
when the Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the
cost of the financial asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in other
comprehensive income. Equity investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income are not subject to impairment assessment.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair value
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity investments which
the Group had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value through other
comprehensive income. Dividends on the equity investments are also
recognised as other income in the statement of profit or loss when the right
of payment has been established.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial liability or
non-financial host, is separated from the host and accounted for as a
separate derivative if the economic characteristics and risks are not closely
related to the host; a separate instrument with the same terms as the
embedded derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and the
hybrid contract is not measured at fair value through profit or loss.
Embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Reassessment only occurs if
there is either a change in the terms of the contract that significantly
modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be required or a reclassification
of a financial asset out of the fair value through profit or loss category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a financial asset
host is not accounted for separately. The financial asset host together with
the embedded derivative is required to be classified in its entirety as a
financial asset at fair value through profit or loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a
group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from
the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position) when:

o The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

o The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the
asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in
full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset
or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what
extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset. When
it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, nor transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to
recognise the transferred asset to the extent of its continuing involvement. In
that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the
rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of
the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could
be required to repay.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B 75 3% MY 5
31 December 2023
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (“ECLs") for all
debt instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based
on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with
the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or
other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has
not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are
provided for credit losses that result from default events that are possible
within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for
which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a
lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on a
financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition. When
making the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking information.
The Group considers that there has been a significant increase in credit risk
when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments
are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the Group may also consider
a financial asset to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual
amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by
the Group.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under the
general approach and they are classified within the following stages for
measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables which apply the simplified
approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not increased
significantly since initial recognition and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 —  Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition but that are not credit-impaired financial
assets and for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount

equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date (but
that are not purchased or originated credit-impaired) and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to

lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the practical expedient of
not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified
approach, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead
recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings, payables, or as
derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as
appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of
loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable transaction
costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade payables, other payables,
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, amounts due to related parties
and lease liabilities.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification as follows:

(i) Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other
payables, and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and interest-bearing
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would
be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses
are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate amortisation
process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)

(i) Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those contracts
that require a payment to be made to reimburse the holder for a loss it
incurs because the specified debtor fails to make a payment when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A financial
guarantee contract is recognised initially as a liability at its fair value,
adjusted for transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group
measures the financial guarantee contracts at the higher of: (i) the ECL
allowance determined in accordance with the policy as set out in
“Impairment of financial assets”; and (ii) the amount initially recognised
less, when appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is
discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are
substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a
derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is
reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B 75 3% MY 5
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Derivative financial instruments

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as warrants. Such
derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the
date on which a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value
is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of derivatives are taken
directly to the statement of profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is
determined on the weighted average basis and, in the case of work in
progress and finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour and an
appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is based on
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to completion
and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise
cash on hand and at banks, and short-term highly liquid deposits with a
maturity of generally within three months that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash, subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value
and held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term deposits as
defined above, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and
form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

SHENZHEN HEPALINK PHARMACEUTICAL GROUP CO., LTD. R I /8 & i 54 % = M Ak 15 A R A 7

2.
2.4

BETRE (&)
EXEFBE(E
fTE€mMTI A

W1 TR LA T B
AEBERTELBTA  PINRBHE
B RENESMIARTIITAT
AARBBMNSRAR BEER  Hit
BARBEENHE - EAREERE
B AT AFAEESIR  BARME
EARE - HTE T AESR BT -

TETARARBEZ 5| RO EA KR
BRI ERFABRRR -

rE

FERKARAIZERFEMRE R HRE
EBARR o AT IR IR P19 RAEREE
MHERRERKAETE  KABREE
ERMH BEERSTREZHLINER
MRSz o AT IR R ERIIR A B ER T
P %t B BT EE A RO (R TR ASTEE ©

BRERATEEY
RAMBHRRARNRERASSENE
BFARSRETRS  UR—RR=
BANEE  THESRKENSER
& BEEDARTABFKERTES
ReAENERERBER -

HEEARERBXRME  RekBReE
EBEVEEFERSRRITEEAREX
REMERFR  BHBARBRKEE
EEBNASERSER —H 0 IRTT
BEX e



Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or constructive)
has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable that a future outflow
of resources will be required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, the
reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset, but only when the
reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to a provision is
presented in the statement of profit or loss net of any reimbursement.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a
provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period of the future
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in
the discounted present value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to items
recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss, either in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of each
reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of each of the reporting period between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.4
Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences,
except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of
goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to
equal taxable and deductible temporary differences; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries and associates, when the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences,
and the carry forward of unused tax credits and any unused tax losses.
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax
losses can be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary
differences arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries and associates, deferred tax assets are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will
be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each
reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at
the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability is
settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of each reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if the
Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets and current
tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same
taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either to settle
current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense item,
it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over the periods that the
costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred
income account and is released to the statement of profit or loss over the
expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments or
deducted from the carrying amount of the asset and released to the
statement of profit or loss by way of a reduced depreciation charge.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of goods
or services is transferred to the customers at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, the amount
of consideration is estimated to which the Group will be entitled in exchange
for transferring the goods or services to the customer. The variable
consideration is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it is
highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the amount of
cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the associated
uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which provides the
customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or
services to the customer for more than one year, revenue is measured at the
present value of the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction between the
Group and the customer at contract inception. When the contract contains a
financing component which provides the Group with a significant financial
benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract liability under the
effective interest method. For a contract where the period between the
payment by the customer and the transfer of the promised goods or services
is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a
significant financing component, using the practical expedient in IFRS 15.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Sale of products

Revenue from the sale of products is recognised at the point in time
when control of the asset is transferred to the customer, generally on
delivery of the products.

Some contracts for the sale of industrial products provide customers
with rights of return and volume rebates, giving rise to variable
consideration.

Contract development and manufacturing organisation
(“CDMO”) services

The Group earns revenues by providing research services to its
customers through Fee-for-service (“FFS"”) contracts. Contract duration
ranges from a few months to years. Under the FFS model, the contracts
usually have multiple task units, which are generally in the form of
technical laboratory reports and/or samples, each of which is with an
individual selling price specified within the contract. The Group
identifies each task unit as a separate performance obligation. The
revenue is recognised over time, as the Group's performance has
created an asset with no alternative use and the Group has an
enforceable right to payments for performance completed to date. The
selection of the method to measure progress towards completion
requires judgement and is based on the nature of the products or
services to be provided. Depending on which better depicts the
transfer of value to the customer, the Group generally measures its
progress using cost-to-cost (input method).

Under the input method, the Group uses the known cost measure of
progress when it best depicts the transfer of value to the customer
which occurs as the Group incurs costs on its contract; and under the
cost-to-cost measure of progress, the extent of progress towards
completion is measured based on the ratio of costs incurred to date to
the total estimated costs at completion of the performance obligation.
Revenue is recorded proportionally as costs are incurred.

The Group also enters into commercial manufacturing contracts, and
engages in the manufacturing and sale of products under customers’
specific order. The Group recognised revenue at the point in time upon
acceptance of the deliverable products under customers’ specific order.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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31 December 2023
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(c) Other services
The other service between the Group and its customers usually include
drug marketing service and consultation service, etc. The Group
recognised revenue during the service period in the amount to which it
is entitled.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest
method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period,
when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to receive
payment has been established, it is probable that the economic benefits
associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably.

Contract assets

If the Group performs by transferring goods or services to a customer before
being unconditionally entitled to the consideration under the contract terms,
a contract asset is recognised for the earned consideration that is conditional.
Contract assets are subject to impairment assessment, details of which are
included in the accounting policies for impairment of financial assets. They
are reclassified to trade receivables when the right to the consideration
becomes unconditional.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a payment is
due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the Group transfers the
related goods or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when
the Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related
goods or services to the customer).
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share award scheme. Employees (including
directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based
payments, whereby employees render services in exchange for equity
instruments (“equity-settled transactions”). The cost of equity-settled
transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the
date on which they are granted. The fair value is computed based on their
most recent post-money valuations.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee benefit
expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in
which the performance and service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative
expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the
vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss for a period represents the movement
in the cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that
period.

Cash-settled scheme

A liability is recognised for the fair value of cash-settled transactions. The fair
value is measured initially at the grant date and at each reporting date up to
and including the settlement date using the Black-Scholes formula, (note 34).
The fair value is expensed over the period until the vesting date with
recognition of a corresponding liability. The cumulative expense recognised
for cash-settled transactions at the end of each reporting period until the
vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Group’s best estimate of the number of awards that will ultimately vest.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B 75 3% MY 5
31 December 2023
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Other employee benefits

Pension scheme

The Group's subsidiaries which operates in Hong Kong operate a defined
contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for its
employees. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets
of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest
fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operates in Chinese
Mainland are required to participate in a central pension scheme operated by
the local municipal government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute
a certain percentage of its payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The
contributions are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

The Group contributes on a monthly basis to various defined contribution
plans organised by the relevant governmental authorities in various areas
other than Chinese Mainland. The Group’s liability in respect of these plans is
limited to the contributions payable at the end of each reporting period.
Contributions to these plans are expensed as incurred.

Housing fund — Chinese Mainland

The Group contributes on a monthly basis to a defined contribution housing
fund plan operated by the local municipal government. Contributions to this
plan by the Group are expensed as incurred.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Other employee benefits (Continued)

Defined benefit retirement plan obligations

The Group’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit retirement plans is
calculated separately for each plan by estimating the amount of the future
benefit that employees have earned in return for their services in the current
and prior periods; that benefit is discounted to determine the present value,
and the fair value of any plan assets is deducted. The calculation is performed
by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit method. When the
calculation results in a benefit to the Group, the recognised asset is limited
to the present value of economic benefits available in the form of any future
refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan.

Service cost and net interest expense/(income) on the net defined benefit
liability/(asset) are recognised in profit or loss and allocated by function as
part of “cost of sales”, “selling and distribution expenses” or “administrative
expenses”. Current service cost is measured as the increase in the present
value of the defined benefit obligation resulting from the employee service in
the current period. When the benefits of a plan are changed, or when a plan
is curtailed, the portion of the changed benefit related to the past service
provided by employees, or the gain or loss on curtailment, is recognised as
an expense in profit or loss at the earlier of when the plan amendment or
curtailment occurs and when related restructuring costs or termination
benefits are recognised. Net interest expense/(income) for the period is
determined by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined
benefit obligation at the beginning of the reporting period on high quality
corporate bonds that have maturity dates approximating the terms of the
Group's obligations.

Remeasurements arising from defined benefit retirement plans are recognised
in other comprehensive income. Remeasurements comprise actuarial gains
and losses, the return on plan assets (excluding amounts included in net
interest on the net defined benefit liability/asset) and any change in the
effect of the asset ceiling (excluding amounts included in net interest on the
net defined benefit liability/asset).
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Notes to Financial Statements
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved by the
shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final dividends are disclosed in
note 13 to the financial statements. Interim dividends are simultaneously
proposed and declared, because the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a liability
when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

The financial statements are presented in RMB, which is the Company’s
functional currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional
currency and items included in the financial statements of each entity are
measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions
recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling
at the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a
non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the
recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e.,
translation difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised
in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related asset,
expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset or
non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration, the date of initial
transaction is the date on which the Group initially recognises the
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance
consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the
Group determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the
advance consideration.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries and associates are
currencies other than the RMB. As at the end of the reporting period, the
assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into the presentation
currency of the Company at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their statements of profit or loss are translated into
RMB at the exchange rates that approximate to those prevailing at the dates
of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the exchange fluctuation reserve, except to the
extent that the differences are attributable to non-controlling interests. On
disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount in the reserve relating
to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement of profit or
loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair
value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on
acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and
translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash flows
of overseas subsidiaries are translated into RMB at the exchange rates ruling
at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas
subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated into RMB at the
weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B 75 3% MY 5
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about
these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could require
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has
made the following judgements, apart from those involving estimations,
which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
financial statements:

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group applied the following judgements that significantly affect the
determination of the amount and timing of revenue from contracts with
customers:

(@) Determining the timing of satisfaction of performance
obligations
The Group has different contractual arrangements with different
customers. In determining the timing of satisfaction of performance
obligations, management reviews the contract terms of each individual
contract.

For certain types of revenue under CDMO services, the directors of the
Company have recognised revenue upon the present right to payment
for the CDMO services and the point in time when a customer obtains
control of the goods or services. For revenue under the FFS model, the
directors of the Company have determined that performance
obligations are satisfied over time. Significant judgement is required in
determining whether the terms of the Group’s contracts with
customers in relation to certain types of revenue under the FFS model
create an enforceable right to payment for the Group.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(b) Determining the method for measuring progress towards
complete satisfaction of performance obligations
Depending on which better depicts the transfer of value to the
customer, the directors of the Company make judgement to measure
the progress of the projects using the input method. Input methods
recognise revenue based on an entity’s efforts or inputs towards
satisfying a performance obligation relative to the total expected
efforts or inputs to satisfy the performance obligation. If an entity does
not have a reasonable basis to measure its progress, the Group
recognises revenue up to the amount of the costs incurred, until
progress can be reasonably measured.

Business model

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the
Group's business model for managing the financial assets. In determining the
business model, the Group considers how the performance of the business
model and the financial assets held within that business model are evaluated
and reported to the Group’s key management personnel, the risks that affect
the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within)
and, in particular, the way those risks are managed and how managers of
the business are compensated. In determining whether cash flows are going
to be realised by collecting the financial assets’ contractual cash flows, it is
necessary for the Group to consider the reason, timing, frequency, and value
of sales prior to maturity date.

Characteristics of contract cash flow

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the
financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics, and judgement is
required to determine whether they are “solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding”. The Group needs to
determine whether the resulting cash flows from those of an instrument with
modified time value of money element are significantly different from an
instrument that has an unmodified time value of money element when
assessing modification to time value of money element, and the Group needs
to determine whether the fair value of the prepayment feature is insignificant
when assessing a financial asset with a prepayment feature.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Determining significant influence over entities in which
the Group holds less than 20% equity interest

Despite the fact that the Group’s direct or indirect equity interest in Quest
PharmaTech Inc. (hereafter, the “Quest”) was 14.78% which was lower
than 20%, the Group had significant influence with a board representative
assigned and had the right to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the Quest PharmaTech Inc.

Determining no significant influence over entities in
which the Group holds more than 20% equity interest
Despite the fact that the Group’s direct or indirect equity interests in TPG
Biotechnology Partners V, L.P, TPG Biotechnology Partners IV, L.P, ORI
Healthcare Fund, L.P., Beijing Maple Sea Capital Equity Investment Fund
Partnership (Limited Partnership) and ORI Healthcare Fund I, L.P. were
68.52%, 20%, 2
than 20%, the Group, as the limited partner, is entitled to investment return,

0%, 24.69% and 33.28%, respectively, which were more

but has no right or power to participate in the management or control of
these entities. Therefore, the Group has no significant influence over these
entities.

Determining no significant influence over entities in
which the Group has a board seat

Despite the fact that the Group has a board seat in Shenzhen Top Dental
Medical Co., Ltd. and Guangzhou Heart Network Technology Co., Ltd., the
Group determined to have no significant influence over these entities after
taking into account all the facts and circumstances, such as the percentage
of equity interest, the composition of the boards and decision-making
mechanism and the way of the Group’s nominated director participating in
board meeting.

Determining indicators of impairment for investments in
associates

The Group determined whether there are indicators of impairment for
investments in associates at the end of each reporting period. Indicators of
impairment included, but not limited to serious deterioration of financial
condition of the associates, significant drop in share prices, adverse changes
in the industry market environment and other circumstances indicated that
the associates are unable to generate economic benefits for the Group.
When such an indicator exists, the Group tested its investments in associates
for impairment by comparing the estimated recoverable amounts with the
carrying amounts. An impairment exists when the carrying value of
investments in associates exceeds its recoverable amount.
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Notes to Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of each reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual
basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating
units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use requires
the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the
cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value of those cash flows. The carrying amount of
goodwill at 31 December 2023 was RMB2,322,375,000 (2022:
RMB2,350,992,000). Further details are given in note 17 to the financial
statements.

Post-employment benefit obligations

The present value of the pension obligations depends on a number of factors
that are determined on an actuarial basis using a number of assumptions.
The discount rate is one of the assumptions used in determining the net cost
(income) for pensions. Any changes in these assumptions will impact the
carrying amount of pension obligations.

The Group determines the appropriate discount rate at the end of each year.
This is the interest rate that should be used to determine the present value of
estimated future cash outflows expected to be required to settle the pension
obligations. In determining the appropriate discount rate, the Group
considers using market yields at the end of each reporting period on high
quality United States corporate bonds of SPL Acquisition Corp., which is also
the currency that benefits will be paid, and make sure terms of corporate
bonds will match the estimated term of defined benefit plan.

Other key assumptions for pension obligations are partially based on current
market conditions.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade and other
receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade receivables. The
provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various customer
segments that have similar loss patterns (i.e., by geography, product type,
customer type and rating, and coverage by letters of credit and other forms
of credit insurance).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical observed
default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical
credit loss experience with forward-looking information. For instance, if
forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic product) are expected to
deteriorate over the next year which can lead to an increased number of
defaults in the manufacturing sector, the historical default rates are adjusted.
At each reporting date, the historical observed default rates are updated and
changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed default rates,
forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount
of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast economic
conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast of
economic conditions may also not be representative of a customer’s actual
default in the future. The information about the ECLs on the Group's trade
receivables and other receivables is disclosed in notes 24, 27 and 46 to the
financial statements, respectively.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the losses can
be utilised. Significant management judgement is required to determine the
amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely
timing and level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning
strategies. The carrying value of deferred tax assets relating to recognised tax
losses at 31 December 2023 was RMB318,139,000 (2022: RMB16,581,000).
The amount of unrecognised tax losses at 31 December 2023 was
RMB260,444, 000 (2022: RMB573,690,000). Further details are given in note
33 to the financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Fair value of unlisted equity investments

The unlisted equity investments have been valued based on a market-based
valuation technique as detailed in note 43 to the financial statements. The
valuation requires the Group to determine the comparable public companies
(peers) and select the price multiple. In addition, the Group makes estimates
about the discount for illiquidity and size differences. The Group classifies
the fair value of these investments as Level 2 and 3. The fair value of the
unlisted equity investments at 31 December 2023 was RMB1,509,367,000
(2022: RMB1,458,596,000). Further details are given in notes 20, 21, and 43
to the financial statements.

Development costs

Development costs are capitalised in accordance with the accounting policy
for research and development costs as detailed in note 2.4 to the financial
statements. Determining the amounts to be capitalised requires management
to make assumptions regarding the expected future cash generation of the
assets, the discount rates to be applied and the expected period of benefits.
The carrying amount of capitalised development costs at 31 December 2023
was RMB 18,644,000 (2022: RMB48,789,000).

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in a lease, and
therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing rate (“IBR") to measure lease
liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Group would have to pay to
borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary
to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the Group “would
have to pay”, which requires estimation when no observable rates are
available or when it needs to be adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions
of the lease. The Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as
market interest rates) when available and is required to make certain
entity-specific estimates.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all
non-financial assets (including the right-of-use assets) at the end of each
reporting period. Indefinite life intangible assets are tested for impairment
annually and at other times when such an indicator exists. Other
non-financial assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators that
the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists when
the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal
and its value in use. The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is
based on available data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length
transaction of similar assets or observable market prices less incremental
costs for disposing of the asset. When value-in-use calculations are
undertaken, management must estimate the expected future cash flows from
the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order
to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

Impairment of inventories

Inventories of the Group are measured at the lower of cost or net realizable
value. Management estimates the net realisable value for raw materials,
work-in progress and finished goods based primarily on the current market
conditions. The Group carries out an inventory review by category on each
balance sheet date and will write down obsolete and slow-moving items in
inventories to net realisable value.
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Notes to Financial Statements

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units based
on their products and services and has four reportable operating segments as
follows:

(@)  The finished dose pharmaceutical products segment mainly includes
enoxaparin sodium injection.

(b)  The active pharmaceutical ingredients segment includes standard
heparin sodium active pharmaceutical ingredients, and enoxaparin
sodium active pharmaceutical ingredients.

() The CDMO segment includes R&D, manufacturing, quality
management, program management and commercial manufacture
under customers’ specific orders.

(d)  The "others” segment.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating segments
separately for the purpose of making decisions about resource allocation and
performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on
reportable segment profit/loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/loss
before tax from continuing operations. The adjusted profit/loss before tax
from continuing operations is measured consistently with the Group’s profit
before tax except that other income and gains, selling and distribution
expenses, administrative expenses, impairment losses on financial and
contract assets, other expenses, finance costs and share of profits and losses
of associates are excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude cash and cash equivalents, pledged deposits,
deferred tax assets, equity investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income, derivative financial instruments, financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss and other unallocated head office and
corporate assets as these assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, tax
payable, deferred tax liabilities and other unallocated head office and
corporate liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a group basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to the selling
prices used for sales made to third parties at the then prevailing market
prices.
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Notes to Financial Statements

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

4 B8 A\ 3
nr

BE X ()

=/l R
(Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2023 BE-Z-=Ft-HA=+—HLEFE
Finished dose Active
pharmaceutical pharmaceutical
Segments products ingredients Others Total
A LRk S RR% CDMO Hith At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETR ARBT R ARBT R ARBTR
Segment revenue: AHEA
Sales to external customers ETNBRE 2,979,030 1,307,343 966,952 177,649 5,430,974
Intersegment sales PEFEEE 3,469,110 2,137,584 1,309 270,601 5,878,604
Total segment revenue “ABEWA 6,448,140 3,444,927 968,261 448,250 11,309,578
Reconciliation: HE:
Elimination of intersegment sales BEEpBmye (5,878,604)
Revenue from contracts with customers — EEARKA 5,430,974
Segment results PHEE: 1,224,118 (405,677) 213,038 59,932 1,091,411
Reconciliation: HE:
Elimination of intersegment results BEREpBELE (150,515)
Other income and losses e A R Mas 222,317
Selling and distribution expenses HERAHEAY (517,416)
Administrative expenses GF (674,546)
Impairment losses on financial assets SRRANEEREER (22,548)
Impairment losses on goodwill HERERE (68,155)
Impairment losses on associate UNIVRIEL SR (9,801)
Impairment losses on property, plantand ~ #1% « FiE K&k B LA &
equipment and other intangible assets Hitn By EER
MEBXE (44,515)
Other expenses EthfE (78,528)
Finance costs BERA (228,087)
Share of profits and losses of associates ~ JE/L R4 A Gl 7l RE B (447,951)
Group's loss before tax SEBAEE (928,334)
Segment assets ITHEE 4,888,040 11,710,207 2,392,778 1,152,181 20,143,206
Reconciliation: HE:
Elimination of intersegment receivables ﬁﬁé} 7 RN A (6,149,428)
Corporate and other unallocated assets 72 7] &ﬁﬂﬂ* Eiﬁé 5,209,639
Total assets BELE 19,203,417
Segment liabilities AHER 2,846,630 3,822,929 421,666 2,684,939 9,776,164
Reconciliation: HE:
Elimination of intersegment payables %E\,ﬁé]"* BT (7,390,598)
Corporate and other unallocated liabilities A7 & E %S @EE 4,829,474
Total liabilities EAE 7,215,040
Other segment information HtaBER
Impairment losses recognised in the RERXRERREER
statement of profit or loss, net E 3,859 28,520 68,490 44,150 145,019
Depreciation and amortisation %%Eﬁifﬁfﬁ 50,921 104,098 84,492 138,337 377,848
Investments in associates REEREZRE 1,004,046
Capital expenditure* e 381,103 31,561 41,399 15,783 469,846
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. REPBER (HF)
(Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022 BE-E-_—_+-RA=+—HLEE
Finished dose Active
pharmaceutical pharmaceutical
Segments products ingredients Others Total
ol ) Enay [R5 CDMO it it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTT AREFT ARETT ARETT
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(&35 (BE31) (LE71) (E7) (BE35)

Segment revenue: FHEA :
Sales to external customers ETIHERRP 3,210,465 2,673,754 1,084,066 182,754 7,151,039
Intersegment sales DEEHE 2,468,477 3,369,777 2,213 435,821 6,276,288
Total segment revenue BABRA 5,678,942 6,043,531 1,086,279 618,575 13,427,327
Recondiliation: 8
Elimination of intersegment sales BN BEHE (6,276,288)
Revenue from contracts with customers  BE A RUA 7,151,039
Segment results FHEE: 1,071,893 925,075 418,754 54,927 2,470,649
Reconciliation: HE:
Elimination of intersegment results %ﬁﬁé"* MEE (180,460)
Other income and losses Hih A RS 207,431
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHERY (518,502)
Administrative expenses X (742,461)
Impairment losses on financial assets SRMEBERERL (61,067)
Impairment losses on associates BENRREER -
Other expenses Hip (1,648)
Finance costs BEHAK (245,629)
Share of profits and losses of associates ~ FE{EHE4 A B & R B (98,462)
Group's profit before tax EEBAFE 829,851
Segment assets ﬁ*BﬁE 4,272,831 12,057,357 2,573,751 1,169,499 20,073,438
Reconciliation: HE:
Elimination of intersegment receivables %ﬁé}"* N (5,442,142)
Corporate and other unallocated assets DA R EM RS Eiﬁé 6,184,734
Total assets BEAE 20,816,030
Segment liabilities ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ 2,261,519 3,228,971 467,235 2,677,328 8,635,053
Reconciliation: HE:
Elimination of intersegment payables }Jﬁﬁ“* BT & 1 5078 (6,703,798)
Corporate and other unallocated liabilites RAREMANEEE 6,475,310
Total liabilities SEAE 8,406,565
Other segment information HttHHEH
Impairment losses recognised in the REERBERZ

statement of profit or loss, net REEEFE 4,090 28,346 28,523 108 61,067
Depreciation and amortisation FEREE 47,343 89,404 77,826 97,434 312,007
Investments in associates REERR 2 RE 989,386
Capital expenditure* EXREX* 15,100 49,904 68,758 12,532 146,294
@ As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, Capital expenditure consists of additions to 2 RIB_=FRZZB-_F+ZA=+—

property, plant and other intangible assets.

B EXAHAXBRRENE BEREM
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

REDIER (HF)

Geographical information EEE R

(a) Revenue from external customers (a) KEIEEFHIKA
2023 2022
—EBZ=H —E-F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR®EF T
Hong Kong e 18,098 103,018
United States of America ESEd 1,277,604 1,387,152
Europe B 2,615,709 3,729,856
Chinese Mainland B A 397,837 641,478
Other countries/regions HtER, & 1,121,726 1,289,535
5,430,974 7,151,039

The revenue information above is based on the locations of the
customers.

(b) Non-current assets

LR AER T ERE P FTEA
B o

(b) ¥ HEBEE

2023 2022

—EB-=fF T
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARETF T
Chinese Mainland B A 3t 2,878,234 2,705,525
United States of America EH 3,356,795 3,610,134
Europe BOM 126,362 129,267
Hong Kong E5 407,322 282,596
6,768,713 6,727,522

The non-current asset information of continuing operations above is
based on the locations of the assets and excludes financial instruments
and deferred tax assets.

Information about major customers

During the year ended December 31, 2023, there were no revenue derived
from sales to a single external customer, including sales to a group of entities
which are known to be under common control with that customers,
accounted for more than 10% of the total revenue.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, revenue of approximately
RMB733,019,000 derived from sales to a single external customer, including
sales to a group of entities which are known to be under common control
with that customer, accounted for more than 10% of the total revenue.
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5.

REVENUE

Notes to Financial Statements

B 75 o3k B 7T
31 December 2023
—E_=Ff+_H=+—H

5. WA
Revenue from contracts with customers EFEESEWA
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (i) ZEHKAEZH
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE-ZE-_=f+=-HA=t+—-HL
FE
Finished dose Active
pharmaceutical  pharmaceutical
Segments products ingredients Others Total
2% ENEA RR% CDMO Hit CEl
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBTR ARBT R ARBT ARBT T
Types of goods or services ELELE ¥
Sale of products Em#EE 2,979,030 1,307,343 - 128,685 4,415,058
CDMO services CDMORR% - - 966,952 - 966,952
Others At - - - 48,964 48,964
Total k] 2,979,030 1,307,343 966,952 177,649 5,430,974
Geographical markets B M5
Hong Kong &5 - 18,098 - - 18,098
United States of America ES 352,786 53,917 812,103 58,798 1,277,604
Europe UM 2,044,965 409,601 114,896 46,247 2,615,709
Chinese Mainland RE A 324,139 39,950 - 33,748 397,837
Other countries/regions EHER/E 257,140 785,777 39,953 38,856 1,121,726
Total B5 2,979,030 1,307,343 966,952 177,649 5,430,974
Timing of revenue recognition X AR 32 B B
Products transferred at R (AR 2
apoint in time BBER 2,979,030 1,307,343 - 128,685 4,415,058
Services transferred at EXERREE
a point in time BHBRYE . 2 456,111 13,818 469,929
Services transferred over time B s R B 7 PR 7S - - 510,841 35,146 545,987
Total et 2,979,030 1,307,343 966,952 177,649 5,430,974
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B 7% shoas Y AT
31 December 2023
—E - =Ff+-H=+—H

5. REVENUE (Continued) 5. WA (&)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued) ZESREWA (&)
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued) (i) ZHEKAEZH (F)
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE_T-_—_F+-A=+—H1t
FE
Finished dose Active

pharmaceutical pharmaceutical

Segments products ingredients Others Total
PN @y RE& CDMO At &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT AR¥TR ARETT ARETT

Types of goods or services EIRES 24

Sale of products ERHEE 3,210,465 2,673,754 - 128,629 6,012,848
CDMO services CDMORR# = - 1,084,066 - 1,084,066
Others Hith - - - 54,125 54,125
Total B3 3,210,465 2,673,754 1,084,066 182,754 7,151,039
Geographical markets B %

Hong Kong &5 1,963 97,975 - 3,080 103,018
United States of America ES5] 432,952 96,971 814,462 42,767 1,387,152
Europe BN 2,105,630 1,403,841 169,204 51,181 3,729,856
Chinese Mainland eelcipi) 367,906 227,096 - 46,476 641,478
Other countries/regions HiBER /& 302,014 847,871 100,400 39,250 1,289,535
Total B3 3,210,465 2,673,754 1,084,066 182,754 7,151,039

Timing of revenue recognition W A B 32 B

Products transferred at EXEREE

a point in time BRER 3,210,465 2,673,754 = 128,629 6,012,848
Services transferred at EX AR

apoint in time BB RS - - 320,179 20,207 340,386
Services transferred over time BERF I E RIS - - 763,887 33,918 797,805
Total B3 3,210,465 2,673,754 1,084,066 182,754 7,151,039
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Notes to Financial Statements

5. REVENUE (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Disaggregated revenue information (Continued)

The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised during
the current reporting period that were included in the contract
liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period and recognised from

B 75 2% MY 5
31 December 2023
—FE-—=F+-H=+—H

5. WA (&)
BEFERWA (&)

(i)

ZERAEZH (&)

TRETESEREHNCHAS
WEELAE L HME BITNAL
B AF R R TR B 1R 45 SRR 1

performance obligations satisfied in previous periods: WA &%
2023 2022
—E-= —E-—
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AREBTT
Revenue recognised that was included in the FT AFEFIAE L B BELEHH
contract liabilities balance at the beginning B #R U A :
of the year:
Sale of products EmiHE 17,724 10,585
CDMO services CDMOMR T 423,216 407,679
Total k= 440,940 418,264
Performance obligations (i) BHEF

Information about the Group’s performance obligations is summarised
below:

Sale of products
The performance obligation is satisfied at the point when control of
asset is transferred to the customer.

CDMO services

For services under the FFS model, revenue is recognised over time, and
the performance obligation is a part of the contract that has an
original expected duration of one year or less. Therefore, under
practical expedients allowed by IFRS 15, the Group does not disclose
the value of unsatisfied performance obligations under the FFS model.

AEBENEENEMBRIT :

E i E
BAOBIAEEEERIEESE
FB 2 o

CDMOR K

SAFFSEX T RT M = - AR
ERHEEEMER  BRNEER
VIRBHABMR BB —FNE R
AR E S - B R R CEER R
B|ELER) EROA TR
% ARETEHFFSE AT AR
BHEENEEETHRE -
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Notes to Financial Statements

B 7% shoas Y AT
31 December 2023
—E - =Ff+-H=+—H

5. REVENUE (Continued) 5. WA (#)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued) EFERIWA (&)
(ii) Performance obligations (Continued) (i) BAEF (&)
CDMO services (Continued) CDMOJR % (&
For certain CDMO services, the directors of the Company have HETCOMORKEME * AARIE
determined that performance obligations are satisfied upon acceptance EEHT REXRFABIIET
of the deliverable products under customers’ specific orders, and MARNEME  BOERTHET
therefore, the performance obligation is recognised as revenue at a B AL BAYE R KA B
point in time. R AUWNA o
The transaction prices allocated to the remaining performance Rt+ZA=+—RH5REFBELN
obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at 31 December are EE(RBORIBORET) IR
as follows: SEBHEAT :
2023 2022
—E-=F —EF-—
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥®T ARETT
Within one year —FR 493,767 652,130
All the performance obligations are expected to be recognised within FBRAEMETE N —FR T AR
one year. The amounts disclosed above do not include variable R FMFFENSBETEREZR
consideration which is constrained. il 19 AT B2 (E o
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B 75 R 3R MY R

31 December 2023

—E - =FF+-A=+—H

OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET 6. Htm ARz FHE
2023 2022
—E-=F —F-—
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARMET T
Other income H g A
Bank interest income RITH B UA 39,521 54,139
Government grants related to B AT A8 B B IR 4 B
— Assets* - BE* 2,672 4,744
— Income** — U Ax* 19,343 33,963
Dividend income from financial assets at fair LA R AR BEE B H & A% H
value through profit or loss B e A E RS KA 36,433 7,107
Total other income Hi A8z 97,969 99,953
Other gains Hp &
Foreign exchange gains, net 5 U E 5 85,867 186,331
Gains/(losses) on disposal of financial assets HENUAABEIEE LSS AEH
at fair value through profit or loss BaremEEN R (F18) 1,014 (5,624)
Fair value gains/(losses), net: AR BERK(EE)  FH8E -
Financial assets at fair value through MRAARBEAEBEEEHT AL BHIER
profit or loss HEFEE 17,724 (74,831)
Derivative instruments PTETHE (86) (26,869)
Losses on disposal of items of property, LEWE  BEREEHEBNERE
plant and equipment (1,678) (2,760)
Gains on disposal of investment in associates & B & A F]38 & 8 U 55 7,265 21,771
Others H1h 14,242 9,460
Total gains Was 4258 124,348 107,478
Total other income and gains H A Rz 48 58 222,317 207,431

L The Group has received certain government grants related to assets to invest in *
laboratory equipment and plant. The grants related to assets were recognised in profit

or loss over the useful lives of the relevant assets.

*x The government grants and subsidies related to income have been received to xx

compensate for the Group’s research and development costs. Certain of the grants
related to income have future related costs expected to be incurred and require the
Group to comply with conditions attached to the grants and the government to
acknowledge the compliance of these conditions. These grants related to income are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods that
the costs, for which they are intended to compensate, are expensed.

Other government grants related to income that are receivables as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial
support to the Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivables.

AEMOEEREEENOETRAR
B AREARBRERENTH - REE
140 18 B e A R & AR O (2 PR RS R A
R

EUER B U A AR B HO B AT B B AN A B - SA
HEAEBENFELA - BRI E
THOEAEEEERRAMOER - A
SRS BB T B M A G R
RHEREAIE T % oM - ZFHRAR
%A & 75 B 75 58 4 (R 00 B AR B S e B
N ARRMAERERPRER o BUEE
i B AR A O DR T 6 B (FE R B 3 AR Y
BERFBAROMEE  KSEERAAEER
PR TS S 1 3 4 R R AR B K AR ) FE LR
REBKBRRRBSEHER o

R M R L e £ A AR A O TR T 4 B (FE
EREMNBARBINEE  AREER
75 55 (B 2 A B 75 S % T R R SRAR A AR )
EERBERFRPBRENARRER -
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31 December 2023
—E - =Ff+-H=+—H

(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group’s (loss)/profit before tax is arrived

Notes to Financial Statements

at after charging/(crediting):

7. BiEl (BE) FE
ARBe A (R FBDENS,/
COSPRr ST

2023 2022
—E=-= ===
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
ik=s AR®T T ARBF T
Cost of inventories sold HEFERK A 3,721,533 4,191,405
Cost of services provided 12 £ AR 7% B B AR 768,545 669,445
Depreciation of property, M HWERKBITE
plant and equipment 15 283,414 219,970
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FTREEEITE 16(a) 38,341 38,741
Amortisation of other intangible assets H A B B 8 18 56,093 53,296
Research and development costs* i B Bk A * 182,433 252,142
Impairment losses on goodwill HEREEE 68,155 -
Impairment losses on property, plant and ME BB MRER
equipment and other intangible assets Hthmp g ERERK 44,515 -
Auditor’s remuneration S GHE A 8,640 6,010
Employee benefit expenses (including EERAAY (BEEEK
directors’ and supervisors’ remuneration) :  E5 5 89 E) ¢
Salaries and other benefits TITEREMER 648,760 654,005
Pension scheme contributions, social RS EMER - L EEF
welfare and other welfare** T2 H fth 45 Fl > * 95,615 120,378
Total gt 744,375 774,383
Rental expenses not included in the Rt AHEABHENES
measurement of lease liabilities T 3,749 2,488
Bank interest income HRITF 2 WA 6 (39.521) (54,139)
Finance costs A& AR 9 228,087 245,629
Dividend income from financial assets at LARBEFEEEZE
fair value through profit or loss AEHBEENEMEEN
2 A (36,433) (7,107)
Foreign exchange (gains)/losses, net & (Wak) B8 358 6 (85,867) (186,331)
(Gains)/losses on disposal of financial assets H&E A AR BESTE B HE
at fair value through profit or loss B ABHERNEREE
B (M a) B8 6 (1,014) 5,624
Fair value losses on derivative instruments T4 T AWM AR EEEE 6 86 26,869
Fair value (gains)/losses on financial assets A At BEE S B E# 85t
at fair value through profit or loss AEHBEENEMEEN
AnEE M) EiE 6 (17.724) 74,831
Losses on disposal of items of property, HEWE BEREEEEN
plant and equipment B8 6 1,678 2,760
Gains on disposal of investment SR B = N B A B I as
in associates 6 (7,265) (21,771)
Write-down of inventories to WRTFTEZR ZEFE
net realisable value 855,380 36,434
Impairment losses on associates B N AR B ET 1B 9,801 -
Impairment losses on financial assets: TREERERAE
Impairment losses on trade receivables Z 5 EWGRIE R (EEE 24 712 48,858
Impairment losses on financial assets SFAFERRE - EfbEU R
included in prepayments, other AR E A A E A R R
receivables and other assets and due A RIEN SR EERE
from related parties 18 21,836 12,209
Total “Et 22,548 61,067
* Research and development costs are included in “Administrative expenses” in the * MEXABEEGEABIRNTHAY]
consolidated statement of profit or loss. H oo
*x There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group as the employer to *% BEA AR WA R AER (A

reduce the existing level of contributions.
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B 75 o3k B 7T
31 December 2023
—FE-—=F+-H=+—H

OTHER EXPENSES 8. HttBixx
An analysis of other expenses is as follows: HRAZ AT ¢
2023 2022
—EB-= —EF-—
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® T ARET T
Special loss* Rl B 1R 74,524 -
Others EHAh 4,004 1,648
Total 45 78,528 1,648
@ Techdow Pharma lItaly S.R.L. (“Techdow Italy”), a subsidiary of the Group, @ AN £ B F A BlTechdow Pharma ltaly

encountered telecommunication fraud in December 2023, during which the general
manager of Techdow lItaly overrode the internal control process and made various
payments without going through designated approval procedures. Up to early January
2024, an aggregate amount of approximately EUR11.7 million had been remitted to
several counter-party bank accounts. From among, approximately EUR9.74 million
(equivalent to RMB74,524,000) was included in other expenses for the year ended 31
December 2023.

SRLUXRBEAM DR =T =_=F+=
AEBEER  HRXEEAFBLE
B ARIESIRR - FERBIBIETEEAR
FREATEINZERBE - BHE-T -
F—A% AR T70BBUTHEAY S
L ERITERS - He - 899748 BT (48
R ARKT4,524,00000) Wt ABEZ
To=F+-A=t—HALFENHEMHE

i °
FINANCE COSTS 9. WMEMK
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BEXKARDITAOT
2023 2022
—E-=F —F—_—
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
Interest expenses on: NTEBHFELH
Bank borrowings RITER 185,053 160,912
Corporate bonds NGILEE - 33,342 69,327
Lease liabilities HEA®E 4,824 5,003
Subtotal ANGIF 223,219 235,242
Other finance costs H fth 7h & Bk A 4,868 10,387
Total Pl 228,087 245,629
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Notes to Financial Statements

B 7% shoas Y AT
31 December 2023
—E - =Ff+-H=+—H

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’
REMUNERATION

The remuneration of each director and supervisor as recorded during the year
is set out below:

10. EERESEHM

RERNFSNERREFHFMEIMOT

2023 2022
—EBC-=F —_ T
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETF T
Fees we 300 300
Other emoluments: Hi 4 :
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EREREMER 4,736 5,237
Performance related bonuses* 1A SR AT * 4,203 4,197
Pension scheme contributions BRIREFTEIHK 156 166
Subtotal N 9,095 9,600
Total BRE 9,395 9,900
@ Certain executive directors and supervisors of the Company are entitled to bonus 7 AKARETHITEERESHRESTE

payments which are determined as a percentage of the profit after tax of the Group.

A AKBERBRERFNE D LEE °

(a) Independent non-executive directors () BIAFEHITES
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during the year FRINFBIIERITESNRE
were as follows: W
2023 2022
—EZ=F —EF-—
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ET T ARETT
Mr. Chen Junfa (note (i)) BR {2 3% 5 A (PR E(I)) 42 100
Mr. Wang Zhaohui (note (i) TR A (M EG)) 42 100
Mr. Huang Peng (note (ii) =M 5k A (B (i) 58 -
Mr. Yi Ming (note (ii)) 5 88 55 A& (B aE(Gi)) 58 -
Mr. Lv Chuan &)l 5 & 100 100
Total A&t 300 300
There were no other emoluments payable to the independent FAREEMENBIIENITES
non-executive directors during the year (2022: Nil). e (ZE——F:F) -
Note: Bt 3
(i) Retired as an independent non-executive director on 22 May 2023. U %:E;Eiﬁﬁ ST=REREH
TIERITES -
(i) Appointed as an independent non-executive director on 22 May 2023. (i R=F==FRA-FT-HEZE

BIUFFRITESE -
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10. DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’
REMUNERATION (Continued)

(b) Executive directors and supervisors

Notes to Financial Statements

B 75 i 3% B oE

31 December 2023

—EFE-—=Ff+—-H=+—H

10. ESREEHM (&)

(b) BITEERES

Salaries,
allowances Performance Pension
and benefits Related Scheme Total
Year ended 31 December 2023 in kind bonuses contributions remuneration
BE-Z-=ft+-A=+-8 e 2 Bk
LEE RENER &M AL SRR FMam
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T ARBTR ARETR ARET
Executive directors: ITES
Mr. Li Li FEEE 1,482 1,437 56 2,975
Ms. Li Tan =St G 1,223 1,222 9 2,454
Mr. Shan Yu BFERE 1,309 1,330 8 2,647
Subtotal INEE 4,014 3,989 73 8,076
Supervisors EE
Mr. Zheng Zehui BEBLAE 100 - - 100
Mr. Tang Haijun B EE 339 116 45 500
Ms. Su Jilan Be@at 283 98 38 419
Subtotal et 722 214 83 1,019
Total X 4,736 4,203 156 9,095
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31 December 2023
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10. DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’
REMUNERATION (Continued)

(b) Executive directors and supervisors (Continued)

10. EERESHM (&

(b) HITESERES(A)

Salaries,

allowances Performance Pension

and benefits Related Scheme Total
Year ended 31 December 2022 in kind bonuses contributions remuneration
BE-Z-_—_F+-A=1—H e 2R RRE
IEEE REMER BREMATE HE S e

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AREFT ARETT AREFT ARETT
Executive directors: ITES
Mr. Li Li TERE 1,472 1,437 54 2,963
Ms. Li Tan FALL 1,188 1,221 9 2,418
Mr. Shan Yu BFERE 1,301 1,330 8 2,639
Mr. Zhang Bin (note (iii)) SRR 20 A (B EGiT)) 562 = 11 573
Subtotal Nt 4,523 3,988 82 8,593
Supervisors E=x
Mr. Zheng Zehui 2L 100 - - 100
Mr. Tang Haijun B EE 336 112 45 493
Ms. Su Jilan oLt 278 97 39 414
Subtotal INET 714 209 84 1,007
Total @t 5237 4,197 166 9,600
Notes: B 5t -
(iii) Mr. Zhang Bin was appointed as an executive director of the Company with (iii) FREEA-_T-_—EFERA=-+~

effect from 26 May 2021 and resigned on 29 April 2022. BEFEERARDANITES - I

RZZZ—FNA=1+HIBEIF-
FAMBERHESHEXRERN
EEMEFMEOTH -

There was no arrangement under which a director or a supervisor
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year.
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11. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

None of the five highest paid employees during the year are directors (2022:
None), details of whose remuneration are set out in note 10 above. Details of
the remuneration for the year of the remaining five (2022: five) highest paid
employees who are not directors of the Company are as follows:

11.

B 75 3= I 7T
31 December 2023
—FE-—=F+-H=+—H

hTEBEeETMES
MEEE(CE-—F:8)AKEER
FAMAETaTIAL  EHBFHE
HREXHFEI0- EBpRAR(ZT ==
F AR WIFARRAEENTSTNE
ERFERANFBFBEOT

2023 2022

—EB-=F —F-=
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETF T
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EZREWMEF 15,064 12,943
Performance related bonuses BT AT 8,730 6,345
Pension scheme contributions RIREETEIHE R 930 1,119
Total 45T 24,724 20,407

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid employees
whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows:

FMEATHEANIEEERIFERT
BABZ=HMERABLT :

Number of employees

EE"E
2023 2022
—E_=HF —EF-—

Nil to HK$3,500,000 £ %3,500,000/8 7T = 2
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 7T £4,000,000% 7T 2 =
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 4,000,001 7T 24,500,0007% 7T = 1
HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 4,500,001 7T 25,000,000/ 7T = -
HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 5,000,001% 7T £5,500,0007# 7T 1 1
HK$5,500,001 to HK$6,000,000 5,500,001% 7T £6,000,0007% 7T = -
HK$6,000,001 to HK$6,500,000 6,000,001 7T 26,500,000/ 7T = =
HK$6,500,001 to HK$7,000,000 6,500,001% 7L 27,000,000/ 7T 1 =
HK$7,000,001 to HK$7,500,000 7,000,001% 7L 27,500,000/ 7T 1 1
Total 5t 5 5
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31 December 2023
—E - =Ff+-H=+—H

INCOME TAX

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profit arising in or
derived from the jurisdictions in which members of the Group are domiciled
and operate.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law")
and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the EIT rate of the PRC
subsidiaries is 25% unless they are subject to tax exemption set out below.

The Company was accredited as a “High and New Technology Enterprise”
in 2018, the qualification of which was subsequently renewed in 2021, and
therefore, the Company was entitled to a preferential CIT rate of 15% for
the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. This qualification is subject to
review by the relevant tax authority in the PRC for every three years.

Shenzhen Techdow Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. was accredited as a “High
and New Technology Enterprise” in 2020, the qualification of which
was subsequently renewed in 2023, and therefore, Shenzhen Techdow
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. was entitled to a preferential CIT rate of 15% for
the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. This qualification is subject to
review by the relevant tax authority in the PRC for every three years.

The Group’s entities incorporated in USA are subject to the federal corporate
tax rate of 21% for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. The state
income tax rate remains within the range from 1% to 10% for the years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

The Group's entities incorporated in Europe, other than Netherland and ltaly,
are subject to the corporate income tax at a rate ranging from 11% to 33%
for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed the Inland
Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill”) which introduces the
two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28
March 2018 and was gazetted on the following day. Under the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying
group entity are taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million are taxed
at 16.5%. The profits of the group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5% for the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.
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BB EARKME B EMFRETE)
(KB HE) ) R(REMERAR
FElRE) - PEFARNERMAEHHE
7325%  BRIFHERIUTHIE#R R -

KRABRZZE—N\FEHREA =T
3]  EBRZABN TS =Z—FEE
RAW ARABEZZT_=FK=
T+ RA=+—"BLEFEEHEESR
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Notes to Financial Statements

12. INCOME TAX (Continued)

The Group's entities incorporated in Netherland are subject to the corporate
income tax at a rate of 19% (2022: 15%) for taxable income that does not
exceed the amount of EUR200,000 (2022: EUR395,000), and if the taxable
income exceeds the amount of EUR200,000 (2022: EUR395,000), the tax
rate of 25.8% (2022: 25.8%) should apply to the portion that exceeds the
amount of EUR200,000 (2022: EUR395,000) for the year ended 31 December
2023.

The Group's entity incorporated in Italy is subject to the corporate income
tax at a rate of 24% and Imposta regionale sulle attivita produttive (“IRAP")
tax at a rate of 3.9% for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

The major components of the income tax (credit)/expense for the year are as
follows:

12.

B 75 3= I 7T
31 December 2023
—FE-—=F+-H=+—H

Fri8 B (&)
BHE-_T_=F+-A=+—HL*F
B AEBEEHEEMKRINEEZE
RB U AR B200,0008 T (Z T ==
£ : 395,000t ) KD 7EIR19% (=F
TITF 15%) B RBUN D EATISEL
fith & % B U A B #8200,0008k 7T (==
Z =4 :395,00087T) + AliE3#5200,000
BT (—Z = — 4 : 395,00087T) A3 5
JE1R25.8% (ZE = 4 : 25.8%) K9 Ft
KNSR -

BE_ T _=—F#K_-_ZT-__%+-A
=T —HIEFE  EEAFZEMEK LD
SEERBER2A%NTR BN RS
i WIZ3 9% M EBMRNET -

FRNBEH (KR) FAXHEZHEME
DT ¢

2023 2022
—EB-=F T F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ET T ARETT
(Restated)
(gE)

Current tax expense: BNEARI B X ¢
PRC M 60,356 56,733
USA =S 35,960 90,431
Elsewhere H b & 10,780 12,638
Under provision in prior years BEFERETE 4,357 (1,338)
111,453 158,464

Deferred tax credit: EEFR IR ®
PRC s (148,044) (2,873)
USA =S (46,882) (41,162)
Elsewhere H b th & (42,702) 387
(237,628) (43,648)
Total tax (credit)/charge for the year FNFHE(ER) ST HEE (126,175) 114,816

Annual Report 2023 4 /€ ¥ &



12.

Notes to Financial Statements

B 7% shoas Y AT
31 December 2023
—E - =Ff+-H=+—H

INCOME TAX (Continued)

A reconciliation of the tax (credit)/expense applicable to profit before tax at
the statutory tax rates for the jurisdictions in which the Company and the
majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the effective

12. FT5 % (&)

ABAFBRAR R REKRELS F R A
PITTE AR B R R BOOR TE B R 5T H IR R
XERERBERAENE(ER) FX

tax rates, and a reconciliation of the statutory tax rates to the effective tax WERR  UWREAEREEBERBENY
rates, are as follows: RN -
2023 2022
—E-=5F —_F-_=
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T % ARETRT %
(Restated)
(sE7))
(Loss)/Profit before tax Fial (&8),/FH (928,334) 829,851
Tax at the statutory tax rate REEBENE 2 BE (232,083) 25 206,974 25
Lower tax rate for specific provinces or 5 E & 15 sk i 75 # 72
enacted by local authority 781 B BUE B R 74,283 (8) (44,827) (5)
Effect on opening deferred tax of F =T 8 8 B W0 ST
decrease in rates HIAN & 4,607 - (15,725) (2)
Adjustments in respect of current BB EHIRM B AR B
tax of previous periods EL R A 4,357 - (1,338) =
Income not subject to tax RHUA (20,669) 2 (51,916) (6)
Expenses not deductible for tax EEk 3 36,508 (4) 746 -
Utilisation of previously unrecognised &) f 38 1E R R &
tax losses T IE 18 (54,922) 6 (12,061) (1
Tax losses and temporary difference  REER T B EE M
not recognised TEMER 88,402 (10) 50,281 6
Super deduction for research and T 28 A 2N R AR G2
development expenses (26,658) 3 (32,794) (4)
Others Hty - - 15,476 2
Tax (credit)/charge at the Group's BRAREEBNE R X
effective rate AESFE(ER),
> (126,175) 14 114,816 14

As stated in note 2.2(d), the Group has applied the mandatory exception
to recognising and disclosing information about deferred tax assets and
liabilities arising from Pillar Two income taxes, and will account for the Pillar
Two income taxes as current tax when incurred. Pillar Two legislation has
been enacted or substantively enacted in certain jurisdictions in which the
Group operates, and the legislation will be effective for the Group’s financial
year beginning 1 January 2024.

The Group is in scope of the new tax legislation. However, the legislation
was enacted close to the reporting date. Therefore, the Group is still in
the process of assessing the potential exposure to Pillar Two income taxes.
Potential exposure, if any, to Pillar Two income taxes is currently not known
or reasonably estimable.

SHENZHEN HEPALINK PHARMACEUTICAL GROUP CO., LTD. R I /8 & i 54 % = M Ak 15 A R A 7
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BR-ZZE-_NF—A—BABNAEE
M ERFE AR -

AEEBRHABRBZENERRLE - A
- ZIDETI R RS B R R -
it - NEBEDAE G A S B
BERR - XIEZMEHAEERR (10
B) BRI E A A B A



13.

14.

Notes to Financial Statements

B 75 3= I 7T
31 December 2023
—FE-—=F+-H=+—H

DIVIDENDS 13. RE
2023 2022
—ZE=-= B 4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBF T

Proposed final — nil (2022: RMB10.0 cents) BRAP-SREBRAE

per ordinary share (ZBZZF : AR%10.09) = 146,730
- 146,730

The Board has resolved not to declare a final dividend for the year ended
31 December 2023. (2022: RMB1.0 per ten ordinary shares).

(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE
;,CA)ROEKI?INARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE

The calculations of the basic and diluted earnings per share amounts are
based on the profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent,
and the weighted average number of 1,467,296,204 ordinary shares (2022:
1,467,296,204) in issue during the year as adjusted to reflect rights issue
during the year. The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in
issue during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue during the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

The calculations of basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share are based on:

14.

BEESHRTERBE_ZT_=F1+=
A=+ —BHLEFENRPKRE - (=ZF
2 FTREERARKI.0T) °

SRAAEERESEEA
BhEEBR (BER) &

BREARESRMNOAEIERTR
AIEBEREERSEABRGER  ARF
N B 3171,467,296,2048 @& (=&
— 4 1 1,467,296,2048%) H) N HE 15
AT URBEAER) - BHEZ
E_=Fr=-_F-_—_F+=-A=+—H
IEFE  ASEBEEHTNBEES
TIBAR o
HE-_ZT-_=Fk=-FT=-_—_F+=A
=+ HLEFE AEBTEDETE
EHFEE @A o

BREAREE(BR) BFNHER
i

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-Z
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR T
(Restated)
(F=5)
(Loss)/Earnings (E18) /&7
(Loss)/Profit attributable to ordinary equity BRI EBERERIFEA
holders of the parent FEAL (E518) i Fl (783,258) 727,425
Number of shares RmEE
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in & A B %17 Z @R HY
issue during the year, used in the basic and METFHE - ARETE
diluted earnings per share calculation BRERREERF 1,467,296,204  1,467,296,204

1,467,296,204 1,467,296,204
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Notes to Financial Statements

B 75 3= I 7T
31 December 2023
—FE-—=F+-H=+—H

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. M1 - BB R&RWE ()
(Continued)
As at 31 December 2023, the Group engaged independent valuers to RZEZ_=F+=A=+—H F~&H
perform the impairment test on certain property, plant and equipment. As ZRBGEMEE TYWE  BE K&
a result of the impairment assessment, impairment losses of RMB9,672,000 BHEATRERR - REBEBAE G4
was recognised in respect of the owned machine equipment. As at 31 HEBEHRZERERAREKE72,000
December 2023, the aggregate recoverable amount of these assets was THREBEE R-_TE=_=F+=A
RMB 100,632,000 which was determined based on the fair value less costs of =t+— B ZEEENUKREEES
disposal under cost approach and market approach. A AR#100,632,0000T ¢ REAK AL

MZEAN DA EERERERANETE

Below is the key input to the valuation of property, plant and equipment. NTAYE BERIEHENEZEH
AU -
Valuation Technique Significant Input Recoverable amount
& B 5 1l EAHE G dE ]

Market approach;
Disposal costs are

determined as a Replacement cost;
Machine equipment percentage of fair value Depreciation rate RMB100,632,000
MIHE  BREKAIA
e R AREENBEDLEE EERA : TEX AR #100,632,0007T
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16. LEASES

The Group as a lessee

Notes to Financial Statements

The Group has lease contracts for various items of properties, equipment,

motor vehicles and leasehold land in its operations. Lump sum payments

were made upfront to acquire the leased land from the owners with lease

periods of 30 to 50 years, and no ongoing payments will be made under the

terms of these land leases. Leases of properties generally have lease terms

between 2 and 17 years; equipment generally has lease terms between 2

and 5 years; and motor vehicles generally have lease terms between 2 and 4
years. Other equipment generally has lease terms of 12 months or less (e.g.

oxygen tanks and trucks) or is individually of low value (e.g. computers and

printers).

B 75 3= I 7T
31 December 2023
—FE-—=F+-H=+—H

16. A E

AEBEERABEA
AEERAGEREANSENE -

B HHERHEE iﬂﬁlﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁfﬂg/ﬁ
#) o BRAIEH — RN FEARZE W
BHE L HER30E505 - MRE
ZELHHEENGR ST BEEXN
E{EJ%KIE MEMEZHEBEE /2217

CREZTHEBRE /2ESF MK
$Zﬁ%ﬁ%%2i4$ Hi&xw 2™
HBEERNZAMARERE (MAERMER
RE) » EREETS (WEK KR
) -

(a) Right-of-use assets (a) BABEE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and the AEEFAFERAEEENREER
movements during the year are as follows: BE) T
Properties Equipment Motor vehicles Leasehold land Total
/ES RE L HELH @it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET R ARETR AR¥T R ARET R AR¥T R
As at 1 January 2022 R-ZE-_—F—HF—H 123,666 1,434 1,052 113,702 239,854
Additions i 33,272 - 269 - 33,541
Depreciation charge WEER (31,781) (1,100) (900) (4,954) (38,741)
Exchange realignment B 5 A B 9,708 90 9) - 9,789
As at 31 December 2022 and A-ZT -4
1 January 2023 +tZA=+t—Hk
“E-=fF-R— 134,865 424 406 108,748 244,443
Additions Gk 11,986 - 1,358 - 13,344
Depreciation charge WEER (32,608) (134) (644) (4,955) (38,341)
Early termination RAARLE (727) - = = (727)
Exchange realignment Rk 2,050 6 108 - 2,164
As at 31 December 2023 R-B-=F
+-A=+—-~H 115,566 296 1,228 103,793 220,883
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B 7% shoas Y AT
31 December 2023
—E - =Ff+-H=+—H

16. LEASES (Continued) 16. & (&
(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEEE
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements during the FAHEAENEREEERES N
year are as follows: 1
2023 2022
—EB-=F —TE-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AR T
Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—BHEEEA 146,439 135,755
New leases HEE 13,344 33,541
Accretion of interest recognised during the year 4 A& 2 & 7 2 1 0 4,824 5,003
Payments XA (37,983) (38,325)
Early termination RATARIE (806) -
Exchange realignment (RIS 2,402 10,465
Carrying amount at 31 December R+t-—A=+—B8EEE 128,220 146,439
Analysed into: DA
Current portion BUVER & 5> 37,803 35,690
Non-current portion FEBNERED 90,417 110,749
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 44 to the HEBBENE B S NEM KR
financial statements. KM F44R T -
(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation (c) BHEEERZPERZNL
to leases are as follows: BT
2023 2022
—E-=F T
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T AR T T
Interest on lease liabilities HEABENFE 4,824 5,003
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets CRAREERES 38,341 38,741
Expense relating to short-term leases EEA SRR 748 1,013
Expense relating to leases of low-value assets HEEEEEHEEHE N 3,000 1,475
Total amount recognised in profit or loss RIBE P ERNFIEEEE 46,913 46,232
(d) The total cash outflow for leases and future cash outflow relating to (d) HEEMRLSREETER M RBBE
leases that have not yet commenced are disclosed in notes 38 and 44, HENARKRE SR L SED BIRHT
respectively, to the financial statements. B &AM TE38 R 44 B R
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B 75 3= I 7T
31 December 2023
—E_=Ff+_H=+—H

16. LEASES (Continued) 16. & (&)
The Group as a lessor rEBEREHEA

The Group leases its certain properties (note 15) consisting of certain REBRBEEHERHEEETEFRE
buildings in Chinese Mainland under operating lease arrangements. The A E T (M15) - BEETE
terms of the leases generally require the tenants to pay security deposits and £y  HEBKR —REKBEPL ZMRE
provide for periodic rent adjustments according to the then prevailing market ® WHRESVREBEERTREHAEME
conditions. Rental income recognised by the Group during the year was @ o AEBRFRAERANESWARA
RMB13,627,000 (2022: RMB7,178,000), details of which are included in note R#13,627,000(ZE-__F : ARK
6 to the financial statements. 7,178,0007T) * FFIEE RIS HMKHITE6
At 31 December 2023, the undiscounted lease payments receivable by the RZEZ=F+=-A=+—H Kx&EH
Group in future periods under non-cancellable operating leases with its RIREEM P ET S 2 DAl fUH A < HE R
tenants are as follows: RREARE 2 FEYCRBE IR EN AT

2023 2022

—E=-= —E-—F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARBF T

Within one year —F R 12,744 8,013

After one year but within two years —FRERRER 9,781 7,905
After two years but within three years MEBRER=FA 8,160 -
After three years but within four years =FHBREREFR 7,292 -
After four years but within five years MEZBRAFA 5,320 -

Total F 43,297 15,918
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B 7% shoas Y AT
31 December 2023
—E - =Ff+-H=+—H

GOODWILL 17. B8
RMB’000
ARBTT
At 1 January 2022: R-ZTB-_—_F—-HA—H:
Cost A A 2,152,201
Accumulated impairment 25RE =
Net carrying amount AR EFE 2,152,201
Cost at 1 January 2022, net of accumulated impairment R-_TE-_—_F—H—HAKA -
Bk RFHRE 2,152,201
Impairment during the year FRRE -
Exchange realignment bE W T 198,791
At 31 December 2022 R-_ZE-_—_F+-_H=+—H 2,350,992
At 31 December 2022: N-B-=—F+=-Hg=+—8:
Cost [Pz 2,350,992
Accumulated impairment ZEHRE -
Net carrying amount BR L FE 2,350,992
Cost at 1 January 2023, net of accumulated impairment RZEZ=F—HA—HHKKRA "
Bk REHRE 2,350,992
Impairment during the year FARE (68,483)
Exchange realignment E X A 39,866
Cost and net carrying amount at 31 December 2023 R-E-_=ZF+-_A=1+—HAOKAR
BRMFE 2,322,375
At 31 December 2023: R-ZB-=%+=-A=+—-8:
Cost B9 2,390,858
Accumulated impairment ZERE (68,483)
Net carrying amount BRTE A 2,322,375
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Notes to Financial Statements

17. GOODWILL (Continued)

Impairment testing of goodwiill
On 9 April 2014, goodwill arising from the acquisition of SPL Acquisition

Corp. amounted to RMB1,297,621,000.

On 5 October 2015, goodwill arising from the acquisition of Cytovance
Biologics Inc. amounted to RMB814,940,000.

Goodwill is allocated to Heparin SPL cash-generating unit (“SPL CGU")
and CDMO cash-generating unit (“CDMO CGU") (collectively of the two
above, the “CGUs") for impairment testing. The recoverable amounts of
the Heparin SPL CGU and CDMO CGU have been determined based on the
higher of VIU and FVLCD. VIU is determined using cash flow projections
based on financial budgets covering a five-year period approved by senior
management. In measuring FVLCD, multiple valuation techniques are used
to measure fair value. The fair value is evaluated using a combination of the
income approach and the market approach, with 50 percent weighting for
each approach.

The respective recoverable amounts and the carrying values of the CGUs as
at 31 December 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

B 75 2% MY 5
31 December 2023
—FE-—=F+-H=+—H

17. BE (&)

EE N ERR
WZZE—-—mMFEMm@MAAH - KESPL
Acquisition Corp. EAEHE B AARK
1,297,621,0007T °

R=ZZT—AF+AAAB - KEECytovance
Biologics INCEXAHWEAERARE
814,940,0007T °

B2 LA D B 48 BT E=SPLIR & & 4 B (L N
CDMOBR G ELBEMN (U LE-FEHRBIR
SEESEN])ETRERR o FFESPLER
SELBEMMCDMOBRSELEMN 27
el e IEERBERA N BERL
ERANBSEET FREBEKRHBE
REREBRENEN A FHRPEES
MRS TREREAFESE - EFEQR
BERLEXAR IRBZEMGER
M2 AR EBE - DABERARAE
RS EREE N E (FH50% M R%E
BEE)HFHSE -

RZE_=FR=_FT-__F+=A
=t+—HMNBRSELBMNMAIKRE S5
MEREERT -

Heparin SPL CGU HFESPLE 2 E£EN
2023 2022
—EB-=F — T
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AREF T
Recoverable amount AJ U el & 58 3,624,926 3,521,998
Carrying value including allocated goodwill FEE(BEEIREEE) 3,351,954 3,101,140
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GOODWILL (Continued)

ts

Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)

17.

BE ()

EE KR ERH (&)

CDMO CGU CODMOZE £ ELE
2023 2022
—EB-=HF —F-_=
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR T ARETF T
Recoverable amount A ik Bl & 58 1,723,373 2,033,344
Carrying value including allocated goodwill REE(BEEIREE) 1,791,856 1,855,349

i The recoverable amount was determined based on FVLCD.

a The recoverable amount was determined based on VIU.

For income approach, the pre-tax discount rates applied to the cash flow
projections, the forecasted growth rates and earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortisation (“EBITDA") margin used to extrapolate cash

flow projections and terminal growth rates are as follows:

L ARES R AR BER L B AHEE

2 AREeREERERRETE

MUBRAEM S - RABRB AR RHELT
ReRETER  AREE RS RE=7E 8
WIER R EMANBRFE - FHIE I
ER#EN 2T (TEBITDA]) FIBRAR

BB REQNT ¢
Heparin SPL CGU HFESPLE £ ELEN
2023 2022
—E-= —E-—F
Revenue growth average rates WA TG R R 1% 14%
EBITDA average margin EBITDAYF 35 Fl) A &= 28% 24%
After-tax discount rate HMEFHE 11.5% 12.5%
Terminal revenue growth rate S Y PN 2.5% 2.5%
CDMO CGU CDMOE £ E4EW
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—
Revenue growth average rates WA 538 & =& 17% 8%
EBITDA average margin EBITDAY 39 F) B = 25% 30%
After-tax discount rate Mg IR K 14.8% 12.0%
Terminal revenue growth rate R AL K R 2.5% 2.5%
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17. GOODWILL (Continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)
Assumptions were used in the VIU calculation of the CGUs for 31 December

2023 and 2022. The following describes each key assumption on which
management has based its cash flow projections to undertake impairment
testing of goodwill:

Revenue growth rate — The revenue growth rate is based on the average
growth achieved in the past years and the expected revenue from sales of
heparin, pancreatin and CDMO services.

Budgeted EBITDA margins — The basis used to determine the value assigned
to the budgeted gross margins is the EBITDA margins achieved in the
year immediately before the budget year, increased for expected market
development.

Discount rate — The discount rate used is after tax and reflects specific risks
relating to the relevant unit.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on market development and the
discount rate are consistent with external information sources.

For market approach, fair value was determined based on ratios of enterprise
value ("EV") divided by revenue and EBITDA of several comparable public
companies for specific historical and/or forecasted years. Multiples were
selected for the respective time periods and multiplied by the revenue
and EBITDA of the related CGU, resulting in an implied EV of the CGU,
on a minority, marketable basis. Weightings were applied to the implied
indications of value and a control premium was added to arrive at an EV
on a controlling, marketable basis. The guideline companies were selected
based on a comprehensive search of publicly-listed companies in the CGU's
industry, such that the guideline companies had similar or comparable
operations and were likely exposed to similar risks as the CGU. The selected
multiples and control premium are as follows:

31 December 2023
—FE-—=F+-H=+—H

17. BE (&)

BENRENR (&)

HE—T_=FR-ZT-__F+=A
=t+—BRSEABEMNEHEERR
FAfRE - TXHEIERE BETEER
BEARmMBEFREREMKBENSEE

BER

WA RE — IRABRERTIERBESF
ERERENTHERERRFE  RE
M CDMORRFE B T8 HR S & UL A o

TEZEBITDAFE ¥ — BED THEEE
MEHEBERFERANEEAREEE
ER—FEFEFRMNEBITDAFE X - I
EREHTIS R A LM -

HEE — FERMBRE SRR
B RERERBECERBOSERR

BEAMSERNEZMREIANIEE XN
BEEIFBIBIR 2 -

RTBEME AR EBEDIBRELEE
BE(CEEE)BASETILEN M
RNEIREERE L R, SHTERFHBKRA
MEBITDAR b R & 5F o BLAR FE MY BF HR 32
BEY RERUEBRESEEEMD
I A REBITDAS HIR & EA BN ATRT
WEEERERDHER B o
A MEIE A EENIEZI AL
EENGEER R ER  BEEND
¥EBEE 2RBRAFANEEREENERS
EXABMNTERNLTRARANEZEER -
Hit - 2B AGEAEUSLAEEHED
g WEH AR EEREE S ELEMNA
LB R o BEFHREHREENT
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GOODWILL (Continued)
Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)

17. BE (&)

P AR E R ()

Heparin SPL CGU FFESPLE 2 EXEN
2023 2022
—E-=F —EF-—
Revenue multiples I A 8 n/a R H n/a 1~ iE A
EBITDA multiples EBITDARE & 9.0x & 9.7x &
Control premium 2= il 4 i (B 5.0% 5.0%
CDMO CGU CDMOE £ E4EN
2023 2022
—E-=F —_ T
Revenue multiples @R 1.5x & 2.0x-2.2x f&
EBITDA multiples EBITDAfE 2k 5.9x & 8.0x-9.0x &
Control premium 22 I HE O (B 10.0% 10.0%

Assumptions were used in the FVLCD of the CGUs for 31 December
2023 and 2022. The following describes each key assumption on which
management has based to undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Revenue multiples — The revenue multiples are based on the CGU's historical
and forecasted performance compared to those of the guideline companies,
as well as how the business has been performed relative to the plan for that
period.

EBITDA multiples — The basis used to determine the value of EBITDA multiples
is the CGU’s historical and forecasted profitability performance compared
to those of the guideline companies, as well as relative to the plan, and
initiatives driving profitability.

Control Premium — The control premium is based on review of recent

transactions in the industry and the comparability of the transactions to the
respective CGUs.
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18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 18. Hith B EE (&)
The movement in the impairment of development costs is as follows: K AREZEEWNT ¢
At 31
December 2022
and
at 1 January At 31
Milestone 2023 Addition Deletion December 2023
R-ZB__F&
+ZA=+-HE
R-ZB== R-ZB==
EER —HA—H 12 fn Mg +=A=+—H
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥TR ARBTR AR®ETR AR¥ETR
AR-301 Injection AR-301/E 51 /R - 34,843 - 34,843
INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 19. REEZE DNAIMNKRE
2023 2022
—ZE=-= —ZE-—
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T AREFIT
Share of net assets i EEFE 342,159 260,211
Goodwill on acquisition WHEFTEERNEE 894,826 952,267
1,236,985 1,212,478
Provision for impairment VERERE L] (232,939) (223,092)
Total HEt 1,004,046 989,386

At the end of the reporting period, in view of the loss-making, the directors
of the group estimated the recoverable amounts which were the higher of
VIU and the fair value less costs of disposal (“FVLCD") of the investments in
associates for the purpose of impairment testing.

In respect of the recoverable amount using VIU, the discounted cash flow
calculations were based on cash flow projections estimated by management
and the key assumptions adopted in these cash flow projections include
revenue growth rate, profit margins and discount rate. In respect of the
recoverable amount based on FVLCD, the FVLCD was calculated using certain
key valuation assumptions including the selection of comparable companies,
recent market transactions and liquidity discount for lack of marketability.

As a result, impairment provision made against the carrying amounts of the
above investments in associates during the year ended 31 December 2023
were RMB232,939 (2022: RMB223,092).

RI|BEHR BEREEER AEEE
Epta i E S (BIREE AR 2R E N
EREERERLBERLEXAMRE S
MWREE) FHHEETRENR -

MREAEREEN KRB SE - B3R
RenENFEDERERREEHR
EREBEA  ZERERBAARAH
TERREBEBRAEER  MBHXE
BE-BARERAABERBBERAD
Al E SR A EERDERANE
ERATEATIZEAERR SREIE
AELBORE  BENTSR SRR
Z ISR B MERE R o

At "EBREE T -_=F+_AH
=+—BLFEE RERREBEEQAF
ZEENEBEMIEBREREBEARE
232,939 (=T = =4 : AR¥223,092
JL) °
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B 75 v 2% B 7E
31 December 2023
—E - =Ff+-H=+—H

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Notes to Financial Statements

19. REBMEQRRANWRE (&

As of 31 December 2023, particulars of the Group's associates are as follows:

Place of

HE-_T-_=F+-A=+—80 &%
EEE A BNFBOT

Percentage of
ownership interest

Particulars of registration attributable to
Name issued shares held and business the Group Principal activities
Fse &7 BERFEEH
A1 R 17 19 3 15 AMAEE LY FHEEEREEOML TEEH
Hightide Therapeutics, Inc. (hereafter, the "HighTide") Ordinary shares Cayman Islands 23.61% Biopharmaceutical R&D
BXREH(UTHEIEZR]) el HeiS Gk Tk
Resverlogix Corp. Ordinary shares Canada 31.31% Biopharmaceutical R&D
el IEYN G /b2 Tk
OncoQuest Inc. Ordinary shares Canada 36.08% Biopharmaceutical R&D
EBR MER MBI
Shenzhen Asia Pacific Health Management Co., Ltd. Ordinary shares PRC/ 27.43% Health Management
AT EARRERERAA AR Chinese Mainland consulting
& BEEEZN
Quest Pharma Tech Inc. (hereafter, the “Quest”) Ordinary shares Canada 14.78% Biopharmaceutical R&D
Quest Pharma Tech Inc. (b4 T 7% [ Quest ) EER nex B S B %
Shanghai Taiyi Venture Capital Partnership Limited partnership PRC/ 49.58% Investment Management
(limited partnership) ERAE Chinese Mainland REEHE
TERFAEREAR L (ARAR) HE
The Group's shareholdings in the associates all comprise equity shares BREXR RIMEAREEEBERAD

held by the Company, except for HighTide, Shenzhen Asia Pacific Health

Management Co., Ltd., Quest and OncoQuest Inc., the shareholdings in
which are held or partially held through a subsidiary of the Company.

The financial years of the above associates are coterminous with that of the
Group, except for Quest Pharma Tech Inc and OncoQuest Inc which have
a financial year ending 31 January. The consolidated financial statements
are adjusted for significant transactions or events, including those among
Quest Pharma Tech Inc, OncoQuest Inc and group companies, between 1
January and 31 January. Quest Pharma Tech Inc and OncoQuest Inc uses 31
January as their financial year end date to conform with that of their holding
company.

SHENZHEN HEPALINK PHARMACEUTICAL GROUP CO., LTD. R I /8 & i 54 % = M Ak 15 A R A 7

Al * Quest&OncoQuest Inc.gh @ A< &= E
REERRNBREBRERRAMEE
HREHE M SEREDBRBAQRRN—
RTARIFAEXBAIFTE -

% Quest Pharma Tech IncX&OncoQuest
N REEABZE—A=+—08%"
B E RNV BRFEFEERNEEAN
MHEE - -SEMBEREMREAR
PREHETTRAE BE—HA—RB=ZE
— A =+ — HH[EQuest Pharma Tech
Inc * OncoQuest Inck & B R 7 2 A&/
R 58 EF > Quest Pharma Tech Inck
OncoQuest IncA—A=+—RH{EAHY
BEEMERBE  WEEEERAF
SR AE— B -



Notes to Financial Statements

19. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

The Group has discontinued the recognition of its share of losses of
Shenzhen Asia Pacific Health Management Co., Ltd. because the share of
losses of the associate exceeded the Group’s interest in the associate and
the Group has no obligation to take up further losses. The amounts of
the Group's unrecognised share of losses of this associate for the current
year and cumulatively were RMB7,703,000 (2022: RMB18,160,000) and
RMB25,864,000 (2022: RMB18,160,000), respectively.

HighTide, which is considered as material associate of the Group, is strategic
partner of the Group and is accounted for using the equity method.

The following table illustrates the summarised financial information in respect

B 75 3= I 7T
31 December 2023
—FE-—=F+-H=+—H

19. RBEERRANRE (&)
AREEKILBRRESD
FERARARNEE

R T 22 K
TJEEEMNE%Z

BELRNBEBET AEENZEE

NEMER  TEAEETES

EAE

FZNER AEERAFERRFD

HZBERRABRANEBRSES
A R #7,703,0007T (

— = — —

=

Bl &
F:AR

#18,160,0007T) & A R#25,864,0007T
(ZZ == : AR¥18,160,0007T) °

RIRSAEEE AR -

ANEXRB

REBWBIEBH - WERAEEEAR

TREJNEREZFTNHBERME -

of HighTide adjusted for any differences in accounting policies and reconciled HERBEHBRENEZEELAE I
to the carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements: EHGEAMBRERPHNETDSFETY
AR -
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T AR T
Current assets REEE 778,753 853,119
Non-current assets, excluding goodwill IEMBEE  TEERE 16,283 503,448
Current liabilities mEE & (79.810) (57,805)
Non-current liabilities FERBAR (12,451) (1,266,645)
Net assets, excluding goodwill BEFE TEEHE 702,775 32,117
Reconciliation to the Group'’s interest in the EE 7RSS (B pOBE R A M BT BR
associate:
Proportion of the Group’s ownership NEBE R FTA RELL 23.61% 40.19%
Group's share of net assets of the associate, NEEE(REE R A
excluding goodwill EESFE TEERE 165,925 12,908
Goodwill on acquisition WHE pTE R P 2 288,885 310,217
Carrying amount of the investment REMNEmRE 454,810 323,125
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INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 19. REBERBINIRE (&)
2023 2022
—EC-=F —F-—
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBF T
Revenue I ON 34 188
Loss for the year FAEE (939,306) (191,122)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income Hipz2m (FE), s (13,442) (33,084)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FREMEEIBEEE (952,748) (224,206)
The following table illustrates the summarised financial information of the TREGMEAREE L IFERNERNASE
Group's associates that are not individually material to the Group: HE L AN ERME
2023 2022
—=E=-= —Z ==
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TR AR T
Share of the joint ventures’ profit for the year F ARG & A B A (79,742) (14,656)
Share of the joint ventures’ other comprehensive £ [A] [ {5 Bt 44 2% 7] B9 B fib 2 T8 Y 25
income (51) (39)
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s REERBERTZREN
investments in the joint ventures BREAE 549,236 666,261
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B 75 3= I 7T
31 December 2023
—E_=Ff+_H=+—H

20. EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED AT FAIR 20. EEAUDNAREEGER
VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE HE8st AHMEEKE
INCOME HRERE

2023 2022
—E-=F —EF-—
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T ARBF T
Equity investments designated at fair value ¥ EAUAAEBEFEBEELSEHFA
through other comprehensive income Htr2HKaWRERE
Listed equity investments, at fair value NAREBEFENE ETRERE :
Aridis Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Aridis Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 436 7,219
Rapid Micro Biosystems, Inc. Rapid Micro Biosystems, Inc. 129 194
Subtotal NEE 565 7,413
Unlisted equity investments, at fair value RARBEFENHR ETRERE
Curemark, LLC Curemark, LLC 503,000 499,733
Subtotal INEE 503,000 499,733
Total wEt 503,565 507,146
The above equity investments were irrevocably designated at fair value LR ERE TR BRI E AR B
through other comprehensive income as the Group considered these B2 AHEEHA AR M2 EIKES -
investments to be strategic in nature. REAEERRZERELGHBILEE -
The market value of the Group’s listed equity investment in Aridis NEE@ A Aridis Pharmaceuticals, Inc.#)
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. at the date of approval of these financial statements FTRERER ARG B REIER B
was approximately RMB486,000. M EA A AR 486,0007T ©
The market value of the Group’s listed equity investment in Rapid Micro K & E 7 Rapid Micro Biosystems, Inc.HJ
Biosystems, Inc. at the date of approval of these financial statements was TR AR E R AN B A SRk B B HAEY
approximately RMB169,000. MELD A AREE169,0007T ©
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31 December 2023
—E - =Ff+-H=+—H

21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 21. LA AREBEEBEEET

=5
PROFIT OR LOSS AAAEBHEENERMEE
2023 2022
—®=-= —E-=
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBFTT
Current assets MENEE
Wealth management products O E 354,294 1,264,375
Convertible Debenture EELEEs 54,913 47,258
Listed equity investments, at fair value ETRERE  UAREERE 4,977 =
Total FE 414,184 1,311,633
Non-current assets ERBEE
Listed equity investments, at fair value NAREBEMENE EHRERE
GT BioPharma, Inc. GT BioPharma, Inc. - 8,713
Unlisted investments, at fair value REMERE  BAREEEZ
TPG Biotechnology Partners IV, L.P. TPG Biotechnology Partners IV, L.P. 3,612 5,535
TPG Biotechnology Partners V, L.P. TPG Biotechnology Partners V, L.P. 334,862 260,024
ORI Healthcare Fund, L.P. ORI Healthcare Fund, L.P. 191,732 224,306
ORI Healthcare Fund I, L.P. ORI Healthcare Fund II, L.P. 271,834 237,645
Shenzhen Top Dental Medical Co., Ltd. YT R A B LB AR () B PR A A 103,000 116,000
Hejia Hongli (Hang Zu) Venture Investment E55ME (BUN) B3I E
Partnership (L.P.) aRrE(ERER) 32,674 34,700
Others H 1 68,653 80,653
Subtotal /NEF 1,006,367 958,863
Total it 1,006,367 967,576
The above equity investments at 31 December 2023 were classified as RZEZ=F+=A=+—H Lk
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as they were held for BERERABEEEBARASE REE
trading, or as the Group has not elected to recognise the fair value gain or BRHEMEAKGRBERAABEERM
loss through other comprehensive income. PEREANBEAEEEEIHTAE

HEENEREE -

The wealth management products were issued by banks in Chinese MEBTEBEERDBAPERHRITET -
Mainland. They were mandatorily classified as financial assets at fair value Weahl D E AN AR BEAEHLHE

through profit or loss as their contractual cash flows are not solely payments AAEHESNEREE  DHRES
of principal and interest. FR&RENIHERAE RFBHRFK o
The market value of the Group's listed equity investments at the date of AEERGT BioPharma, Inc.Hy i1 ik
approval of GT BioPharma, Inc. was approximately RMB5,296,000. BERAMERELEBHOTENR

AR ¥5,296,0007T °
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22. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

B 75 R 3R MY R

31 December 2023

—E - =FF+-A=+—H

HitbFERBEE

2023 2022

—E-=F —F-—
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBFT

Prepayment for purchase of property, BEYE BENMREBOFEMNZKE

plant and equipment 80,575 95,465
Prepayment for marketing authorisation T35 & $H &7 Al FE A 5R08 81,078 -
Long-term rent receivables REEWHES 951 1,493
Bond security deposits (a) BHREL@Q) 25,000 112,000
Prepayment for investment (b) 1% & 78 1+t 7 A (b) 16,261 15,990
Total #at 203,865 224,948

(a)

On 27 February 2020, the Company issued a corporate bond at a
par value of RMB870,000,000 in the PRC (the “20 Hepalink”). Bond
security deposits of RMB87,000,000 were pledged to a third-party
guarantor, in order to guarantee the realisation of the creditor’s rights.
This bond was due on 23 February 2023, and the security deposits was
called on 20 March 2023.

On 1 April 2022, the Company issued a corporate bond at a par value
of RMB500,000,000 in the PRC (the “22 Hepalink”). Bond security
deposits of RMB25,000,000 were pledged to a third-party guarantor,
in order to guarantee the realisation of the creditor’s rights. The
information about the corporate bond is disclosed in note 31 to the
financial statements.

The prepayment for investment represents the undelivered equity
consideration of Curemark. SPL Distribution LLC, a subsidiary of the
Group, provided active pharmaceutical ingredients and services to its
customer, Curemark, as the prepayment for investment.

RZTBEZZF-_A=++tH" K
ARRPBEETEAEAARE
870,000,000 T H) A A& % ([ 2078
B - AREEENESR am
EHERANERESFRESR

K %87,000,0007T ° %%%%‘%Eé:z
—=F-_A=-+=HEHH  RE

RZTE-—=F=F =+ HWES -

RZEZZFWA—H AR
RPBRFETEHEAARE
500,000,0007T KA A& ([223%
E%])  c AREBEENESR - BER
E=FERANEREFRESAR
#25,000,0007T ° B A RIEHK
BRI IR EI1P B R o

& & T8 1 5 IE ¥ Curemark & K 32
AR #E 4 (8 - AN & B +F 2 AISPL
Distribution LLCM & S Curemark
R RE BRI RS - (ERIRETRN
FRIA o
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Notes to Financial Statements

B 7% shoas Y AT
31 December 2023
—E - =Ff+-H=+—H

INVENTORIES 23. 78

2023 2022

—E-=F —_E=_=
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ET T ARETF T
Raw materials and consumables R RLHFLE #E SR 2,723,654 3,074,003
Work in progress TR 645,219 934,695
Finished goods SR G 3,285,238 2,835,208
Total R 6,654,111 6,843,906

The inventories are net of a write-down of approximately RMB896,347,000
(2022: RMB95,080,000) as at 31 December 2023.

The information about the pledged assets is disclosed in note 40 to the
financial statements.

R-ZE-_=F+_-_A=+—8B " F&HN
4 MR & 58 40 A R #896,347,0007T (—
T4 : AR¥95,080,0005T) °

EHEEBEENERN R B HREWE
407 #E FE o

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 2. EFEWURERERERE
2023 2022

—EBE-=F —F-_=
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
Trade receivables B 5 R IE 1,300,441 1,712,557
Bills receivable e 3,182 8,118
Allowance for expected credit losses TEEE IR (40,039) (114,464)
Net carrying amount BREFE 1,263,584 1,606,211

The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit. The
credit period is generally from one month to three months. The Group
seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables to minimise
credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior management.
The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
over its trade receivable balances. The balances of trade receivables are
non-interest-bearing.

No trade receivables are included in the Group’s trade receivables due from

the Group’s associates (2022: RMB218,000), which are repayable on credit
terms similar to those offered to the major customers of the Group.

Information about the pledged assets is disclosed in note 40 to the financial
statements.

SHENZHEN HEPALINK PHARMACEUTICAL GROUP CO., LTD. R I /8 & i 54 % = M Ak 15 A R A 7

AEEEEFNBESBRREIBNEER
A - EAH-—KRA—Z=A  -£X&
I3 ) s AR 2 1R LR (8 R MR RROR DA
HEERREERE FREEES

EH%E@%%%%E © $%@I%E¢ﬁféﬂ%
FEUWGRIR AR A M ER R EME
RERTE - BHRUGRIRESRBRE

REBRE 5 BRI E T A EUA
SEBEARFREB(ZZZ2F: AR%
218,0007T) @ ZERIEEIRBLURHE T
AEBEXEZFNEEKRREE -

BB EMEER AR5 ®K M &
407 IR o



Notes to Financial Statements
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24. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (Continued)

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at the end of reporting
period, based on the invoice date and net of allowance for expected credit

31 December 2023

—E - =FF+-A=+—H

 HREURAR B LR

(%)

ERZERAHINBRBERBERER
& NBSHREZREFARERE

losses, is as follows: BORRITAOT ¢
2023 2022
—EBE-=F —E - F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ET T ARETT
Within 1 year 1F R 1,250,716 1,601,907
1 year to 2 years 1FEF2F 29,080 22,566
2 years to 3 years 2ERB3F 10,992 69,085
Over 3 years 3FE E 12,835 27,117
1,303,623 1,720,675
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses o TEERE BB 40,039 (114,464)
Net carrying amount BREFE 1,263,584 1,606,211

The movements in the allowance for expected credit losses of trade receivables

are as follows:

W -

2023 2022

—EZZ=F —EF-—
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ET T ARETT
At beginning of year =)} 114,464 86,299
Impairment losses, net REEE - TR 712 48,858
Amount written off as uncollectible ] U B 9 8 < KB (76,268) (23,841)
Exchange realignment R 1,131 3,148
At end of year FR 40,039 114,464

Annual Report 2023 4 /€ ¥ &



24.

Notes to Financial Statements

B 7% shoas Y AT
31 December 2023
—E - =Ff+-H=+—H

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The decrease (2022: increase) in the loss allowance was due to the following
significant changes in the gross carrying amount:

(a) Decrease in the loss allowance of RMB76,267,650 (2022: Nil) as a
result of the write-off of certain trade receivables.

The Group applies the simplified approach to providing for expected credit
losses prescribed by IFRS 9, which permits the use of the lifetime expected
credit loss provision for all trade receivables.

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a provision
matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision rates are based on
days past due for groupings of various customer segments with similar loss
patterns. The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time
value of money and reasonable and supportable information that is available
at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions. Generally, trade receivables are written off when
there is information indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when
the counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the
Group's trade receivables using a provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2023

24.

B 5 FE O K R U o
(/Iﬁ‘éa

BREBRD (ZZT=—4F 350 DB
ER AT BRE AR E R B AZ

BREHR D AREET6,267,6507T
(ZZ==F :E8)VERETES
JE W R IB S AT R o

(a)

AEBERBEBECTEZR(BEMBHERE
Q) S8 95 M E B TR B (5 R AR AT ER B
> ZIEAEMEE S EWFRRE
REEPNERERBERES -

RERE B HRBBEEEETRES
- At EBRBEREX - BEXDE
REFBRUBBREANZ EREF 2 HA
B B R B E o AT H R BREEE h0
HER BERERNRSE BTSN
BRBEEIR - B AR ROR R &
HRANSGERTEEN - —KRME -
BERAHNKPERSGHFFERENHER
HYARERENEEARE  fINE
ZHHFERBELABEANKERF
B 5 NIRRT LA SH

TRERBBREERIAEEE S EK
FREERRMLNEFR :

R-B-_=F+=-A=+-—H

Expected
Amount loss rate Impairment
-] LR P e
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®T T % AR®T T
Current B &R 873,736 0.53 4,650
Past due less than 1 year BEDR1E 376,429 0.95 3,576
Past due 1 to 2 years BHE1 =24 26,754 37.11 9,929
Past due over 2 years BER2F LA b 23,522 93.04 21,884
Total HEt 1,300,441 40,039
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24. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (Continued) 2. ESEWREREBERERE
(#&)
As at 31 December 2022 R-ZB-ZZ=ZF+=ZH=+—H
Expected
Amount loss rate Impairment
Kok THERIB R X A
RMB'000 RMB'000
AREETTT % ARETIT
Current BN &5 1,359,076 0.50 6,795
Past due less than 1 year BEDR1F 234,724 0.90 2,113
Past due 1 to 2 years BHEE24F 22,480 52.48 11,797
Past due over 2 years BEA2F DA 96,277 97.38 93,759
Total st 1,712,557 114,464
25. CONTRACT ASSETS 25. EHNEE
2023 2022
—E-=F -
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETT
Contract assets arising from services RBEEZEHNEE 10,947 19,534
The contract assets relate to the Group's right to consideration for work BHEBEEBTAEENRE SKEBHAH
completed and not billed. R TRRKEEE 2R -
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31 December 2023
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PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
OTHER ASSETS

26. N IE » HMEWKE
REMEE

2023 2022
—E_=F —EF-—

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®BT R AR T T

Prepayments B FRIB 56,349 115,362
Deposits and other receivables* 12 & CE e WGRIE * 120,286 210,579
Value-added tax (“VAT") refund receivables RIS E R R K 35,715 20,950
VAT recoverable ] Y [B] 1% {8 Fi 121,381 118,701
Prepaid tax TEBF K 14,789 1,016
Prepaid expenses BRAX 96,490 99,452
Less: Impairment** W R E (80,581) (58,655)
Net carrying amount BRHEFE 364,429 507,405

* %

Deposits and other receivables are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and repayable on
demand.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the impairments of the financial assets included
in prepayments, other receivables and other assets were measured based on the
12-month expected credit loss if they are not past due and there is no information
indicating that the financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. Otherwise, they were measured based on the lifetime expected credit loss.

SHENZHEN HEPALINK PHARMACEUTICAL GROUP CO., LTD. R I /8 & i 54 % = M Ak 15 A R A 7
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Notes to Financial Statements

27. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, PLEDGED
DEPOSITS AND TIME DEPOSITS

B 75 o3k B 7T
31 December 2023
—E-—=F+=-A=+—H

27. BERBREEEY -EE
HERUAREHEFRK

2023 2022
—E-=F —_F_—
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AR®ETT
Cash and bank balances Re RRITHEH 1,765,645 1,319,707
Pledged deposits [REziErEE N 80 69,388
Time deposits T BiTE 3K 85,918 749,684
Subtotal /INEF 1,851,643 2,138,779
Less: N
Pledged deposits B\ RF R 80 69,388
Time deposits with original maturity REEABB=EADN
over three months: TEEFER
- non-current —3IERNHA 85,300 =
- current — BNHA 618 749,684
Cash and cash equivalents RERBFCEEY 1,765,645 1,319,707
2023 2022
—E-=F§ —E - F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET AREFTT
Cash and cash equivalents, RekBReEEY  BEBFRAR
pledged deposits and time deposits FEHER
Denominated in FAEE
- RMB — AR# 1,161,609 1,404,748
- UsD — X7 324,990 398,649
- EUR — BT 146,259 155,380
— HKD — BT 35,921 37,903
— Others — HAph 182,864 142,099
Total #at 1,851,643 2,138,779
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B 7% shoas Y AT
31 December 2023
—E - =Ff+-H=+—H

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, PLEDGED
DEPOSITS AND TIME DEPOSITS (Continued)

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however, under the
Chinese Mainland'’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration
of Settlement, and Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the
Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit
rates. Time deposits are made for varying periods of between seven days
and one year depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group
and earn interest at the respective time deposit rates. The bank balances are
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default. The
carrying amounts of the cash and bank balances approximate to their fair
values.

Pledged deposits earn interest at interest rates stipulated by the respective
financial institutions.

The information about the pledged assets is disclosed in note 40 to the
financial statements.

TRADE PAYABLES

27. BERBREEEY -EX

HERUREREFRK (&)
ARBTEEEMLBARILEY AR
1R % (o EISNE B2 ) T (B E - 518
REERAT) - AREHAIEEE
B AL 3 90 B A5 0 SRATHE AR 3 I
BEAEN -

ROTRESRBEERBRITHERMNEZF
BRI EROAE - EHERNHAR AL
RE—F BAKENANBRSFRM
E A K B HE B F KA X R ECR
B RITERFEANLEOMRHNEL N
EERIEFMIRT R RBITEBRIR

BEEMERIAE B S BHEERE R H X
BREXA B,

BEEIEMEENE RIS @K M &
407 4R o

28. EZEMNFIE

2023 2022
—E-=HF —EF-—
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARET T
Trade payables =Y VB 302,223 427,433

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the reporting
period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

REZEZAH RBRSPRNEZEN

RIERBRE DT T

2023 2022

—E-=F —E-—
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AR T
Within 1 year 1R 299,729 424,520
1 year to 2 years 1EFE2F 355 548
2 years to 3 years 2EFE3F 445 1,373
Over 3 years 3FEME 1,694 992
Total At 302,223 427,433

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled on
terms of 30 to 90 days.
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29. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 29. Hitt BN REREFTEB
2023 2022

—E-=F —EF-—
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ET T ARETT
Other payables H i & 15 318 67,320 132,219
Accruals fEstIE B 195,722 179,366

Payables for purchase of property, BEVE  BEMRERN

plant and equipment FE T 3B 42,245 33,443
Salary payables ER#H2 153,715 170,971
Other tax payables H 8 49 B 3K 38,558 29,513
Total HEt 497,560 545,512

30.

Other payables are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and repayable on

demand. The fair values of other payables at the end of each of these

financial statements approximated to their corresponding carrying amounts.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

30.

The Group recognised the following revenue-related contract liabilities:

HMEMNRESEER Tt R REAR
FRMEE - N LB HBMRAROE
EERMNRENA A EENSERELHERERE
E{E

BHEE

AEERATEHEABENENEE:

2023 2022

—EB=-= T —F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T AREF T

Sale of products SHE Em 22,859 17,724
CDMO services CDMOAR 7 339,193 410,494
Total HEt 362,052 428,218

The Group receives payments from customers based on billing schedules as

established in the sales contracts. Payments are usually received in advance

of the performance under the contracts which are mainly from domestic

customers.

The Group also receives payments from customers based on billing schedules
as established in the CDMO service contracts. Payments are usually received
in advance of the performance under the contracts which are mainly from

CDMO services for clients.

All the obligations are expected to be recognised within one year. The
amounts disclosed above do not include variable consideration which is

constrained.

AEERBHESHTRENBERRH
REWREPNF - BEEARETZAH
HREENR ZENREIEZREBRAR
=1

AN &= @ AR ECDMORR TS & 4 1 E HY
HERERBEREPNR MNRBEES
RETANKE  ZERREERE
BEFIRHEMHCODMOMRE °

FrE&EBEEN —F AR o L
RENSETBEIRGNATEYE -
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Notes to Financial Statements

B 75 ] % B oE

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER

BORROWINGS
31 December 2023

31.

Effective interest

ATERRITREAMER

—®-=f+=-HA=+-8

rate per annum Maturity RMB’000
ERERN=E BARE ARBTR
Current B
Bank loans - secured (a) BITER — FERGE) 2.95%-3.45% 2024 327,108
“EomE
Bank loans - unsecured RITEHR — BER 3.00%-3.60% 2024 997,633
2
Current portion of long-term bank loans - & H$R 1T & ENEAH 2.75%-3.80%, 2024 1,231,130
secured () — BER@Q) SOFR+Applicable margin “EZomE
SOFR+3E Fi FI B =
Other borrowings - unsecured (b) H 3 — EERD) 2.90%-4.00% 2024 556,000
“E-mE
Current portion of corporate bonds () ARIE&HENEAZE5() 1.20%-2.08% 2024 512,704
“E-mE
Total - current BEr—EnEs 3,624,575
Non-current FEBN &R
Bank loans - secured (a) RITER — BER@Q) 2.70%-3.80%, 2025-2029 1,698,292
SOFR+Applicable margin “E-REZ
SOFR+iE A 7l B % ZEChE
Bank loans - unsecured RITEF— BER 2.90%-4.00% 2025-2026 111,729
g R
—ECAE
Corporate bonds (c) YNSEEE(e) 3.8%-3.9% 2025 -
—EC-RE
Total - non-current fit—EEH 1,810,021
Total FoR 5,434,596
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31. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 31. ;T ERIT R EE K (&)
BORROWINGS (Continued)
31 December 2022 —E-—H+=-HA=+—H

Effective interest

rate per annum Maturity RMB'000
ERER % B ARETT
Current B
Bank loans — secured (a) BIEHR — BERQ) 0.88%-4.95% 2023 820,867
—Eo=F
Bank loans - unsecured BOIER — BER 0.65%-4.00% 2023 961,013
—T-=F
Current portion of long-term bank loans - EHRTERNLHBH 1.35%-4.05% 2023 728,971
secured (a) — BER@Q) LIBOR+ APPLICABLE MARGIN —ECZ=F
LIBOR+ A I &
Other borrowings - unsecured (b) Hi B3 — EER(Db) 1.20%-2.08% 2023 603,429
—E-_=F
Current portion of corporate bonds () A &IE%HENEIZ 2 () 5.50% 2023 906,504
—E-_=F
Total - current @zt 4,020,784
Non-current R
Bank loans - secured (a) BAER — HER@Q) 1.35%-4.05% 2024-2029 1,556,832
LIBOR+ APPLICABLE MARGIN —E-NER
LIBOR+ A I & S 3
Bank loans — unsecured BIEH— BER 3.80%-4.05% 2024 243,351
—ZomE
Corporate bonds (c) NGIEEE (@) 3.8%-3.9% 2025 496,497
—Z_hF
Total - non-current BEt—3ENE 2,296,680
Total st 6,317,464
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31 December 2023

Notes to Financial Statements

B 75 ] % B oE

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER

BORROWINGS (Continued)

The carrying amounts of borrowings are denominated in the following

currencies:

31. A RRIT R EMER (&)

BIATEEHENERREE

2023 2022

—E_-= —=E-—
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T T AREFTT

Denominated in BT EEEHE

- RMB — AR 4,957,142 5,246,584
- USD —3T0 265,256 575,573
- EUR —BT 212,198 495,308
Total st 5,434,596 6,317,464

An analysis of the carrying amounts of borrowings by type of interest rate is

as follows:

B ZBA B D EFREEDMTAT

2023 2022
—E-=F —EF-—
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARETT
Fixed interest rate & 7F | =& 1.20%-5.50% 0.65%-5.50%
Variable interest rate A= N P SOFR+ Libor+
Applicable Applicable
margin margin
SOFR+ LIBOR+
BB E & A &
Total BET 1.20%-5.50%, 0.65%-5.50%,

SOFR+
Applicable
margin
SOFR+
B AR E =

Libor+
Applicable
margin
LIBOR+
BAFNEX
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31. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (Continued)

31.

B 75 R 3R MY R

31 December 2023

—E - =FF+-A=+—H

ATERTREMER (A

Analysed into: DR
2023 2022
—E-=HF — T
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET T ARETF T
Repayable: AR TSR EE :
Within one year —FR 3,624,575 4,020,784
In the second year FE_F 772,003 1,404,818
In the third to fifth years, inclusive EFE=FEFRF(F) 642,237 435,195
Beyond five years REZE 395,781 456,667
Total #Er 5,434,596 6,317,464

(a)

The mortgaged and guaranteed bank loans were secured by the total
assets owned by SPL with an amount of RMB187,160,000 as at 31
December 2023 (2022: RMB465,156,000). The pledged assets have
a net carrying amount of approximately RMB2,416,165,000 as at 31
December 2023 (2022: RMB2,402,917,000).

The pledged bank loans were secured by the buildings of the
Company located in Pingshan District, Shenzhen with an amount of
RMB792,136,000 as at 31 December 2023 (2022: RMB1,133,652,000).
The buildings of the Company located in Pingshan District, Shenzhen
have a net carrying amount of approximatelyRMB702,010,000 (2022:
RMB449,592,000).

As at 31 December 2023, the pledged bank loans with an amount
of RMB320,886,000 were secured by the pledge of 100% of shares
of Shenzhen Topknow Industrial Development Co., Ltd (2022:
RMB396,233,000).

The pledged bank loans were secured by the Company with an
amount of RMB571,648,000 as at 31 December 2023 (2022:
RMB761,344,000). As at 31 December 2023, the pledge bank loans
with an amount of RMB350,089,000 were secured by Shenzhen
Techdow Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd (2022: RMB350,285,000).

R=ZZF-_=F+=-A=+—8"
£% A AR #187,160,0007T (=
T - —F: AR®465,156,000
TL) MIEBRBERRITENRA
SPLEEMEEMBERBER - R
—T_=F+=-_A=+—H" B
KIFREENEREFENAARE
2,416,165,000L (ZT=Z=F : A
R #2,402,917,0007T) °

RZTE=—_=%+=—A=+—8"
+ 5 A AR¥792,136,0007T (=
T - —4: AR¥1,133,652,000
J0) A KRR ITE KA R FII
FILEMO AR R EHEERER © L
I AR R B ER IR
HFEL A AR702,010,0007T
(ZZ=—F : AK¥449,592,000
JL) °

R-E-_=%F+-A=+—H &
7 A N R %320,886,000T (— =
——4F: AR¥396,233,0007T) H
BEABITERT BB RYIT
LELEBEXEREGBRATAI100%
B EEAR o

RZZTBZ=%+=-—A=+—H %
A NR 571,648,000 (— =
——F: AR¥761,344,0007T) H
BEEMIBITERBARAMERER -
R-B-_=F+_A=+—H %
% 5 A R #350,089,0007T (=&
——4: AR¥350,285,0007T) H
BEMIBITE KA FYITRE 5
BRARRELER -
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INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (Continued)

(b)

Other borrowings included discounted notes receivable of RMB80,000
as at 31 December 2023 (2022: RMB603,429,000).

On 23 April 2019, the Company issued a corporate bond at a par
value of RMB700,000,000 in the PRC (the “19 Hepalink”). The 19
Hepalink will mature in five years from the issue date. Upon the
third anniversary of the issue date, the Company shall be entitled to
adjust the coupon rate and the bond holders shall be entitled to sell
back the whole or partial 19 Hepalink at par, so the Company has
reclassified the 19 Hepalink from non-current portion into current
portion of corporate bonds as at 31 December 2022. The 19 Hepalink
bears interest at the rate of 5.50% per annum, payable annually in
arrears or on the business day nearest to 23 April of each year, starting
from 23 April 2019. In connection with the bond issuance, Shenzhen
Gaoxintou Group Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhen Gaoxintou"”), an independent
third party of financing and guarantee service provider, guaranteed
the repayment obligations under the bond. In return, Mr. Li Li provided
a counter-guarantee to Shenzhen Gaoxintou of such obligations, for
a period of two years from the date when Shenzhen Gaoxintou's
repayment obligations expire under its guarantee agreement. On 20
April 2022, the Company redeemed the bond.
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Notes to Financial Statements

31. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (Continued)

(@)

(Continued)

On 27 February 2020, the Company issued a corporate bond at par
value of RMB870,000,000 in the PRC (the “20 Hepalink”). The 20
Hepalink will mature in five years from the issue date. Upon the third
anniversary of the issue date, the Company shall be entitled to adjust
the coupon rate and the bond holders shall be entitled to sell back the
whole or partial 20 Hepalink at par. The 20 Hepalink bears interest
at the rate of 3.8% per annum, payable annually in arrears or on
the business day nearest to 27 February of each year, starting from
27 February 2020. In connection with the bond issuance, Shenzhen
Gaoxintou Group Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhen Gaoxintou”), an independent
third party of financing and guarantee service provider, guaranteed
the repayment obligations under the bond. In return, the Company
provided Shenzhen Gaoxintou with bond margin and the mortgage of
real estate of subsidiaries, Chengdu Shenrui Co., Ltd. and Shandong
Ruisheng Co., Ltd., as a counter-guarantee of such obligations. On 28
February 2023, the Company redeemed the bond.

On 1 April 2022, the Company issued a corporate bond at par value
of RMB500,000,000 in the PRC (the “22 Hepalink”). The 22 Hepalink
will mature in three years from the issue date. However, investors
have the option to sell back all or part of their current year bonds
to the issuer at par on the second interest payment date (April 1,
2024), or waive the investor’'s option to sell back and continue to
hold them. Upon the third anniversary of the issue date, the Company
shall be entitled to adjust the coupon rate and the bond holders shall
be entitled to sell back the whole or partial 22 Hepalink at par. The
22 Hepalink bears interest at the rate of 3.9% per annum, payable
annually in arrears or on the business day nearest to 1 April of each
year, starting from 1 April 2022. In connection with the bond issuance,
Shenzhen Gaoxintou Group Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhen Gaoxintou”), an
independent third party of financing and guarantee service provider,
guaranteed our repayment obligations under the bond. In return, the
Company provided Shenzhen Gaoxintou with bond margin and the
mortgage of real estate of subsidiaries located in Nanshan District,
Shenzhen, as a counter-guarantee of such obligation
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Notes to Financial Statements
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DEFERRED INCOME

32. IEEW A

2023 2022
—E-=F —F—_—
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BT T ARETT
Government grants BT 6 B 30,426 32,547

Government grants received for compensating for the Group's research
and development costs which have not yet been undertaken are included
in deferred income and recognised as income on a systematic basis over
the periods when the costs, which the government grants are intended to
compensate, are expensed. Government grants received related to assets
invested in laboratory equipment and plant are credited to deferred income
and recognised as income over the expected useful lives of the relevant
assets.
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Notes to Financial Statements

33. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have
been offset in the consolidated statement of financial position. The following
is an analysis of the deferred tax balances of the Group for financial reporting

33.
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EEFRSH (&

RENZY EEETREEMSHEE
HEBENERMIBIRRERIEE - ATR
hAR BLEA 7 R B AR R B IR E TS R

purposes: HEERER DT
2023 2022
—EB-=F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®B T ARETT
(Restated)
(&)
Net deferred tax assets recognised in the RERE B 75K 5 3R 1 sR A0
consolidated statement of financial position RIEFREREEFE (320,503) (141,475)
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the RERE AR R IERE
consolidated statement of financial position BEFMSHAEFE 252,568 328,920
Net deferred tax (assets)/liabilities BEHIB(BE) BREFE (67,935) 187,445

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following
items:

BRI TR B B R EPTS T E B W K

7 .
P -

2023 2022

—E-=F —_=E=_=
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ET T ARETTT
Impairment of assets BERE 22,131 40,793
Tax losses HIEEE 327,645 512,913
349,776 553,706

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried forward to
the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefits through future
taxable profits is probable. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in
respect of losses arising in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some
time and it is not considered probable that taxable profits will be available
against which the tax losses can be utilised.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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LONG-TERM EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

34. REIEERF

2023 2022

—EBC-=F —EF-—
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARMET T
Stock appreciation rights A% 2= 1% (H fE 4,156 19,452
Defined benefit retirement obligation AREMDBAREE 31,117 32,486
35,273 51,938

(a) Stock Appreciation Rights (SARs)
The board of SPL Acquisition Corp(“SPL"), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, approved a long-term incentive plan in December
2015. Under this plan, SPL could issue up to 50,000 Stock Appreciation
Rights (“"SARs"”). As at 31 December 2023, 12,075 SARs (2022: 23,758
SARs) was outstanding under the plan.

Pursuant to the long-term incentive plan, the income obtained by the
beneficiary is the incremental part between the exercise value and the
initial value. The exercise value is the lesser of the common stock value
and the formula value, among which, the formula value is the specified
EBITDA divided by the shares of common stocks.

The initial values of SARs granted in 2015, 2016 and 2017 were
$562.30 per SARs, $562.30 per SARs and $500.62 per SARs,
respectively. The settlement or payment of SARs may be in the form of
cash or equivalent SPL’s or the Company’s common stock, or both. The
vest of SARs lasts for four years and the expiration date is in the tenth
year from the grant date. Vesting of SARs is in accordance with the
terms in the respective grant agreements signed with the participants.
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Notes to Financial Statements

34. LONG-TERM EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Stock Appreciation Rights (SARs) (Continued)

Any vested SARs granted shall become exercisable in three equal
instalments with the first instalment becoming exercisable on the
fifth anniversary of the grant date and the next two instalments on
the sixth anniversary of the grant date and the seventh anniversary
of the grant date. As at 31 December 2023, the SARs plan has been
terminated. The remaining vested SARs is 12,075 (2022: 23,758 SARs)
and RMB4,156,000 is payable to employees.

Defined Benefit Retirement Obligation
The Group makes contributions to a defined benefit retirement plan

for the employees working in SPL Acquisition Corp., which covers 10%
of the Group’s employees during the years ended 31 December 2023
(2022: 9%). The plan is administered by a trustee, who is independent,
with its assets held separately from those of the Group.

The plan is funded by contributions from the Group in accordance
with an independent actuary’s recommendation based on an annual
actuarial valuation. The independent actuarial valuation of the plan
during the relevant years was prepared by certified insurance actuaries
of AON plc by using the projected unit cost method. The actuarial
valuation indicates that the Group’s obligations under the defined
benefit retirement plan were 77% covered by the plan assets held
by the trustees at 31 December 2023 (2022: 74%). The deficit arises
mainly as a result of local funding rules.

The plan exposes the Group to actuarial risks, such as longevity risk,
currency risk, interest rate risk and market risk.
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LONG-TERM EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (Continued)

(b) Defined Benefit Retirement Obligation (Continued)
(i) The amounts recognised in the consolidated

3. RHAIEERF (42

(b) RERZRAKEE(AF)
(i) RESHBMRIEA

statement of financial position are as follows: RS T
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARETT
Present value of wholly or 2RI HERENET
partly funded by obligation #iRE 155,846 144,701
Fair value of plan assets FEBEZAAEBE (119,474) (107,598)
36,372 37,103
Expected to be settled in the FEFRAR+ZEAR
next twelve months we (5,255) (4,617)
31,117 32,486

(ii) Plan assets

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group's liability under
this plan was covered by deposits placed with several banks.
There is no plan asset invested in the Company’s own financial
instruments or any property occupied or other assets used by the
Group.
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(iv)

Notes to Financial Statements

B 75 3= I 7T
31 December 2023
—FE-—=F+-H=+—H

34. LONG-TERM EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (Continued) 3. RHPEERFN (&
(b) Defined Benefit Retirement Obligation (Continued) (b) REMBZENKREME (E)
(iii) Movements in the present value of the defined (iii) REFImEFEEH
benefit obligation L-J
2023 2022
—E-=HF —_ T
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AREFT
At beginning of year REA] 144,701 230,369
Actuarial gains arising from experience KEREANRE Wa 5,563 (83,039)
Benefits paid by the plan AT BT Fl 28 (4,546) (3,591)
Liability gains due to curtailment AEREEN B BERE - (27,784)
Current service cost 37 B AR 75 5 ZX = 4,290
Interest cost F Bk A 7,632 6,811
Exchange difference b 5 ZE 58 2,496 17,645
At end of year RER 155,846 144,701

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation
was 13.78 years during the year ended 31 December 2023

(2022: 13.90 years).

RBE-ZT_=1+=_A8
=+—BLEE AEF
HEEHNMETHFHEA
13.78F (ZZ2 = — & :

13.90%F) °
Movements in plan assets (iv) it B/ EEH 25

2023 2022

—E-= —E-—F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARBF T

At beginning of year REA 107,598 106,309
The Group’s contributions paid to the plan REEMZEZAH

K 7,465 10,159

Benefits paid by the plan ZET BT AT H) Al 2 (4,546) (3,591)

Interest income M EWA 4,838 3,148
Return on plan assets, excluding interest income &tE|&EE LR - T8 1F

B A 2,247 (17,957)

Exchange difference fE X =% 1,872 9,530

At end of year RER 119,474 107,598
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B 75 3% MY 5
31 December 2023
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34. LONG-TERM EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (Continued) 3. RHEERAN (&

(b) RERNBRAKEE(AF)
(v) REeBzEREMS

(b) Defined benefit retirement obligation (Continued)
(v) Amounts recognised in the consolidated

statement of profit or loss and other [H W 7% 76 7 FE R HY %2
comprehensive income are as follows: BT :
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARETT
Current service cost BIVER AR 75 A A< = 4,290
Net interest on the net defined benefit liability — 5E %5 & & F 58 &
A B 2,794 3,663
Settlement/Curtailment income HEEDRBA - (8,442)
Total amount recognised in profit or loss RS EROERE 2,794 (489)
Actuarial gains BE k= 5,563 (83,039)
Return on plan assets, excluding interest income &+ & & # [0 4 -
TEEMEWA (2,247) 17,957
Liability gains due to curtailment HURE &£ 89 8 Bl - (19,342)
Total amounts recognised in other A E fth 2 T Wz N RERR A
comprehensive income PR 3,316 (84,424)
Total defined benefits costs FE MK AN 425 6,110 (84,913)

ENEARIE A R SE R e &
EFRENFN SN E SRR
RAMEERA  HERD
85 B S A R 17 BB ST 0 B

e

The current service cost and the net interest on the net
defined benefit liability are recognised in cost of sales, selling
and distribution expenses and administrative expenses in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

(vi) Significant actuarial assumptions (expressed as

(vi) EXBEERRK (5T

weighted averages) and a sensitivity analysis BINEFITEE) R
are as follows: BBEZWUT
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—F
Discount rate IR =E 5.04% 5.26%
Future salary increases )R & 1 4.45% 4.35%
Expected long-term rate of return T8 By = B Bl ) X N/A & N/A 73 FA
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34. LONG-TERM EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (Continued)

(b) Defined benefit retirement obligation (Continued)
(vi) Significant actuarial assumptions (expressed as
weighted averages) and a sensitivity analysis
are as follows: (Continued)

The analysis below shows how the defined benefit obligation
would have increased/(decreased) as a result of a 1% change in
the significant actuarial assumptions:

31 December 2023

—E - =FF+-A=+—H

3. RHEERA (&

(b) RAERBRAKEE(AF)
(vi) EXBEEERK (5T

7300 % F 15 Bl {E) R
HBEZHMT
(#)

AT AN ERREEAEER
RHBI%EE  MT2 R
EREEERM (L) -

2023 2022

Increase 1% 19011 % —E-=F —EF-—
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETF T
Discount rate PR =K (19,356) (17,647)
Future salary increases R4 18 A0 N/A i A N/A T~ i
Expected long-term rate of return T8 HA & 2R B ¥R (1,122) (1,066)
2023 2022

Decrease 1% 1% —E-=F —E-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETF T
Discount rate IR =K 23,071 22,020
Future salary increases KPR Fr & 38 0 N/A T N/A 35
Expected long-term rate of return TEE R B Bl ) R 1,122 1,066

35. SHARE CAPITAL 35. A&
2023 2022
—E-= —E -
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARE T AR®ET T
Issued and fully paid: BETREARE :
1,467,296,204 (2022: 1,467,296,204) 1,467,296,204 (ZZE = —_F :

ordinary shares 1,467,296,204 ) f% & 38 % 1,467,296 1,467,296
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36.

31 December 2023
—E - =Ff+-H=+—H

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein are
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 100
to 101 of the financial statements.

(i) Statutory surplus reserve
In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC, the companies in the

PRC are required to allocate 10% of the statutory after-tax profits to
the statutory reserve until the cumulative total of the reserve reaches
50% of the company registered capital. Subject to approval from
the relevant PRC authorities, the statutory reserve may be used to
offset any accumulated losses or increase the registered capital of the
company. The statutory reserve is not available for dividend distribution
to shareholders of the PRC subsidiaries.

(ii) Merger reserve
The merger reserve of the Group represents the difference between

the aggregate of the then net assets of the subsidiary acquired and the
consideration paid by the Group for the business combination under
common control.

(iii) Exchange fluctuation reserve
The exchange fluctuation reserve represents exchange differences

arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations whose functional currencies are different from the Group's
presentation currency.

(iv) Share option reserve
The share option reserve of the Group represents the fair value of

equity-settled share-based payment granted in 2012, which was early
terminated in 2013.

(v) Fair value reserve
The fair value reserve of the Group represents the fair value movement

of equity investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income.

(vi) Defined benefit contribution reserve
The defined benefit contribution reserve of the Group represents

actuarial losses arising from a net defined benefit retirement
obligation.

SHENZHEN HEPALINK PHARMACEUTICAL GROUP CO., LTD. &3 Th /8 & 3t S 3 £ B R fn AR 2 7
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ERAEFEEERSEER 2
HTEBANINHEYZE -

BE 5, % Bh fek

I X M Bt R R RSN TS
WETBRRMELNELLZE - &
T B B TR R A S B ) 2 51 5
HE o

BRERE
AEBEWBREREIN - —=
FETHREEEENRN N2
NREE TR T —=FRAK
ko

DRERERE

REBNA R BEBEREEAR
AEEHRALSDH AL MEE
e RERA M DA BEED -

SLE M a8 KA
AEBNRENHEREBAR
ERRANE DFEE LR

B



Notes to Financial Statements

37. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Shenzhen OncoVent Biomedical Technology Co., Ltd. (“OncoVent"),
a subsidiary of the Company, approved a Share Option Scheme (“the
Scheme”) in 2018. Pursuant to the Scheme, OncoVent proposed to grant
4% share options of the diluted shares in the original equity structure to the
CEO of OncoVent. Share options are granted when the participant reaches
the agreed milestones. 2% share options will be granted when the first
milestone is reached. 1% share options will be granted when the second
stage is reached. And the remaining 1% of the share options will be granted
when the third milestone is reached. The share option scheme expires as the
participant resigned from the company.

Milestones Condition

BEE® R4

B 75 2% MY 5
31 December 2023
—FE-—=F+-H=+—H

37. k{3 R A= &

ARBFRARRI B EYEERME
BAA(BHDR T N\FHAE—]&
fERcERT B (TRt 8)) - RIFZATE)
£ 3 22 5 S R AR A A TR R R A 894 %
WEBRERTBIRNTRESR - 2HE
FEEDE TN BRSNS R ERE -
BEDNE —(ARIRER - BER2%HE
Bt o BF B BOERIR - HERI %M
BRE -EEIF-EEERE Be
BT % B AE - B SR
2EENRF BB EE -

The first milestone
F—(EERER

The participant signs a labour contract with OncoVent
2HEEHEBIHBESHER

The second milestone OncoVent's new pharmaceutical varieties obtain permission to carry out Phase Ill clinical trials
from Chinese pharmaceutical regulatory authorities

F_AR22H £5 ¥ B R 8% o AR 1S B 4 o BE B BB P HEE B R 1NN R B AR B AR

The Third milestone New pharmaceutical varieties obtain permission to be sellable in the market from Chinese

pharmaceutical regulatory authorities
FE={ERI2HE

MEmBESHREREEPIME EHIHE

The grant date is within a month when each milestone is reached. The share
options shall be valid for a period of four years from the grant date. The
first exercise period shall commence from the first day after expiry of the
one-year period from the grant date. The vesting percentages of the share
options for the following three years are 40%, 30% and 30%, respectively.
When OncoVent is listed or sold, the participant may realise the benefit of
share options based on the stock circulation rules at the listing place or the
value of OncoVent at the time of sale. The participant may choose to convert
the virtual option into actual investment to OncoVent. When and only when
OncoVent is listed or sold, the participant can choose to exercise share
options. The exercise price is based on the investment price and the latest
financing authorised by the Board of OncoVent.

EIRERER ER—EARRD
Mt - BAERNEHASMENFER
Mo E—ETEBHER RN AR
R—FEmENE—RFHK - RE=F
HY B R 57 8B LL B 0 Bl 7340% ~ 30% K2
30% ° B S LMK ER - 28K
ARE ETHARRRBERLE SR
HERNBERERERRER - 28
EARERERBELREERSY DR
ERLE -EHEESR R ETRWEE
o 2 EETEETEBRE1TRE
RTERREBRESHES RN
ERREMEE -

B
B
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B 7% shoas Y AT
31 December 2023
—E - =Ff+-H=+—H

37. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 37. R ERBEE (&)
There are no cash settlement alternatives. The Group does not have a past BEAMReAETN - REBEBEIW
practice of cash settlement for these share options. The Group accounts for BARCHEEZSERENME - KK
the Scheme as an equity-settled plan. B Zet e AR R EREEE -
As of 31 December 2023 and 2022, the progress of the Scheme is as follows: HE-_ZT-_=FR-_ZT=-__F+=A

=t—RB - ZAEERAT

Fair Value of
Granted Conditions Date of Granted Share
Milestone percentage are Met meet Options
BEEE BRLA REREGRE w2 B 5 DNREE
RMB’000
AR¥T R
The first milestone E—E2RE 2% Yes 8 August 2017 1,271
= —ZE—tFN\HANB
The second milestone FE_EBREE 1% No - -
&
The third milestone FE=EERRE 1% No - -
Z5
[=]
AS of 31 December 2023, the share option scheme has expired. RZZTZ=F+=-A=+—H ER#

EIE R -

38. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 38. e lRERERME

CASH FLOWS
(a) Major non-cash transactions (a) TEHFREXRS
During the year ended 31 December 2023, Cytovance Biologics Inc, REBEE-_T-_=F+=-A=+—H
a subsidiary of the Group, provides CDMO service of USD3,251,000 IEFE - AEEF 2 AlCytovance
(equivalent to RMB22,644,000) to its customer, GT BioPharma, Inc. in Biologics IncAl E & FGT
exchange for equity interest of the customer. BioPharma, Inc.}2#£{&1&3,251,000
T (MHERARK22,644,0007T)
HICDMOMRTS + LARENGZ & ) A%
s o
During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to right-of-use FRN - NEERKRE RFENEE
assets and lease liabilities of RMB13,344,000 (2022: RMB33,541,000) RHRIERSILINEREEERE
and RMB13,344,000 (2022: RMB33,541,000), respectively, in respect E&8EDRIAARY13,344,0007T
of lease arrangements for plant and equipment. (ZZ =% : AR¥33,541,000

7T) K& A R #13,344,000C (= &
— =% : AR#¥33,541,0007T) °
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38. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 38. S EERERKE (&)

CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) METBELENEEEH
activities
Interest-
bearing bank
and other Interest Lease
borrowings payables liabilities
FERITR
H i fa ™ EARE HEAE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR¥T T AR¥T T
2023 —E-=
At 1 January 2023 RZEZ=F—H—H 6,317,464 - 146,439
Changes from financing cash flows FIERSHEZH 5,109,367 - -
Additions to lease liabilities HEEBEEM - = 13,344
Accretion of interest expenses F) B R S8 185,053 33,342 4,824
Early termination of lease liabilities & & &2 A 48 1 - - (806)
Repayment of interest expenses BERNBMAX (197,268) (52,560) -
Repayment of loans and other EBEERREMERK
borrowings (5,994,672) - -
Principal and interest elements of & {fFX &) A & B R 8,
lease payments - - (37,983)
Transfer to Interest-bearing bank EEEIERITR
and other borrowings Hifg (19,218) 19,218 -
Foreign exchange movement HNEE # B 33,870 - 2,402
At 31 December 2023 RZTZ=F
+ZA=+—H 5,434,596 - 128,220
2022 —g=-=
At 1 January 2022 R-ZEBE__—_F—HF—H 5,518,436 — 135,755
Changes from financing cash flows FERLTEEH) 719,672 - -
Additions to lease liabilities HE A ELM = = 33,541
Accretion of interest expenses 8.5 X 18 hn 160,912 69,327 5,003
Repayment of interest expenses EEMNBHX (180,271) (71,560) -
Principal and interest elements of T & A AR S B B
lease payments - - (38,325)
Transfer to Interest-bearing bank BRI BRTR
and other borrowings HibfgER (2,233) 2,233 -
Foreign exchange movement SN B 100,948 - 10,465
At 31 December 2022 A ~—
—A=+—H 6,317,464 - 146,439
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39.

Notes to Financial Statements

B 7% shoas Y AT
31 December 2023
—E - =Ff+-H=+—H

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(c¢) Total cash outflow for leases
The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement of cash

38. REREMNBRWE (&)

() HERESRLAE
HARSRERDBERS Rt

flows is as follows: BT
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥T T AR T
Within operating activities LB EBE S 3,748 2,488
Within financing activities RE R E IS 37,983 38,325
Total Bt 41,731 40,813
COMMITMENTS 39. 7&iE
The Group had the following contractual commitments at the end of the REBRBEBRRE TIE L EE :

reporting period:

2023 2022

—E-=F —E-=
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T AR T

Contracted, but not provided for: BET 4B R B

Property, plant and equipment M BB R&E 153,707 43,290
Capital contributions payable to investments EAERENLHERE 315,961 348,811
Total Et 469,668 392,101
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Notes to Financial Statements

40. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Details of the Group's interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, which are
secured by the assets of the Group, are included in note 31 to the financial
statements.

The summary of the pledged assets is as follows:

(a)

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, 100% of the shares of Shenzhen
Topknow Industrial Development Co., Ltd. Were pledged to secure
certain bank loans.

As at 31 December 2023, the total assets (including property, plant
and equipment, equity investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income, inventories, trade and bills receivables,
and cash and cash equivalents) of SPL and the buildings of the
Company located in Pingshan and Nanshan District, Shenzhen, totally
amounting to RMB2,970,380,000 were mortgaged to obtain loans
from certain banks (2022: RMB2,950,007,000).

As at 31 December 2023, the bank deposits secured for performance
guarantees, forward exchange settlement and bank acceptances were
RMB80,000 (2022: RMB69,388,000).

As at 31 December 2023, the bond security deposits secured
for the performance bond margin were RMB25,000,000 (2022:
RMB112,000,000).

B 75 R 3R MY R

31 December 2023

—E - =FF+-A=+—H

40. EEHKH
el A 55 [ P M S 0 AN R LBt B AR AT
BRSBTS AR F 31

EREENBMELT -

(a)

RZEZ=FR=_FT-__F+=A
=B FIHmSELETERR
AR A A100% %17 B VEH 48 LA
WMEZETRITERK -

RZZEZ=F+=—A=+—H"' B2
D RIRIBSPLEE (BIEWE - BE
REMH  AARBEFEEHS

SPAHMEEKREMRERE 7
B BHRUBGIBEREREERAR
Re kRS EEY) RN FYIF
LWEELENARRREFAEHEAR
#2,970,380,0007C (ZZE = =4 :
AR#2,950,007,0007T) * MBS
HFHRITHER

RZTE-_=%+=-RA=+—H"
ARBHRES « REASERIE
TERIRBFSHBRITERAAR
80,000 (ZE_—_F : AR¥
69,388,0007T) °

RZTZ=F+=—A=+—H" A
REBHREBEEHEFRESBAR
#25,000,0007C (Z T = =4 : A
R #112,000,0007T) °
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B 7% shoas Y AT
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a) Name and relationship

Name of related parties

MBS E B8

Notes to Financial Statements

4. B AR S
(a) & BBRBRE

Relationship with the Group
R 75 £2 [ Y BA R

Mr. Li Li and Ms. Li Tan
TP AR+

Shenzhen Leren Technology Co., Ltd.

YRR AR A A

Xiamen Jintiantu Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership)

EffeAIREABEE (BRAR)

Xiamen Feilashi Investment Co., Ltd.

EFIRRAKREFTRAA]

Mr. Shan Yu

BFgL

Xiamen Shuidi Shichuan Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership)

([ Shuidi Shichuan )

EFKBRFREGBLE(ERAR) ([KEBEE)D

Aridis Pharmaceuticals, Inc

OncoQuest Inc.

Resverlogix Corp.

In April 2023, as approved by the Market and Quality Supervision
Commission of Siming Municipality, Xiamen, the registered address of MZEBEERIE  SBARER
A RAERE B R DA M
HEBBREEM™T  RAIEEA
[SEARERRABERERRRA
AEERIEMRRAKREGR

Urumgi Feilaishi Equity Investment Co., Ltd. was relocated to Xiamen,
and its company name was changed from “Urumgi Feilaishi Equity
Investment Co., Ltd.” to “Xiamen Feilaishi Investment Co., Ltd."”.

SHENZHEN HEPALINK PHARMACEUTICAL GROUP CO., LTD. R I /8 & i 54 % = M Ak 15 A R A 7

Controlling Shareholders

PR R

Shareholder of the Company
AAFRE

Shareholder of the Company
KA AR

Shareholder of the Company
PN &

Shareholder and key management and a close
family member of the Controlling Shareholders

BRRETZEERE RZERKRNIR

A company controlled by Shareholder, key
management and a close family member of the
Controlling Shareholders

PR - EREIRE AR R AV R S A A

Minority shareholder of a subsidiary

FRADHB/RR

Associate

AN

Associate

NG|

“EC=FMA - KEMATEHAR

NG



Notes to Financial Statements

41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Name and relationship (Continued)
In July 2023, as approved by the Market and Quality Supervision

Commission of Siming Municipality, Xiamen, the registered addresses
of Urumgqi Jintiantu Equity Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership)
and Urumgi Shuidi Shichuan Equity Investment Partnership (Limited
Partnership) were relocated to Xiamen, and their company names were
changed from “Urumgqi Jintiantu Equity Investment Partnership (Limited
Partnership)”
Partnership)”

to “Xiamen Jintiantu Investment Partnership (Limited
and from “Urumgi Shuidi Shichuan Equity Investment
to “Xiamen Shuidi Shichuan
Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership)”

Partnership (Limited Partnership)”
respectively.

Significant related party transactions
The Group had the following transactions with related parties during

the year:

B 75 2% MY 5
31 December 2023
—FE-—=F+-H=+—H

M. BRERE (&)

() B BBRBRE)
—EZ=FtA gKEMMEHARE
MEEBEERE  BEBKRE
cHIREREEREE(BRE
%) BREAEKEAERELRE
ERCE (BRE%) it
EEBRZEMT - Aa&BS RIS
[BEAECHIBREREAED
¥ (BRER)IZFRIEMEH
THREARLE(BERER)] - H
[EEARBKERGERERESE
X (ERER)IZE ATEMK
MAFREAREE (BREE)] -

(b) EXBEHRLIRS
REERERE TIIHH TR

2023 2022
—EC-=F —_EF-—
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBET T AREFT
Revenue from sales of products: EmEERA
OncoQuest Inc. OncoQuest Inc. 1,758 1,210

Other related party transactions
During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group's

banking facilities were guaranteed by its related parties with details set
out in note 31 to these financial statements.

(c) HttBAB A RS
HE_Z-_=FR-FT-_F+=
A=+—RHILFE  AEEKIERT
A R H B BR - FEENZ
UM RERME3 -
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31 December 2023
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41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 41. BB R R F (&)

(d) Outstanding balances with related parties (d) EEEEE S R REEEE
As disclosed in the statement of financial position, the Group had the an Eﬁﬁ#xﬁ%ﬁﬂﬁﬁ AEBER
following outstanding balances with related parties at 31 December —E=FR-T-_=F+=A
2023 and 2022: =+ — B R B R E R AR N

T
2023 2022
—E-=F§ —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARETF T
Due from related parties JEW BT T 7 E
Trade receivables (trade in nature) (Note (i) BorEkFE(ESME)
(PR E))
OncoQuest Inc. OncoQuest Inc. - 218
Aridis Pharmaceutical, Inc. Aridis Pharmaceutical, Inc. - -
Other receivables (non-trade in nature) HibpEe B (BEE 5 4EE)
Resverlogix Corp. Resverlogix Corp. 45,371 44,615
Total receivables from related parties & W B B 5 FROB 1B RE 45,371 44,833
Due to related parties JFENT B8 5 3 E
Other payables (non-trade in nature) HihpEftgE GEE 5ME)
Aridis Pharmaceuticals Inc. Aridis Pharmaceuticals Inc. - 36
Mr. Shan Yu Bk 4 — 68
Mr. Li Li T AEA 67 68
Ms. Li Tan R+ = 65
Ms. Zhang Jie RERZ+ 49 -
Ms. Han Tao wELL 79 -
Mr. Gao Xi = S A 92 -
Deposit received (trade in nature) Blike (E51HEE)
OncoQuest Inc. OncoQuest Inc. 4,116 5,665
Total payables to related parties JE 1<) BA Bt 5 SR B 4B %R 4,403 5,902
(i) Trade receivables due from related parties are unsecured, interest-free and (i) FE W BAESE 75 1) B 5 FE U GRIE 5 4R
repayable on demand. R EEEEREE-

(e) Compensation of key management personnel of the (e) AEBXEEBEAEBNFH
Group [}

2023 2022

—EB-=F —EF-—
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBF T
Fees ik 300 300
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EMNEMER 4,736 7,564
Performance-related bonuses % AR %ﬁ?EZI 4,203 5,838
Pension scheme contributions BRIREFTEIHK 156 263
9,395 13,965

Further details of directors’ and supervisors’ emoluments are included

in note 10 to these financial statements.
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the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2023
Financial assets

Notes to Financial Statements

42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as at

Financial
assets at
fair value
through profit

B 75 o3k B 7T
31 December 2023
—E-—=F+=-A=+—H

42. RERETWEMT A
RESHK SRR IANEEE

LU

—E2-=

Financial
assets at
fair value
through other
comprehensive

or loss income
A SfEE DA SREE
stERHE sStEEHE
ZEIA BEIA Financial
EHEE Ha2Aaka EEEES B Total
HEeRMEE HEMEE AT =)
Mandatorily cost
designated Equity G 8 R A
as such investments STEM
Bt iEE BRERE SRMEE
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AR TR ARBTR AR TR AR TR
Financial assets at fair value through KAnBEGFERR
profit or loss ZEFAEHERS
NE@EE 1,420,551 - - 1,420,551
Equity investments designated at fair ~ #EFEIAR 4 EEEE
value through other comprehensive BEZFHA
income Hitn 2 E =N
B E - 503,565 - 503,565
Financial assets included in other SPARMIERBEE
non-current assets MeREE - - 25,951 25,951
Trade and bills receivables B 5 WA R
e - - 1,263,584 1,263,584
Due from related parties JE W BB 7 R IE - = 45,371 45,371
Financial assets included in FTATERFIR
prepayments, other receivables HoAth & TR IE
and other assets HpEENSRERE - - 39,342 39,342
Pledged deposits BEERFR - - 80 80
Time deposits EHIER - - 85,918 85,918
Cash and cash equivalents RekAEEEY - - 1,765,645 1,765,645
Total @zt 1,420,551 503,565 3,225,891 5,150,007
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Notes to Financial Statements

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

(Continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as at

the end of the reporting period are as follows: (Continued)

42. REAHNS HEMT A

(ﬂﬁ )

NEERER SERSRTANKEME
LUNNENG- )

Financial liabilities EHAE
Financial
liabilities at
fair value Financial Financial
through profit liabilities at liabilities at
or loss amortised cost amortised cost
UARBETE HUAREERE
BHESHHTA BEZBTA DY §:12%:
EHEEN Hith 2w & SrEN
CRAE hemas cHaE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R AR®ETR AR®TR
Derivative financial instruments THEEFIA 388 - 388
Trade and bills payable B HRNRIERENZEIR - = 302,223
Due to related parties FE - B B 75 3R OE = = 287
Financial liabilities included in other FTAHEMENFIEREEE
payables and accruals e e & - - 109,565
Interest-bearing bank and other sHERIT R EAMER
borrowings - - 5,434,596
Lease liabilities HEAR - - 128,220
Total st 388 - 5,975,279
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(Continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as at

the end of the reporting period are as follows: (Continued)

2022
Financial assets

Notes to Financial Statements

42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

Financial
assets at
fair value
through profit

B 75 R 3R MY R

31 December 2023

—E_=F+_HFA=+—H

42. ZFRETHNEMT R

=

(&)

RBEHRR SEHERTANKREE

mr (&)

—E=-=
TRMEE

Financial assets
at fair value
through other
comprehensive

or loss income
WAREE  AAAEE
ERE FERE
ZEEIA ZEETA Financial
EHEE HMzEls RS Total
e REE MerEE smenised B
Mandatorily cost
designated Equity LA 5 B AR
as such investments GTEN
58 AN B4R AR & SHEE
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETFT AREFT AREF T ARETT
Financial assets at fair value through KAnBEGFERR
profit or loss HEE A S HIERA
TREE 2,279,209 - - 2,279,209
Derivative financial instruments TESRIE 10 - - 10
Equity investments designated at fair ~ EENA AR BEFE
value through other comprehensive BHEHTAEM
income Z2EHBENRERE = 507,146 = 507,146
Financial assets included in other FFAEMERBEEM
non-current assets SREE - - 113,493 113,493
Trade and bills receivables B 5 EWGRIE R ERE R = = 1,606,211 1,606,211
Due from related parties JE Wi B B 77 R IE = = 44,833 44,833
Financial assets included in prepayments, 5 A J8 1% 2078 - H 4 fE It
other receivables and other assets FEREMEER
TREE = - 69,260 69,260
Pledged deposits [REEEEEES - - 69,388 69,388
Time deposits EBER - - 749,684 749,684
Cash and cash equivalents HeLhBEEEEY = - 1,319,707 1,319,707
Total @it 2,279,219 507,146 3,972,576 6,758,941
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Notes to Financial Statements

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

(Continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as at

the end of the reporting period are as follows: (Continued)

42. RERETNEMT A
(&)
RESHK SRR IANEEE
T ()

Financial liabilities EHAE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
VA SH B 7R
2R
CRBE
RMB'000
ARBTT
Trade payables E 5 FE T RIE 427,433
Due to related parties FE A~ BBt 5 3R IE 237
Financial liabilities included in other FAEMENRERESBEENEHAR
payables and accruals 165,662
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings T EERTT R E M fE K 6,317,464
Lease liabilities HE&E 146,439
Total #Et 7,057,235
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Notes to Financial Statements

43. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the fair values of the Group's financial
assets or liabilities approximated to their respective carrying amounts.

Management has determined that the carrying amounts of cash and cash
equivalents, the current portion of time deposits and pledged deposits,
trade and bills receivables, amounts due from related parties, financial assets
included in prepayments, other receivables and other assets, trade payables,
amounts due to related parties, financial liabilities included in other payables
and accruals, the current portion of interest-bearing bank borrowings and
lease liabilities reasonably approximate to their fair values because these
financial instruments are mostly short term in nature.

The Group's finance department headed by the financial controller is
responsible for determining the policies and procedures for the fair value
measurement of financial instruments. At each reporting date, the finance
department analyses the movements in the values of financial instruments
and determines the major inputs applied in the valuation. The directors
review the results of the fair value measurement of financial instruments
periodically for annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at the
amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction
between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair
values:

The fair values of long-term interest receivables and the debt investment
have been calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows using
rates currently available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and
remaining maturities. The changes in fair value as a result of the Group's
own non-performance risk for interest-bearing bank and other borrowings as
at 31 December 2023 and 2022 were assessed to be insignificant.

43,

B 75 R 3R MY R

31 December 2023

R-ZTB-=Fr-_FT-_-F+=-A
“t—H AEESREEKABEND
AEERESARAMBEES -

EEEEEEREMRSFEY X

FREEERFRNENBES  EHE
WA R R R - e R R T SR

SRPABNRIE  HERFAREMBE
ENTHEE BZEMNFIR  EHE
Bt 7 IR~ AR A E A R A BROR K B ETIR
BMERAE st ERTERNBIHR
PURHEABNERAEREAAEE
SEEE EARSERTIAXZER
HtEE -

HAKBEMGRERENMBEAMER
BELBMTAEAABEFENBERE
F-nREMEEH UHLEHAEOFE
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REEWFEREERENAREEBE
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Notes to Financial Statements
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31 December 2023
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FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The fair values of listed equity investments are based on quoted market
prices. The fair values of unlisted equity investments have been valued
based on a market-based fair value technique that is appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair
value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the
use of unobservable inputs. The fair values of unlisted equity investments
designated at fair value have been estimated using precedent transaction
method, binomial tree model and the guideline public company method
which require the directors to determine comparable public companies (peers)
and comparable transactions. Those valuation techniques require significant
observable inputs, including market multiplier, risk-free interest rate, volatility
and liquidity discount which are available from public market. The directors
believe that the estimated fair values resulting from the valuation technique,
which are recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position, and
the related changes in fair values, which are recorded in other comprehensive
income and profit or loss, are reasonable, and that they were the most
appropriate values at the end of the reporting period.

The Group invests in unlisted investments, which represent wealth
management products issued by banks in Chinese Mainland. The Group has
estimated the fair value of these unlisted investments by using a discounted
cash flow valuation model based on the market interest rates of instruments
with similar terms and risks.

The Group enters into derivative financial instruments with counterparties,
principally investment in an associate’s derivative financial instruments,
including warrants, which are measured using binomial tree model, using
present value calculations. The model incorporates various market observable
inputs including the credit quality of counterparties, the underlying stock
price and interest rate curves.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the mark-to-market value of the
derivative asset position was net of a credit valuation adjustment attributable
to derivative counterparty default risk.

For the fair value of the unlisted equity investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income, management has estimated the potential
effects of using reasonably possible alternatives as inputs to the valuation
model.

SHENZHEN HEPALINK PHARMACEUTICAL GROUP CO., LTD. R I /8 & i 54 % = M Ak 15 A R A 7
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Notes to Financial Statements
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43. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 43. TRIAENAABERA

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) REEER(A)

Fair value hierarchy AREEER

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of the THREMASEE ST ANDL EBE
Group's financial instruments: BER

Assets measured at fair value: U’AAREBEGTENEE -

As at 31 December 2023 R-ZB-_=H+=ZA=+—H

Fair value measurement using

RRAEEFTERAERE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
ERWE TN EXAHE EBERTITEE
WmE WA BB WA BE®
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(B—%) (=) (B=#) &5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T AR T T AR¥T T AR¥T R

Equity investments designated 38 E AR A BETER

at fair value through other HE e AHAM
comprehensive income T HEHKEORERE 565 503,000 - 503,565
Financial assets at fair value RanEE;ER
through profit or loss He®ir A2 HiEas
HEmEE 4,977 613,534 802,040 1,420,551
Total mt 5,542 1,116,534 802,040 1,924,116
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FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)
Assets measured at fair value: (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022

43. TRIENAAEBERA
REESHR(EF
PREESH(F)
URAAEBEFTEWNEE & (&)

R-B--+-A=+—H

Fair value measurement using

AR EER = ASE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
i B T 35 R BRAHBE SATAEBER
WwE AR EDNE 6
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(B—%) (F=H) (BF=%) A&F
RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREET T AR¥ET T AR¥ET T AR®ET T
Equity investments designated 3§ E AR R EBETE R
at fair value through other HEFHt AHM
comprehensive income SHEHREHRERE 7,413 499,733 - 507,146
Financial assets at fair value Q/’ﬁ“@d‘iﬂ
through profit or loss BEE AE HERE
E"J%Eﬁ‘lﬁ% 8,713 1,542,986 727,510 2,279,209
Derivative financial instruments #T4 & @ T & - 10 - 10
Total At 16,126 2,042,729 727,510 2,786,365

During the year ended 31 December 2023, financial assets classified under
the fair value hierarchy as Level 2 were transferred to Leve 3 due to their
unobservable inputs used in fair value measurements. There were no other
significant transfers between the fair value hierarchy of the Group’s financial

instruments during the year.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, financial assets classified under
the fair value hierarchy as Level 2 were transferred to Leve 3 due to their
unobservable inputs used in fair value measurements. There were no other
significant transfers between the fair value hierarchy of the Group'’s financial

instruments during the year.
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43. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)
Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed:

As at 31 December 2023

Notes to Financial Statements

B 5 3R R M A

31 December 2023

—E - =FF+-A=+—H

2
0

43. TRMITENAREBERAD

>

REE

DREEER(A)
EHE

EEHEE -

R-B-_=%+=-B=+—H

Fair value measurement using

RMREEFTEFARE

Quoted prices

BT S

Significant
observable

inputs

EXTHE

LD
(Level 2)
(B=%&)
RMB’000

AR T T

unobservable

EXTUHBE

Total

att
RMB’000
AREF

Interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings

st BERTT R A A AR

1,810,021

1,810,021

As at 31 December 2022

R-B-Z-H+-A=+—H

Fair value measurement using

AREEERBRE

Quoted prices

7 B T %5 R B9

Significant
observable
inputs
BEAAEE
% A BUR
(Level 2)
(B=)
RMB’000
ARBFT

unobservable

BERTAIEE

Total

A&
RMB’000
AREBTT

Interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings

FHEERTT R H A f

3,932,155

3,932,155
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B 7% shoas Y AT
31 December 2023
—E - =Ff+-H=+—H

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments mainly include cash and cash
equivalents, time deposits, pledged deposits, trade and bills receivables, other
receivables, trade payables and other payables and lease liabilities, which
arise directly from its operations. The Group has other financial assets and
liabilities such as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, equity
investments designated at fair value through other comprehensive income,
derivative financial instruments, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings,
and amounts due to related parties and due from related parties. The main
purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s
operations.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments are interest rate
risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The board of directors
review and agree policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below.

Interest rate risk
The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates

primarily to the interest-bearing bank borrowings with floating interest rates.

The Group's policy is to manage its interest cost using a mix of fixed and
variable rate debts. At 31 December 2023, approximately 97% of the
Group's interest-bearing borrowings bore interest at fixed rates (2022: 93%).

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible
change in interest rate, with all other variables held constant, of the Group's
profit before tax (through the impact on floating rate borrowings) and the
Group's equity.

BREREENERRE
BUR

AEENTESMIATEARRESR
ReEBY  EHEHX  BBEAER B
5 EUTOR K R R - B UWRIA
BHRNFBAREMENKBLAREE
BE HEERBELEERY - AREE
Eﬁﬁﬁpﬂé@&%fﬁ * PIANA R St BEFT
BEEHFAEHNBERNEREE -
aib/{ ARBEFELEZBFT AR M
EERENRERE  TESBTA &
BRITREAMER - BB /AR
FEURRERE TR - R ESRMTANE R
BNERAEENELEEES -

AEESRIAEENTIZRR AT =X
BB~ SNE RS {5 B RS ROREN IR
- ZEEEFEWATEEZTEZERA
Fr @O - WP -

A 2R [ ke
AEEAZOTISFEEPRAKRE BN

FENN RS BRITERAR

AEEMBURZMIBIRS FHE T =
MEBHFREBKEBELFBKE - R
—E_=—F+-A=+—8 AEER
EEF R BT EBROABIT% (ZF
T :193%)

Ti‘%ﬁﬁmTEFﬁﬁE’rﬁl“EﬁhT
ERANE ZK%I%RHIJ?’HJE(L&@;T@@J
FIRERNELE) AL EEREF =
AEAEBEHBEE -

Increase/
(decrease) in

Increase/
(decrease) in

Increase/
(decrease) in

basis points profit before tax equity*
& i Al A %?#a
i, Ot 2) i, G 2) o, Om2)
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR¥T T
2023 —E2-=
RMB AR 25 (460) -
RMB AR (25) 460 -
2022 —EgE=-=
RMB AR 25 (1,157) -
RMB AR (25) 1,157 -

*
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Notes to Financial Statements

44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency risk
The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures arise from

sales or purchases by operating units in currencies other than the units’
functional currencies.

In addition, the Group has currency exposures from its interest-bearing bank
borrowings.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of the reporting
period to a reasonably possible change in the foreign exchange rates arising
from USD/EUR and RMB denominated financial instruments, with all other
variables held constant, of the Group's profit before tax.

44,

B 75 2% MY 5
31 December 2023
—FE-—=F+-H=+—H

MRk EERN B ER
BR (&)

s m B

AEEBRZINERD - ftEERAKR KA
BEBMNABMIEEE B AN T
THHELEE -

ik oh
O o

AL EH)FH B IRTT 8 R E SME K

TRERABEER - A% EHAF A
YR ET BT RARBIHENS R
TA (FEHARMLEERETEGER
) 28 5 1 S T A A 8 B
=

2023 2022
—Eg=-= —_ T
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T AREFIT
RMB/USD ARE ZET
Strengthened 5% FH{E5% (16,449) (16,371)
Weakened 5% B2 E5% 16,449 16,371
RMB/EUR AR BT
Strengthened 5% FH{E5% 15,474 530
Weakened 5% B2 5% (15,474) (530)
Credit risk EER

An impairment analysis was performed at 31 December 2023 and 2022
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision
rates are based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments
with similar loss patterns. The calculation reflects the probability-weighted
outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and supportable
information that is available at the reporting date about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at
31 December 2023 and 2022

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum exposure to
credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which is mainly based on past
due information unless other information is available without undue cost or
effort, and year-end staging classification as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.
The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets.

RZEBEZZ=ZFR=_FTE=-__+=ZA
=t BERAREBEEETRED N
Er2EMERBR - BEXDRIEA
BHHEUEBBEANTREFE S A4 5
RS B AT E - Rt B R AE M
EER BEERERRBREAHTED
BEBTEE - AR R AR RLE K
HEANEERAISEER -

R-B_=FR_F_-_
+-—A=+-EBRARBMO
& K F & B BR
TREHNERTEBEEBR(EDNEE
ER@HER  BRIFEEMESBRALE
TRBEMHKAKE NN ERF) MEEE
EZEREERARB  UWER-_ZE-_=F
—E - —F+ A=+ —HHFERRE
B -FE2JNeEReREENRK
HiEME -
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Notes to Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at
31 December 2023 and 2022 (Continued)

At 31 December 2023

44. Jﬁ]’%ﬁ

A
;T\ﬁf‘

REEWE

B

&ﬁ*ﬁﬁlﬁ[‘%ﬁﬁ(ﬁs")

R-E-_=5+=-A=+—H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 A 7 5
FERBX >HFEHEREX
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
- FoREER E=EER ILK(23 a&t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR®BTR AR®BTR AR®BTRT AR®TR
Financial assets included st AHbIEREHEE
in other non-current HemEE
assets 25,951 - - - 25,951
Contract assets BREE - - - 10,947 10,947
Trade and bills receivables* 2 5 fE U 5718 &
JEU R+ - - - 1,303,623 1,303,623
Financial assets included &+ AFE{ 318
in prepayments, other H b fE U IE I
receivables and other Eh&EED
assets TREE
— Normal** — MEFFSS 143,011 - - - 143,011
— Doubtful** — TFRE** - - 67,205 - 67,205
Due from related parties & U 28 Bt 5 7K 18 45,371 - - - 45,371
Pledged deposits [RE:RERES-N 80 - - - 80
Time deposits TEHTE 85,918 = = = 85,918
Cash and cash RekBREEED
equivalents 1,765,645 - - - 1,765,645
Total @t 2,065,976 - 67,205 1,314,570 3,447,751
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44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at
31 December 2023 and 2022 (Continued)

At 31 December 2022

o Financial Statements

B 75 3= I 7T
31 December 2023
—FE-—=F+-H=+—H

44, I EKREENE ZEK

KR (&
R-SB-Z=FKR=-=T=-=
TZA=t+t—HRXARKO
RERFMEMRER (&)

R=®==F+=A=+-H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1216 A 78 &
(ViR ES ZHIFEEE K
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F—IEER FRE FE=IEER (% A&
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTIT ARBFTT ARETRT AR®FTrT ARBTE
Financial assets included 3t A Hfb3E ) & &
in other non-current HemEE
assets 113,493 - - - 113,493
Contract assets BHEE - - - 19,534 19,534
Trade and bills receivables* 2 5 JfE 4 5718 &
JEU R > - - - 1,720,675 1,720,675
Financial assets included & AFEf K18 -
in prepayments, other H e GRIE K&
receivables and other Eh&EED
assets TREE
— Normal** — TEE=S 105,862 - - - 105,862
— Doubtful** — TERE** - - 22,053 - 22,053
Due from related parties & U B8 Bt 5 3K 18 44,615 - - 218 44,833
Pledged deposits [EEESEEEEN 69,388 = = = 69,388
Time deposits FHER 749,684 = = = 749,684
Cash and cash ReRREEED
equivalents 1,319,707 - - - 1,319,707
Total 4=t 2,402,749 - 22,053 1,740,427 4,165,229
= For trade and bills receivables to which the Group applies the simplified approach for S RAKEEABCETERENE S EK

impairment, information based on the provision matrix is disclosed in note 24 to the
financial statements.
*x The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables
and other assets is considered to be “normal” when they are not past due and there
is no information indicating that the financial assets had a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is
considered to be “doubtful”.

RERERREMS  ERREEERENE
BN ZERBRRM E24H 5 -
o flat AT FOR - Bl AR R H i &
ENEREENAAD R [ERLGE
MEEZEERR B TR ERARREE
e EERERHBRAIES] - K8l £
BREEZEEEERAAIEFLR] -
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at
31 December 2023 and 2022 (Continued)

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

o significant financial difficulty of the debtor;
o a breach of contract such as a default or past due event;

o it is probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation

The Group has established a policy to perform an assessment of whether
a financial instrument’s credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition, by considering the change in the risk of default occurring over
the remaining life of the financial instrument.

Management makes periodic collective assessments for financial assets
included in prepayments, other receivables and other assets as well as an
individual assessment on the recoverability of other receivables based on
historical settlement records and past experience. The Group recognises
allowance for financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and other
receivables based on 12-month ECLs and adjusts for forward-looking
macroeconomic data. Otherwise, they are measured based on the lifetime
expected credit loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements

44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)
Liquidity risk
The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of
funding and flexibility through the use of internally generated cash flows
from operations and bank borrowings. The Group regularly reviews its
major funding positions to ensure that it has adequate financial resources in
meeting its financial obligations.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted payments, was as

B 75 o3k B 7T
31 December 2023
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44. B REBREENEZEHEHK
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7 B 1 L B
AEEN B ERBBERNBELNE

EEHRSMNERBITET  EEEE
BUMBE L BRSFE - AEEE
HiRdEET2ESMN - WEREER
MM BERKBTEMBE -

REBEEORBBANT ARERHEH
ROESBEENIBBEREIINT

follows:
2023
—E-=HF
Less than 1to Over
On demand 1 year 3 years 3 years Total
BN 3R PR—F —E=F =Fpk &5t
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTRT AR%BTR AR%BTn AR®BTrn AR%BTrx
Trade payables B B EMRIEA - 302,223 - = 302,223
Derivative financial fTESMIA
instruments - 388 - - 388
Financial liabilities included BT AE e 5B
in other payables and RIEFTIEA &
accruals EA =R 109,565 - - - 109,565
Interest-bearing bank FHEERITIER
borrowings - 3,751,174 1,483,734 437,118 5,672,026
Due to related parties JE 1t A B 5 3R 08 287 - - - 287
Lease liabilities HEAE - 41,374 61,712 35,540 138,626
Total @t 109,852 4,095,159 1,545,446 472,658 6,223,115
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44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 44. HBEEREEN B REK
AND POLICIES (Continued) R ()
Liquidity risk (Continued) T Eh R B ()
2022
—F--
Less than 1 to Over
On demand 1 year 3 years 3 years Total
BN ER DR —F —E=%F =FMNE ast
RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTT ARBTRT AR®FTr ARBTE
Trade payables Z 5 EN A = 427,433 = = 427,433
Financial liabilities included in 5+ A H b & 1+ 5738
other payables and accruals & fEEHIE B &Y
s aE 165,662 - - - 165,662
Interest-bearing bank T ERITIER
borrowings - 4,181,564 1,737,847 740,847 6,660,258
Due to related parties & A5t B B 5 3K0E 237 - - - 237
Lease liabilities HEAE - 40,172 88,590 31,909 160,671
Total et 165,899 4,649,169 1,826,437 772,756 7,414,261
Capital management EXER

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to safeguard
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholders’
value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in
light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the
underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders
or issue new shares. The Group is not subject to any externally imposed
capital requirements. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or
processes for managing capital during the years ended 31 December 2023
and 31 December 2022.
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Notes to Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Capital management (Continued)
The asset-liability ratios as at the end the reporting period are as follows:

44,

B 75 3= I 7T
31 December 2023
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BEEEEENERER
R (&)

EXEE (&)
RBEMRNEERBELEMT -

2023 2022

—E-=fF —=E- =
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®B T ARET T
Total assets EERE 19,203,417 20,816,030
Total liabilities BE®EE 7,215,040 8,406,565
Asset-liability ratio EEAGBHX 38% 40%

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

In view of the recent telecommunication fraud incident suffered by Techdow
Pharma Italy S.R.L., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, Mr. Li Li,
the actual controller of the Company, advanced RMB89,809,600 through
Shenzhen Leren Technology Co., Ltd. on 14 March 2024 (calculated on the
basis of the average exchange rate of 1 EUR to 7.6500 RMB as of 31 Dec
2023, and the amount of fraud incident is EUR11,739,817), so as to minimize
the impact of the telecommunication fraud incident on the listed company.
The event has been disclosed in the “Announcement on Receipt of Advance
from the Actual Controller” dated 16 March 2024.

COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

As further explained in note 2.2 to the financial statements, due to the
adoption of the new and revised HKFRSs during the current year, the
accounting treatment and presentation of certain items and balances in the
financial statements have been revised to comply with the new requirements.
Accordingly, certain prior year adjustments have been made, and certain
comparative amounts have been reclassified and restated to conform with
the current year’s presentation and accounting treatment, and a third
statement of financial position as at 1 January 2022 has been presented.

45.

46.

BESH

ERIHA QR 2E T2 AlTechdow
Pharma ltaly SR.LEBEEFEREN
AR BEREHNATELE T _F
SAtTHAEBRRITECHREERA
A|BfF AR%89,809,6007T (T —=
F+ZA=+—H1BUTH ARK7.6500
THEHEXRGHE FREGSEAR
11,739,817BJT) * UASEERFRE Y
FTHRARNFERERE - ZEHER
HEA-—Z—mE= A+ /XA @RI
FERESARNESHNE)PIKE o

b & 5
ARINEA TS ERR M2 2P — SR -
MAFERRAFR] KB KEBM 5 H
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SRERZH T ACIERBE AR
EFMEREL B EFEME TR
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THLEHE UFTAAFENZN TR
BHERENE YEERNR T -
F-A—HANE=NUBHRRE -
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Notes to Financial Statements

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 47. &R B B R &
COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the Company at the BAARARBREHARMBRRERNE
end of the reporting period is as follows: AT
2023 2022 2021
—E-=H —E- —E-—fF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AREFTT AREFIT
(Restated) (Restated)
(f=E5) € 5=27))
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment YE - BB MR E 1,515,727 1,201,996 1,268,911
Right-of-use assets CREEE 97,299 107,027 110,739
Other intangible assets HihmEEE 10,628 8,469 7,569
Investments in associates REERRZIRE 1,653,781 1,328,902 562,579
Interests in subsidiaries )i RN P X 2,179,192 2,179,192 2,889,904
Equity investments designated at fair value ~ 3§F AR A BEGE B H &5t
through other comprehensive income A E A2 T iz B AR R 1R A 31,539 31,863 31,863
Financial assets at fair value through NAREBEFEAEES
profit or loss STAEHEENERMEE 371,148 300,259 361,320
Deferred tax assets REFMSHEE 119,206 83,819 74,452
Other non-current assets HiERBDEE 101,042 204,515 92,755
Total non-current assets FRBEELT 6,079,562 5,446,042 5,400,092
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories T8 3,693,552 3,602,778 1,870,376
Trade and bills receivables 2 5 N IE R ERER 37,297 222,032 202,688
Prepayments, other receivables and TERTFRIE - H i WOk IE &
other assets HE&EE 102,965 167,416 212,975
Due from related parties JE L2 B Bt 7 3R TE 2,589,848 2,539,857 3,817,486
Financial assets at fair value through NARBEFEAEEH A
profit or loss EHERNeREE 354,294 1,264,375 940,340
Time deposits TEBES 70,000 749,684 1,440,000
Cash and cash equivalents RekBELEEY 929,156 491,550 440,767
Total current assets MBEELHE 7,777,112 9,037,692 8,924,632
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBAE
Trade payables 2 5 RIE 107,905 84,396 171,478
Other payables and accruals Hith AT FIE M FEETIE B 141,491 185,998 169,706
Contract liabilities BHERE 349,218 279,829 2,557
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings &t 8217 & H b & 5% 2,022,582 1,832,282 2,557,382
Tax payable R FIE 35,955 31,380 48,878
Due to related parties JE 5T R B 7 F0A 170,716 153,149 132,444
Lease liabilities HEaE 519,260 913,264 4,933
Total current liabilities mEBERSE 3,347,127 3,480,298 3,087,378
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFHE 4,429,985 5,557,394 5,837,254
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES EEABRABHEE 10,509,547 11,003,436 11,237,346
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47. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 47. X R BMRR T (F
COMPANY (Continued)
2023 2022 2021
—E-=F —E-— —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTT ARBTT
(Restated) (Restated)
€ =27)) € =27))
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings &+ 84817 & H b & 5% 1,585,654 1,749,550 2,020,813
Deferred income PEIE U A 18,508 19,853 2,596
Lease liabilities HEARE 22,444 27,923 28,941
Total non-current liabilities EnBaBEERE 1,626,606 1,797,326 2,052,350
Net assets EEFE 8,882,941 9,206,110 9,184,996
EQUITY R
Share capital (S 1,467,296 1,467,296 1,467,296
Reserves (Note) (T aE) 7,415,645 7,738,814 7,717,700
Total equity BEBHR 8,882,941 9,206,110 9,184,996
Li Li Shan Yu
Z 48 By
Director Director
2 EE
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47. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 47. X R BB RN K (&)
COMPANY (Continued)
Note: Bt 3
A summary of the Company’s reserve is as follows: ARAFEEOBENT -
Share Fair Statutory
Share Merger option value Other surplus Retained
premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total
RAEE AURE BRERE AAEERK Hitthe ATRHRE REET At

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARBTR  ARBTR ARBTRE ARBTR ARMTR AR®TR ARET:

At 31 December 2021 RZE-_-F+-A=+-H 7,558,283 (1,996,731) 33,937 16,858 365,373 532,359 1,207,314 7,717,393

Effect of adoption of amendments to FR(ER g ) E 125 M

IAS 12 (note 2.2(c)) BT e (MF2.2() - - - - - - 307 307
Balance at 1 January 2022 R-ZE-_—#—F—HHE 7,558,283 (1,996,731) 33,937 16,858 365,373 532,359 1,207,621 7,717,700
Total comprehensive income for the year & N2 ER = B4 = - B (67) = = 85,884 85,817
Share of other reserves of associates EEBELRLBHE - - - - (628) - - (628)
Transfer from retained profits HEEAREET = - B = = 8,577 (8,577) =
Dividend distributed to shareholders BREDERS - - - - - - (51,355) (51,355)
Others Hith = - - - (12,720) - - (12,720)
At 31 December 2022 and W-E-—#+-A=+-BR

1 January 2023 —T--F-f-H 7,558,283 (1,996,731) 33,937 16,791 352,025 540,936 1,233,573 7,738,814
Total comprehensive income for the year N2 ERZ B4 - - - (298) - - (173,104) (173,402)
Share of other reserves of associates EEBEDRALbHE - - - - (2,338) - - (2,338)
Transfer from retained profits BREARRER - - = = - - - -
Dividend distributed to shareholders BREDERE - - - - - - (146,730) (146,730)
Others Hith - - - - (699) - - (699)
At 31 December 2023 R-ZE-=#4+-A=+-A 7,558,283 (1,996,731) 33,937 16,791 348,988 540,936 913,739 7,415,645

N,
48. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 48. Bk 2 H
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the EEEER T _MF=A-+N\BAE
board of directors on 28 March 2024. FEYSEsT Rl e
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